Oncogenic Alterations and their Implication in Thyroid Cancer

By

Mr. Avik Chakraborty

Enrolment No. - LIFE 01200904006

BHABHA ATOMIC RESEARCH CENTRE, MUMBAI

A thesis submitted to the Board of Studies in Life Sciences In partial fulfillment of requirements For the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

0f

HOMI BHABHA NATIONAL INSTITUTE



January, 2016

STATEMENT BY AUTHOR

This dissertation has been submitted in partial fulfillment of requirements for an advanced degree at Homi Bhabha National Institute (HBNI) and is deposited in the Library to be made available to borrowers under rules of the HBNI.

Brief quotations from this dissertation are allowable without special permission, provided that accurate acknowledgement of source is made. Requests for permission for extended quotation from or reproduction of this manuscript in whole or in part may be granted by the Competent Authority of HBNI when in his or her judgment the proposed use of the material is in the interests of scholarship. In all other instances, however, permission must be obtained from the author.

(Avik Chakraborty)

DECLARATION

I, hereby declare that the investigation presented in the thesis has been carried out by me. The work is original and has not been submitted earlier as a whole or in part for a degree / diploma at this or any other Institution / University.

(Avik Chakraborty)

List of Publications arising from the thesis:

a. Published:

 BRAF^{V600E} Mutation in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma: Significant Association with Node Metastases and Extra Thyroidal Invasion Avik Chakraborty¹, Archana Narkar¹, Rita Mukhopadhyaya², Shubhada Kane³, Anil D'Cruz⁴, M.G.R Rajan¹. 1. Radiation Medicine Centre, BARC, 2. Molecular Biology Division, BARC 3. Department of Pathology, Tata Memorial Hospital 4. Head and Neck Services, Tata Memorial Hospital; <u>Endocrine Pathology</u> 2012 Jun; 23(2):83-93. DOI 10.1007/s12022-011-9184-5

b. Papers presented in Conferences:

- Coexistence of RET/PTC but not PAX8-PPARγ translocation with BRAF mutation in Poorly Differentiated Papillary Thyroid Carcinomas; A. Chakraborty, R. Mukhopadhyay, S. Kane, M. Rajan*, A. A. Narkar; Abstract No. B221, 7th NCRI International Cancer Conference organized by National Cancer Research Institute in Liverpool, UK. (2011) (available online: http://www.ncri.org.uk)
- 2. BRAF^{V600E} Mutation in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma: Significant Association with Node Metastases and Extra Thyroidal Invasion, Avik Chakraborty, Archana Narkar, Rita Mukhopadhyaya, Shubhada Kane, Anil D'Cruz, M.G. R Rajan; Oral presentation in Bhabha Atomic Research Centre BioScience Meet 2012 (29th Mar, 2012; Session 16:00-16:30)
- **3.** Prevalence of BRAF and NRAS Mutations in Thyroid Cancer Patients; Avik Chakraborty, R. Mukhopadhay, S.V. Kane, M.G.R Rajan and A.A. Narkar. Presented at the 5th Annual Conference of Indian Thyroid Society 2008, Chandigarh , 8-9 Feb 2008
- 4. Detection of Missense Mutations in B Type Raf Kinase Gene in Thyroid Carcinoma" Avik Chakraborty, A.A.Narkar, R. Mukhopadhyay, S.V. Kane, MGR

Rajan. Presented at the DAE-BRNS-Life Sciences Symposium 2007 on "DNA Damage, Repair and their Implications" held in BARC, 5-7 Dec, 2007

c. Communicated:

BRAF ^{V600E} Mutation Along with a Rare *BRAF* ^{1582M} Mutation Documented in Tall Cell Variant of Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma with Multiple Neck Recurrences: Case Report. Authors: Avik Chakraborty, MSc, ^{1, #} Sandip Basu, MBBS(Hons), DRM, DNB, MNAMS, ^{1, #} S.V Kane, MD,² M.G.R Rajan, MSc, PhD, ^{1, *} Mukund N Sable, MD,² ; Journal of Laryngology and Otology.

d. Manuscript under preparation:

Coexistence of RET/PTC and PAX8-PPARγ translocation with *BRAF* mutation in Poorly Differentiated Papillary Thyroid Carcinomas; Avik Chakraborty, S.V. Kane, M.G.R Rajan*

- e. Other Publications and Presentatios:
- Fully automated Radiosynthesis of novel [¹⁸F] Fluoro ethylated Plumbagin derivative and its feasibility study as tumour imaging agent; Nandy, Saikat; Chakarborthy, Avik; Pawar, Yogita; Ghosh , Sandipto; Chaudhary, P.R.; Rajan , M.G.R.*; Journal of Labelled Compounds and Radiopharmaceuticals; Vol 56, Suppl 1, pp S1-S512; P 309 (S396), 9 MAY 2013; DOI: 10.1002/jlcr.3058
- 2. Simplified and automated synthesis synthesis of O-(2-[¹⁸F] Fluoroethyl)-L-Tyrosine ([¹⁸F] FET) using a single pot, two-stage procedure and solid phase extraction purification. Nandy Saikat, Chakraborty Avik, Pawar Yogita, Moghe S.H. & Rajan M.G.R.* European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging; Vol.41, Sup. 2, S151 S705, Page No. S421 (P222), DOI 10.1007/s 00259- 014- 2901-9, 2014

- 3. Fully automated Radiosynthesis of novel 3'-deoxy-3'-[¹⁸F]Fluoro Thymidine ([¹⁸F]FLT) with anhydro precursor (DMTThy) and Sep-Pak[®] cartridge purification and analysis of chemical and radiochemical purity. Nandy, Saikat; Chakarborthy, Avik; Pawar, Yogita; Moghe, S.H.; Rajan, M.G.R.* European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging; Vol.41, Sup. 2, S151 –S705, Page No. S346 (PW097), DOI 10.1007/s 00259-014-2901-9, 2014
- 4. Fully automated radiosynthesis of novel [¹⁸F] Fluoro ethylated Juglone derivative snd its feasibility study as tumour imaging agent. <u>Nandy, Saikat</u>; Chakarborthy, Avik; Pawar, Yogita; Moghe, S.H.; Rajan, M.G.R.* Asia Oceania J Nucl Med Biol; ISSN: 2322-5726; Volume 2, Supplement 1; P-1-28 (Page No. S36); 2014
- ¹⁸F-Labelled trans-Ferulic Acid and its evaluation as tumour imaging agent. <u>Nandy</u>, <u>Saikat</u>; Chakarborthy, Avik; Pawar, Yogita ; Moghe, S.H.; Rajan, M.G.R. Asia Oceania J Nucl Med Biol; ISSN: 2322-5726; volume 2, Supplement 1; O-2-7 (Page No: S22); 2014
- 6. Synergistic effect of ascorbate in napthoquinone induced cytotoxicity, ROS/RNS generation and inhibition of metastasis *in vitro*; Sujay Gaikwad, Avik Chakraborty, Savita Kulkarni, M.G.R Rajan*; J Cancer Sci Ther 2014, 6:9 http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/1948-5956.S1.037
- 7. Anti-proliferative effect of the Phyto-chemical Plumbagin on human Thyroid Cancer Cell Lines with BRAF Mutations; A. Chakraborty, S. K. K. Sandur, M. Rajan*, A. A. Narkar; Abstract No. A38, 7th NCRI International Cancer Conference organized by National Cancer Research Institute in Liverpool, UK. (2011) (available online: <u>http://www.ncri.org.uk</u>)

- 8. Apoptotic induction by plumbagin in *BRAF* mutated and wildtype human thyroid cancer cell Lines through mitochondrial complex III mediated ROS/pJNK pathway; A. Chakraborty, S. K. K. Sandur, M.G.R Rajan*; All India Cell Biology Conference & International Symposium-SARGI", poster no 67, October 17-19, 2012 at Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Mumbai, India.
- 9. Anti-proliferative effect of the NF-kB Inhibitor Plumbagin on human Thyroid Cancer Cell Lines with BRAF Mutations; Chakraborty Avik, Sandur Santosh K¹, Rajan MGR and Narkar Archana A. Presented at 28th Annual Convention of Indian Association for Cancer Research & International symposium on "Emerging challenges and approaches in cancer biology", IISc, Bangalore, 21-24 Feb, 2009

Avik Chakraborty

Date:

Dedicated To my Loving parents & parents in-law

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my deep gratitude to my guide, Prof. M. G. R. Rajan, Outstanding Scientist, Head, RM C, B.A.R.C, for his guidance, advice, patience, time and support, even from the days of training school (course work). Indeed, I am honoured to be one of his students. It would not have been possible for me to carry out and complete the work without his kind endurance and help.

I express my deep gratitude to Dr. (Mrs.) A.A. Narkar, with whose guideship I started this work. Since HBNI rules do not permit her to be a guide after her superannuation, Dr. Rajan took over as guide from her. She helped me plan the work and complete the administrative formalities.

I am deeply indebted to Dr. (Mrs.) Savita Kulkarni, SO 'G', Head, Molecular Immunology and Tuberculosis Section, RMC, who has been very encouraging and supportive since the time I joined this institute. She has introduced me to the world of molecular biology. I found her standing beside me, in many ups and downs in my research and personal life. Her constant faith and confidence in me motivated me to work with new enthusiasm.

It is my great privilege to acknowledge Prof. (Mrs.) Shubhada Chiplunka, Director, ACTREC, and Chairperson of my PhD Doctoral Committee for providing valuable suggestions for the completion of this work.

I am greatly indebted to Dr. Bhavani Shankar, RBHSD, BARC also a member of my doctoral committee, for providing me with the valuable suggestions and necessary support.

I express my sincere thanks to Ms. Pampi Chakraborty, my colleague and wife for giving critical suggestions while doing the experiments and always helping in troubleshooting in every possible way.

I also wish deepest sense of gratitude to Mr. Mukti Kanta Ray and Dr. Saikat Kumar Nandy for their moral support and valuable guidance. I thank my lab colleagues Dr. (Mrs.) Archana Damle, Mr Sushanta Kumar Roy and Mr. Devavrat Tripathi for their benevolent support and wall wishes. Further, I am thankful to Mrs. Bharti Jain, Mr. J. Kumarasamy, Mr. Pramod Kumar Gupta, Mr. Sujay Gaikwad, Dr. Uma S Bhartiya, Dr. Smita G, Mrs. Chandrakala G, Mrs. Yogita S Raut, and Dr. Yogita Pawar for their help and encouragement. I am also thankful to Mr. Jayendra Mori, Mr. R. Ramamoorthy and Mr. U. Sheikh for providing me the required lab help day in and out. I am also thankful to all RMC colleagues and staff members for their support at different times.

I am deeply indebted to my teachers, parents and parents in law who enlighten the way of my life with their efforts, care and love to shape and mould my scientific career. I wish to acknowledge to my brother in law, Ankan, brother, Souvik, Bibek, my daughter Mrittika and my friends for their moral support and encouragement.

I wish to sincerely place on record a note of heartiest gratitude to all those who directly or indirectly helped to bring this work to the present form.

Avik Chakraborty.

Contents

Page No.

Synopsis	xiv
List of figures	xxvi
List of tables	xxix
List of abbreviations	xxxi

Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1 Pathogenesis of Cancer	1	
1.1.1 Genetic Alterations in Cancer	2	
1.1.2 The carcinoma model		
1.1.3 Experimental Models	4	
1.1.4 Molecular Changes	5	
1.1.4.1 Tumour suppressor genes	5	
1.1.4.1.2 Retinoblastoma (RB) protein	6	
1.1.4.2 Mitogenic stimuli and Proto-Oncogenes	7	
1.1.4.2.1 Oncogenic RAS	7	
1.1.5 Telomeres and telomerase	9	
1.1.6 Genetic Instability	10	
1.1.7 Beyond Cancer Genome	11	
1.1.8 Conclusion	12	
1.2 Introduction to Thyroid Cancer- current knowledge	14	
1.2.1.The Thyroid gland	14	
1.2.1.1. Embryology	14	
1.2.1.2. Anatomy		
1.2.1.3. Function	16	
1.2.1.4. Histology	17	
1.2.1.5. Thyroid tumours	18	
1.3. Thyroid Epidemiology, Diagnosis & Treatments	21	
1.3.1. Epidemiology and risk factors	21	
1.3.2. Diagnosis and treatments	22	
1.4. Molecular Genetics of Thyroid Tumours	24	
1.4.1. Two hypotheses of thyroid carcinogenesis: multi-step	24	
carcinogenesis and fetal cell carcinogenesis		
1.4.2.Oncogenes	25	
1.4.3. Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)	30	
1.4.4. Micro RNAs (miRNA)	34	
1.4.5. Comparative genome hybridization (CGH) and loss of	34	
heterozygosity (LOH) studies		
1.4.6. Gene-specific promoter and genome-wide methylation	35	
1.4.7. Expression studies	37	
1.5. Rationale of the Study	38	

Page no

Chapter 2 : Prevalence of Point Mutations in Follicular Cell Derived Thyroid Carcinomas

2.1 Activating Mutation in BRAF Gene in Thyroid Carcinoma	40
2.1.1 Introduction:	40
2.1.1.1 Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma:	40
2.1.1.2 BRAF ^{V600E} mutation related molecular events in PTC	41
2.1.1.3 Association of <i>BRAF</i> mutation with clinico-pathological characteristics of PTC	45
2.1.1.4 Detection of $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation as a molecular marker in thyroid cancer	47
2.1.1.5 Targeting $BRAF$ signaling pathway as therapeutic target to	47
treat thyroid cancer	40
2.1.2 Aims and Objectives:	48
2.1.3 Materials and Methods:	49
2.1.3.1 Tumour Tissue Specimens:	49
2.1.3.2 Cell Lines:	50
2.1.3.3 Molecular Analysis:	50
2.1.3.3 A. Genomic DNA Extraction:	50
2.1.3.3 B. PCR Amplification:	50
2.1.3.3 C. Sequencing:	51
2.1.3.3 D. Mutant allele specific amplification (MASA):	51
2.1.3.3 E. Single strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP):	52
2.1.3.3 F. Mutector Assay:	53
2.1.3.4 Statistical analysis:	53
2.1.4 Results:	53
2.1.4.1 BRAF mutation in thyroid cancer cell lines:	53
2.1.4.2 BRAF mutation in thyroid tumour samples:	54
2.1.4.3 Correlation with clinico-pathological parameters:	57
2.1.4.4 Pathological findings:	61
2.1.5 Discussion:	63
2.2 BRAF Mutation in Tall Cell Variant of Thyroid Carcinoma	68
2.2.1 Introduction:	68
2.2.1.2 Tall cell Variant of Papillary Thyroid CA	68
2.2.2 Case report : BRAF V600E Mutation Along with a Rare BRAF 1582M	70
Mutation Documented in Tall Cell Variant of Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma	
with Multiple Recurrences	
2.2.3 Pathological Finding	74
2.2.4 Genetic analysis	75
2.2.5 Discussion	76
2.3 Sporadic Point mutations of RAS proto-oncogenes	79
2.3.1 Introduction	79
2.3.1.1 RAS Isoforms	79
2.3.1.2 Mutations of RAS genes in different cancers	81
2.3.1.3 RAS in thyroid:	82
2.3.2 Aim and Objective:	83
2.3.3 Material and Method:	84

2.3.3.1 Acquisition of Tumour Tissue Specimens:	84
2.3.3.2 Cell Lines:	84
2.3.3.1 Molecular Analysis:	85
2.3.3.1. A. Genomic DNA Extraction:	85
2.3.3.1. B. SNP analysis using KASP technology:	85
2.3.4 Results :	88
2.3.4.1 RAS Mutation Pattern	88
2.3.4.2 Correlation of RAS with Clinico-pathologic Parameters	92
2.3.5 Discussion:	94
Chapter 3: Chromosomal Rearrangements in Thyroid Cancer	97
3.1: Introduction	97
3.2 : PAX8/PPAR y Fusion Oncogene in Thyroid Cancer	98
3.2.1 Introduction	98
3.2.1.1 Chromosomal rearrangements in follicular thyroid cancer	98
3.2.1.2 Role of <i>PAX8/PPARy</i> as an oncogene	100
3.2.1.3 Molecular Mechanism of PPFP Action	101
3.2.2 Aims and Objectives:	103
3.2.3 Materials and Methods:	103
3.2.3.1 Acquisition of Tumour Tissue Specimens:	104
3.2.3.2 RNA Extraction and cDNA Synthesis from Thyroid Tissue:	104
3.2.3.3 KI-PCK and Sequencing	105
3.2.3.4 Sliver Staining	100
3.2.4 Results: 2.2.4.1 Drawalance of $DAV8/DDAD$	107
3.2.4.1 Prevalence of $PAX8/PPAR\gamma$	107
3.2.5 Discussion	110
5.2.5 Discussion 2.2 PET DTC Dearmana and in Thuroid Caroinoma	111
3.3 1 Introduction:	115
3.3.1.1 RET structure and function	115
3.3.1.2 RET rearrangements: RET and the other genes involved	117
3 3 1 3 <i>RET/PTC</i> in thyroid cancer	117
3.3.1.4 Pathophysiological aspects of <i>RET/PTC</i>	119
3.3.2. Aims and Objectives	121
3.3.3 Materials and Methods:	121
3.3.3.1 Detection of <i>RET/PTC</i> Rearrangement by RT-PCR:	122
3.3.4 Results:	124
3.3.4.1 Clinico-pathological correlation:	129
3.3.5 Discussion:	129
Chapter 4: RET gene point mutations in medullary thyroid carcinoma	

4.1 Introduction	132
4.1.1 Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma :	132
4.1.2 Histology of Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma:	132
4.1.3 C-Cell Hyperplasia	133
4.1.4 Pathology:	134

	4.1.5 RET mutations and hereditary medullary thyroid cancer	135
	(HMTC):	
	4.1.6 RET Point Mutation in Sporadic MTC (SMTC):	136
	4.2 Aims and Objectives:	137
	4.3 Materials and Methods:	138
	4.3.1 Acquisition of Tumour Tissue Specimens:	138
	4.3.2 Molecular Analysis:	138
	4.3.2.1 Genomic DNA Extraction:	138
	4.3.2.2 Detection of Point Mutations:	138
	4.3 Results:	139
	4.3.1 Prevalence of RET point Mutations:	139
	4.3.2 Clinico-pathological correlation:	142
	4.5 Discussion:	145
Conclusion		148

References

SYNOPSIS

Oncogenic Alterations and their Implication in Thyroid Carcinoma Introduction:

Thyroid cancer, although relatively rare, is the most common cancer of the endocrine glands. It has a wide range of biological and clinical behavior ranging from very indolent to a highly aggressive form, with an overall mortality of approximately 10 %. It can be classified histologically into follicular epithelial cell derived papillary thyroid cancer (PTC), follicular thyroid cancer (FTC), Follicular variant of papillary thyroid cancer (FVPTC), Follicular thyroid adenoma (FTA), anaplastic thyroid cancer (ATC) and parafollicular C-cell derived medullary thyroid cancer (MTC) which accounts for approximately 80, 15, 10, 3, 2 and 3% of all thyroid malignancies respectively. [1]

It is known that genetic alterations are the driving force for thyroid tumourigenesis and progression and have been associated to specific types of thyroid carcinomas. The classical oncogenic genetic alterations commonly seen in thyroid cancer include RAS mutations, RET/PTC rearrangements, *BRAF* mutations and *PAX8/PPARy* fusion oncogene. Medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) is associated with the activating mutations of the RET protooncogene. [2, 3]

As mentioned above the wide divergence in clinical behavior of thyroid carcinoma is poorly predicted by current clinico-pathological factors. Hence, different molecular alterations in various thyroid carcinomas, that have been recently identified, are being explored clinically. These molecular alterations have their utility in diagnostic evaluation, staging, prognosis and targeted treatment. Thus, molecular analysis of thyroid cancer promises to increase our understanding of its biologic behavior and is expected to have further impact on its clinical management.

RMC has the largest registries of thyroid cancer patients in India and also in South East Asia. Approximately 500 new cases are being referred every year for staging and ¹³¹I therapy as thyroid cancer. However the type and prevalence of various mutations in thyroid cancer patients remain so far unidentified among the Indian patients. It is known that geographic, regional and genetics may contribute to different types of mutations and their frequencies as well as their role in the molecular pathogenesis of thyroid cancer.

Therefore the thesis is aims at:

- 1. To study the prevalence of *BRAF* ^{V600E} mutation and its usefulness as a diagnostic and prognostic tool in thyroid carcinoma
- 2. To study the prevalence of *BRAF* mutation in tall cell variant of thyroid carcinoma
- 3. Detection of *RET/PTC* and *PAX8-PPAR* rearrangements and their correlation with *BRAF* mutation and clinic-pathological parameters in thyroid carcinoma
- 4. Study the prevalence of *RET* (Exon 10,11,13,14,16) gene mutation in Medullary thyroid carcinoma
- 5. study the prevalence of *NRAS*, *HRAS* and *KRAS* (Exon 1, 2) gene point mutation in Indian subjects

ORGANISATION OF THE THESIS

The work reported in this thesis is organized into four chapters:

- Chapter 1 deals with general introduction to thyroid carcinoma and the current status.
- Chapter 2 presents the results obtained from study of prevalence of point mutations in proto-oncogenes of MAPK pathway including *BRAF*, *HRAS*, *NRAS* and *KRAS* (Exon 1, 2) and their relevance as diagnostic and prognostic indicators in thyroid carcinoma.

To evaluate *BRAF* mutation and its coexistence with MUC1, HBME and other immune-histochemical markers in poorly differentiated and tall cell variant of thyroid carcinoma real time PCR, sequencing and other molecular analysis were performed and results are described in this chapter.

- Chapter 3 gives the results of the RET/PTC and PAX8-PPAR γ rearrangements and their correlation with *BRAF* mutation and clinico-pathological parameters in thyroid carcinoma.
- Chapter 4 describes the prevalence of RET (Exon 10, 11, 13, 14, 16) gene point mutation in Medullary thyroid carcinoma in Indian subjects.

A summary of the work is given at the end of each chapter.

Chapter 1:

Deals with general introduction to thyroid cancer and the published information available in literature related to the present work and its objectives. The characteristics of different thyroid proto-oncogenes and their detection using different molecular typing methods are also described.

Chapter 2:

Prevalence of Point mutations in Follicular Cell Derived Thyroid Carcinomas

2.1 Activating Mutation in BRAF Gene in Thyroid Carcinoma

Of all the histological types of thyroid cancer the most prevalent is papillary thyroid cancer (PTC) and accounts for 80-90 % of them. The genetic alterations implicated in PTCs are *RET/PTC* rearrangement, *RAS* mutations and *BRAF* mutations. The aberrant activation of classic signal pathway receptor tyrosine kinase-RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK due to either of these alterations leads to PTC. RAF kinase which is a component of this pathway connects aberrant

activating signals to the cell cycle machinery and plays a key role in transformation. [2, 4] The somatic point mutation of *BRAF* which occurs commonly in a broad range of human cancers, most notably in melanoma, is due to the thymine to adenine transversion at nucleotide position 1799 of *BRAF* gene, resulting in a valine to glutamic acid substitution at residue 600 ($BRAF^{V600E}$). Several studies have been addressed to establish a correlation between $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation and clinico-pathological features of PTC. However, the results have been controversial. The discrepancies in the results may be due to the different sample sizes including different PTC variants and different geographic areas. [5]

A correct knowledge of the prevalence will help in the unbiased detection of *BRAF* mutation as a diagnostic and prognostic molecular marker for PTC. Hence it is mandatory to build up the knowledge of prevalence of *BRAF* mutation and it's relation with the clinical behavior of PTC in different cohorts all over the world. This will be certainly useful in developing *BRAF* mutation as a molecular marker for the management of PTC in the clinics.

The overall incidence of thyroid cancer in India is 3-4% with 80% of it being PTC. However the type and prevalence of the *BRAF* mutations in PTC patients remains so far unidentified in Indian population. It is known that different geographic areas and genetic background amongst races may contribute to difference in frequency and type of mutations as well as their role in the molecular pathogenesis of thyroid cancer. [5]

The aim of the present study was to establish the prevalence of this genetic alteration and to define association of $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation with clinico-pathological characteristics of PTC in Indian sub-continental population.

Methodology: Tumour Tissue Specimens: A total of 140 specimens with adequate clinical and pathological information were studied. Tissue specimens included 86 PTC, 14 FTC, 8 FTA, 16 MTC and 16 benign samples. **Cell Lines:** Five thyroid tumour cell lines including

Follicular carcinoma (WRO), papillary carcinoma (NPA), Medullary thyroid carcinoma cell line (TT) and anaplastic carcinoma (ARO and FRO) cell lines were used in this study. **Genomic DNA Extraction:** Nucleic acid extraction from frozen tissues, cell lines and PBMNC was carried out using QIAamp^R DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Germany) with some modifications. **Single strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP):** Exon 15 amplicons of *BRAF* gene were diluted 1:1 in denaturing solution, boiled for 3 min, rapid chilled, electrophoresed and gels were silver stained. **Mutant allele specific amplification (MASA):** MASA was carried out with two forward primers one complimentary to wild type sequence, another having mutant allele specific nucleotide base substitutions at the 3'end and the common reverse primer. **Sequencing:** *BRAF* exon 15 amplicons were sequenced in a ABI PRISM 377-18 DNA Sequencer (ABI, USA). **Mutector Assay:** Mutector assay was also used to detect *BRAF* mutation at nucleotide position 1799. A detection primer (provided in kit) allowing primer extension in cases of mutant amplicons and preventing primer extension from wild type template.

Statistical analysis: Correlation between *BRAF* mutation and clinico-pathological parameters of the patients was determined by χ^2 - test and nonparametric two-tailed Fisher test and multivariate logistic regression analysis.

Result and Discussion: *BRAF* T1799A (V600E) mutation was found in 46 (53.4%) out of 86 PTC patients (53.4%) studied. The percent incidence of this mutation varied among pathological subtypes of PTC (Table 2). *BRAF* gene mutation was much more common in the conventional PTC (38 out of 62; 61.3%) than in the follicular variants of PTC (2 out of 17; 11.7%). None of the 54 non-PTC thyroid tumours including 8 FTA, 14 FTCs, 16 MTCs and 16 benign samples showed any mutation at this nucleotide position in exon 15. Also, normal thyroid tissue samples taken from the surroundings of the *BRAF* mutation-positive malignant

areas showed no *BRAF* mutations thereby, suggesting that the mutations were somatically acquired.

Thus our findings along with those reported in the literature suggest that morphologic typing in combination with *BRAF* mutation status appears to be better prognostic indicator in PTC. Considering this higher prevalence in Indian cohort, the *BRAF* gene can be a promising target for small molecular inhibitors for better prognosis of radio-iodine refractory thyroid carcinoma patients.

2.2 BRAF Mutation in Tall Cell Variant of Thyroid Carcinoma

Tall cell variant (TCV) is one of the aggressive subtypes of PTC which is poorly understood at the molecular level. [6, 7] The recurrence rate is generally high. As this subtype is very rare we are trying to collect at least 30 samples to perform a statistically significant mutation analysis study. One of the patients in our study, a 50 year old lady, showed exceptionally large number of recurrences of this tall cell variant. This is indicative of either a new mutation or partial removal of tumour mass is every surgical intervention.

Methodology: Detailed histopathological and immuno-histochemical analysis of the TCV patients with recurrence is being carried out by an experienced pathologist from TMH. I have performed mutation analysis in *BRAF*, *RET/PTC*, *PAX8/PPARy* genes, transcription level analysis of MUC1, BCL2, BCLXL, Western blot of P53 and immunohistochemistry of Gal3, HBME1, CK19, P27, CyclinD1, ER β for the primary tumour tissue, metastatic mass and surrounding normal tissue. FDG-PET scan was performed in PET scan facility of RMC.

Result and Discussion: All the tissue samples showed *BRAF* V600E in 100% of the tumour specimen. There is a two fold increase in MUC1 gene at the transcription level. Up-regulation of ERK1/2, NFk β and down regulation of CyclineD3 was apparent. PET scan revealed ¹⁸F-

FDG uptake in metastatic nodules but ¹³¹I-scan showed non-iodine concentrating status in case of carcinomas that have recurred.

The present finding in this challenging case supports that multiple local and distant recurrences of the TCV could be related with the genetic mutation in *BRAF*. We believe the findings observed in our patient require to be examined in more number of TCV patients and if proven would open up further research with *BRAF* specific therapies (e.g. BAY 43-9006, AMG 706, Vemurafenib) in this group.

2.3 Prevalence of H, N and K RAS (Exon 1, 2) Gene Point Mutation

Mutations in the RAS family of proto-oncogenes (comprising *HRAS*, *NRAS* and *KRAS*) are very common, being found in 20% to 30% of all human tumours. These are recent reports in literature stating that these mutations are seen in FTC and FTA patients in other parts of the world. [8, 9]

Aim: The aim of this work was to detect frequency of sporadic mutation in RAS isoforms (comprising *HRAS*, *NRAS* and *KRAS*) in thyroid cancer patients included in this study.

Methodology: PCR amplification of exon 1 and 2 of *NRAS*, *HRAS* and *KRAS* genes were purified and analyzed for SNPs by Competitive Allele Specific PCR method (KASPTM, LGC Biosystems, Germany) in 96 tissue samples including PTC, FTC, FTA, FVPTC and PDTC.

10μl aliquots of PCR amplification at 50ng/ml from tissue samples were placed in 96 well PCR Plate. 50 bp upstream and downstream of SNP sites were selected using online Basic Local Alignment search tool (BLAST) in National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). Sealed plates with DNA were sent for analysis using Novel Kompetitive Allele-Specific PCR (KASP) yielding mutation detection with bi-allelic scoring.

Result and Discussion: Sporadic point mutations in *NRAS* [codon 12(GGT>TGT), 13(GGT>TGT), 61(CAA>CTA)], *HRAS* [codon 13(GGT>GAT), 61(CAG>CTG)] and *KRAS*

[codon 12(GGT>GAT), 12(GGT>AGT), 13(GGC>GAC)] were investigated in different histotypes of thyroid carcinomas.

Our investigation reveals that *NRAS* C12GC is prevalent in both PTC (33%) and FTC (28%). Whereas, *NRAS* C13GC is associated only with PTC (33%) making it a promising diagnostic marker for PTC. *HRAS* C13GD and *HRAS* C61QL are prevalently observed in both PDTC (20%, 35%) and FTC (9.5%, 7%) indicating its role in poor prognosis of FTCs and their transformation to PDTC.

Chapter 3:

3.1 PAX8-PPARy Translocation in Thyroid Carcinoma

PAX8-PPAR γ : The peroxisome proliferators-activated receptors (PPARs), including α , β , δ , and γ subtypes, are part of the ubiquitous nuclear hormone receptor super family that has been the focus of considerable research over the last two decades. *PPAR* γ plays a role in cell cycle control, inflammation, Atherosclerosis, apoptosis, and carcinogenesis. Research on *PPAR* γ as a potential thyroid proto-oncogene was accelerated by the discovery of a chromosomal translocation involving the *PPAR* γ -1 gene in a subset of follicular carcinomas. These inter chromosomal rearrangement leads to altered *PPAR* γ activity and this has subsequently been shown to have a potential role in several types of thyroid cancer. [10]

Following the identification of a frequent translocation in follicular thyroid cancer, involving 3p25 and 2q13, Kroll confirmed not only that the 3p25 breakpoint lies within the *PPARy* gene, but also that the 2q13 breakpoint lies within the *PAX8* gene. Indeed, the translocation brings together these two genes to form a neogene, which expresses a fusion protein (*PAX8/PPARy* fusion protein, designated PPFP) [11].

Methodology: Total RNA was isolated from snap-frozen tumour samples using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen) and HiPura-A Mini Kit (Himedia). cDNA was synthesized from 2µg

RNA with Superscript II reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). PCR was performed with primers specific for sequences in exon 6 of *PAX8* and exon 1 of *PPAR* γ in a mixture containing 2µg cDNA. PCR products were resolved by 5% acrylamide gel electrophoresis, and their sizes were determined by comparison with DNA molecular weight markers (MBI Fermentas).

Result and Discussion: 2 (33.34%) out of 6 tumour samples of FVPTC, 1(16.67%) out of 6 FTA and 2(15.38%) out of 13 FTC samples showed presence of rearrangements of exon 6 of *PAX8* with the first exon of *PPARy*. However, 2(20%) out of 10 MTC samples analyzed showed presence of *PAX8/PPARy* rearrangement indicating the presence of small numbers other thyroid carcinoma cells that remain undetected during histopathology tests.

Our investigation revealed a significant association of *PAX8/PPARy* rearrangement with clinico-pathological parameters including tumour stage (p<0.05), metastasis (p<0.05) and extra-thyroidal extension (p=0.009) making it a significant prognostic molecular marker for our patient population. Whereas, its distribution throughout different histotypes gives it a poor diagnostic value.

3.2 RET/PTC Rearrangement in Thyroid Carcinoma

The RET proto-oncogene is located on chromosome 10q11.2 and encodes a cell membrane receptor tyrosine kinase. The ligand independent activation of *RET* results in the stimulation of downstream signal transduction pathways, particularly the Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase pathway (MAPK), resulting in increased expression of various nuclear transcription factors and thereby increased protein synthesis and tumourigenic transformation of cells.[12]

Methodology: Methodology: *RET/PTC* rearrangements were analyzed by RT-PCR. RNA was extracted using the HiPura-A Mini Kit (HiMedia). Forward primers were designed on the coiled-coil domains of the *RET* fusion partners (H4 and RFG) and reverse primer was for

RET proto-oncogene. 2µg of RNA were reverse transcribed to cDNA and subjected to 40 cycles of PCR. The product was analyzed on a 5% acrylamide gel.

Result and Discussion: Nine (27.27%) out of 33 PTC samples analyzed showed presence of *RET/PTC*1 and *RET/PTC*3 rearrangement. However, there hasn't been any tumour sample that showed *RET/PTC*2 rearrangement. 5 (15.15%) and 9 (27.72%) samples showed coexistence of *BRAF* point mutation and rearrangements *RET/PTEC1* and *RET/PTC*3 respectively. Also 3 (9%) samples showed the coexistence of *BRAF* point mutations with both the isoforms of *RETPTC* rearrangements [13, 14].

Thus our findings along with those reported in the literature suggest that RET gene rearrangement is conserved only in PTC. Its association with *BRAF* mutation makes it a less promising genetic alteration in a multiple marker diagnostic assay.

Chapter 4:

Prevalence of RET gene mutation in Medullary thyroid carcinoma

Alteration of the *RET* proto-oncogene plays a causal role in the familial forms of MTC. In medullary carcinomas, *RET* is activated by point mutation, in contrast to its activation by chromosomal rearrangement in PTC. Germline mutations in the discrete functional regions of *RET* are found in almost all patients with familial forms of medullary carcinoma. In MEN 2A and familial MTC, mutations are typically located in one of five cysteine codons within the cysteine-rich extracellular domain. [15]

In this study efforts have been made to investigate missense mutation in *RET* gene (Exon 10,11,13,14,16) of patients with MTC, both MEN2A and MEN2B and 40 samples have been studied.

Methodology: Genomic DNA was purified using the method previously described. PCR amplification was performed using five sets of primers. PCR amplified products were gel

purified and subjected to dideoxy sequencing using Big Dye Terminator V301 Sequencing Kit.

Result and Discussion: We could find mutations as well as polymorphism at exon 10, 11, 13, 14 and 16 at different frequencies in 25 samples. Genomic DNA extraction and amplification of exons for the remaining samples have been performed.

Novel missense mutations observed in following codon: (Lys595Asn), (Glu605Arg), (Met657Ser), (Lys666Asn), (Ala672Thr), (Glu673Asp), (Phe676Ile), (Ser686Thr) and (phe709Cys), which code for cysteine rich domain, transmembrane domain and tyrosine kinase domain, resulting into upregulation of MAP Kinase pathway.

We observed an overrepresentation of a germ line *RET* sequence variant in exon 10 in 4 (16%), exon13 (L769L) in 12(48%) and exon 14, (S836S), in 1(4%) out of 25 patients among isolated patients affected with MTC, compared with control subjects from the same geographic, ethnic and genetic backgrounds. These preliminary data suggest that the *RET* polymorphism might be playing a crucial role in oncogenesis of MTC observed in our population.

References:

- 1. Gimm, O., *Thyroid cancer*. Cancer letters, 2001. **163**(2): p. 143-156.
- Nikiforov, Y.E., *Thyroid carcinoma: molecular pathways and therapeutic targets*. Modern pathology, 2008. 21: p. S37-S43.
- Kondo, T., S. Ezzat, and S.L. Asa, *Pathogenetic mechanisms in thyroid follicular-cell neoplasia*. Nature Reviews Cancer, 2006. 6(4): p. 292-306.
- Xing, M., *BRAF mutation in thyroid cancer*. Endocrine-related cancer, 2005. 12(2): p. 245-262.

- Xing, M., et al., BRAF mutation predicts a poorer clinical prognosis for papillary thyroid cancer. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2005. 90(12): p. 6373-6379.
- Volante, M., et al., *Poorly differentiated carcinoma of the thyroid gland*. Pathology Case Reviews, 2009. 14(6): p. 219-223.
- 7. Michels, J.J., et al., *Prevalence and prognostic significance of tall cell variant of papillary thyroid carcinoma*. Human pathology, 2007. **38**(2): p. 212-219.
- 8. Pylayeva-Gupta, Y., E. Grabocka, and D. Bar-Sagi, *RAS oncogenes: weaving a tumourigenic web*. Nature Reviews Cancer. **11**(11): p. 761-774.
- 9. Nikiforova, M.N., et al., *RAS point mutations and PAX8-PPAR rearrangement in thyroid tumours: evidence for distinct molecular pathways in thyroid follicular carcinoma.* The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2003. **88**(5): p. 2318-2326.
- 10. Placzkowski, K.A., et al., *The Role of the PAX8/PPAR Fusion Oncogene in Thyroid Cancer*. PPAR research, 2008. **2008**.
- Eberhardt, N.L., et al., *The role of the PAX8/PPARg fusion oncogene in the pathogenesis of follicular thyroid cancer*. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 321(1): p. 50-56.
- Cahill, S., et al., Effect of RET/PTC 1 rearrangement on transcription and posttranscriptional regulation in a papillary thyroid carcinoma model. Molecular cancer, 2006. 5(1): p. 70.
- Nikiforov, Y.E., *RET/PTC rearrangement in thyroid tumours*. Endocrine pathology, 2002. 13(1): p. 3-16.
- 14. Leeman-Neill, R.J., et al., Associations between RET/PTC rearrangements, BRAF and RAS mutations and radiation dose, age at exposure, and latency in post-Chernobyl thyroid cancer. Cancer Research. **72**(8 Supplement): p. 2544-2544.
- 15. Mulligan, L.M., *RET revisited: expanding the oncogenic portfolio*. Nature Reviews Cancer. **14**(3): p. 173-186.

List of Figures

S No.	Figure No	Figure Title	Page No
1	1.1	Accumulation of mutation in cancer progression	3
2	1.2	Genetics of retinoblastoma development	6
3	1.3	Telomere erosion and entrance into crisis	9
4	1.4	Perpetuation of CpG methylation following DNA replication	11
1	1.5	Number of New Cases and Deaths per 100,000	15
2	1.6	The Thyroid Gland	17
3	1.7	Histology of Thyroid Tumours	19
4	1.8	Algorithm for the administration of radioiodine in patients with thyroid cancer	23
5	1.9	Multi-step carcinogenesis in thyroid carcinoma	26
6	2.1.1	Increasing incidence of papillary thyroid carcinoma	40
7	2.1.2	Ribbons diagram of Wild Type <i>BRAF</i> kinase domain and schematic of <i>BRAF</i> primary structure	42
8	2.1.3	MAPK signaling pathways in Thyroid	44
9	2.1.4	Activation of wildtype and mutant BRAF	46
10	2.1.5	Principles of Mutector TM $BRAF^{V600E}$ detection kit	52
11	2.1.6	DNA Sequencing of <i>BRAF</i> exon in thyroid carcinoma cell	54
12	2.1.7	MASA and SSCP assay for detection of <i>BRAF</i> mutation in thyroid tumours	56
13	2.1.8	Mutector assay and Sequencing for detection of <i>BRAF</i> mutation in thyroid tumours	59
14	2.1.9	Pathological variants of PTC	62
15	2.2.1	Histopathology of tall cell variant of papillary carcinoma (TCV)	70
16	2.2.2	<i>BRAF</i> mutation (Sequencing) and MUC expression (by RT-PCR) in patient with TCV	72

17	2.2.3	¹³¹ I Scan of patient with TCV	73
18	2.2.4	FDG PET Scan of patient with TCV	73
19	2.2.5	H & E sections (200X) of patient with TCV	74
20	2.2.6	Immunohistochemical detection of different tumour markers (200X)	74
21	2.3.1	Schematic Representation of the RAS Isoforms	79
22	2.3.2	Schematic representation of our current view of RAS regulation	81
23	2.3.3	Overview of known <i>RAS</i> effectors and their corresponding biological responses	82
24	2.3.4	Schematic drawing of KASP chemistry	87
25	2.3.5	Snapshot displaying wild type and mutant alleles by genotyping with K(c)ompetitive Allele Specific PCR (KASP) assay	88
26	2.3.6	Number of cases with different RAS mutations	90
27	2.3.7	Comperative representation of prevalence (%) of mutated <i>RAS</i> isoforms	93
28	3.2.1.	Illustration of Pax8/PPARy rearrangement in thyroid cancer	99
29	3.2.2	Influence of <i>PAX8/PPARy</i> fusion protein over PTEN	102
30	3.2.3	Schematic representation of <i>PAX8/PPARy</i> fusion mRNA transcripts	106
31	3.2.4	RT-PCR analysis of $PAX8/PPAR\gamma$ transcripts in thyroid neoplasias patient samples	109
32	3.2.5	Prevalence of $PAX8/PPAR\gamma$ translocation in different histotypes of thyroid carcinoma	111
33	3.2.6	Schematic representation of the putative relationship between PTC, FVPTC and FTC	113
34	3.3.1	RET functional domains and downstream signaling	116
35	3.3.2	Schematic representation of prevalent RET/PTC rearrangements	119
36	3.3.3	RT-PCR analysis of chimeric <i>RET/ PTC1, RET/ PTC2</i> and <i>RET/PTC3</i> expression	124
37	3.3.4	Coexistence of <i>RET/PTC</i> and <i>BRAF</i> point mutation	128

38	4.1	MTC in association with Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia (MEN) syndromes	133
39	4.2	Molecular mechanisms of oncogenic RET mutations	136
40	4.3	PCR amplicons of different RET gene exons in thyroid neoplasias patient samples	140
41	4.4	Sequencing electropherogram of RET gene, exon 10 and exon 11	141
42	4.5	Sequencing electropherogram of RET gene, exon 11,13 and 14	142
43	4.6	Frequency of genetic alerations in different exons of RET proto- oncogene	143

List of Tables

S No.	Table No.	Title	Page No.
1	2.1.1	$BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation in thyroid carcinoma cell lines	54
2	2.1.2	Prevalence of $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation in 140 thyroid neoplasia patients	57
3	2.1.3	Correlation between $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation and clinico- pathological parameters in papillary thyroid carcinoma	60
4	2.1.4	Prognostic Factors for Lymph Node Metastasis	63
5	2.2.1	Proposed Criteria for the Diagnosis of PTC TCV	68
6	2.3.1	Chromosomal location of SNP of <i>H</i> , <i>N</i> and <i>KRAS</i> genes with upstream and downstream sequences	86
7	2.3.2	Prevalence of RAS gene mutation	91
8	2.3.3	Prevalence of <i>HRAS</i> and <i>KRAS</i> Mutations in 94 thyroid neoplasia and cell lines	91
9	2.3.4	Prevalence of <i>NRAS</i> Mutations in 94 thyroid neoplasia and cell lines	92
10	2.3.5	Correlation between <i>RAS</i> mutation and clinico-pathological parameters in papillary thyroid carcinoma	94
11	3.2.1	RT-PCR primers for detection of <i>PAX8/PPARy</i> fusion transcripts	106
12	3.2.2	Prevalence of <i>PAX8/PPARy</i> Translocation in 62 thyroid neoplasia patients	108
13	3.2.3	Association between <i>PAX8/PPARy</i> mutation and clinic- pathological parameters in papillary thyroid carcinoma	110
14	3.3.1	RT-PCR Primers for detection of RET/PTC Rearrangements:	123
15	3.3.2	Prevalence of <i>RET /PTC1</i> rearrangement in 62 thyroid neoplasia patients	125
16	3.3.3	Prevalence of <i>RET/PTC3</i> rearrangement in 62 thyroid neoplasia patients	126
17	3.3.4	Prevalence of <i>RET/PTC</i> Rearrangement along with its complementarities and coexistence with $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation in	127

PTC

18	3.3.5	Association between <i>RET /PTC</i> rearrangements and clinico- pathological parameters in papillary thyroid carcinoma	130
19	4.1	Primers for amplification of RET Exons 10, 11, 13, 14 and 16	139
20	4.2	<i>RET</i> (Exon 10, 11,13, 14, 16) point mutation of each patient along with their pathological attributes	140
21	4.3	Association between <i>RTE</i> mutation and clinico-pathological parameters in medullary thyroid carcinoma	144
22	4.4	Summary of point mutations detected in the <i>RET</i> protooncogene in medullary thyroid carcinoma	145

Abbreviations:

%	-	Percent
^{0}C	-	Degree Celsius
APS	-	Ammonium Persulphate
ATC	-	Anaplastic Thyroid Carcinoma
bp	-	Base pairs
BRAF	-	B Type Raf Kinase
BSA	-	Bovine serum albumin
cDNA	-	Complementary DNA
DEPC	-	Diethyl-pyrocarbonate
DMSO	-	Dimethyl sulphoxide
DNA	-	Deoxyribose Nucleic Acid
dNTP	-	deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
DTT	-	Dithiothreitol
EDTA	-	Ethylene Diamine Tetra Acetic Acid
EtBr	-	Ethidium Bromide
ETE	-	Extra Thyroidal Extensions
FBS	-	Foetal bovine serum
FNAB	-	Fine Needle Aspiration Biopsy
FTA	-	Follicular Thyroid Adenoma
FTC	-	Follicular Thyroid Carcinoma
FVPTC	-	Follicular Variant of Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma
G	-	Gram
kb	-	Kilobases
kDa	-	Kilodalton
MAPK	-	Mitogen Activated Proliferating Kinase
MUC	-	Mucin 1
MTC	-	Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma
ng	-	Nanogram
OD	-	Optical density
ORF	-	Open reading frame
PAGE	-	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PAS	-	Para-aminosalicylic acid
PAX8	-	Paired Box 8
PBMC	-	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	-	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	-	Polymerase chain reaction
pg	-	Picogram
PPAR	-	peroxisome proliferators-activated receptors
PTC		י בי
-	-	Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma
RAS	-	<u>Rat</u> Sarcoma viral oncogenes

HRAS		Harvey Rat Sarcoma viral oncogenes
NARS		<u>N</u> euroblastoma <u>Rat</u> <u>Sarcoma viral oncogenes</u>
KRAS		Kirsten Rat Sarcoma viral oncogenes
RET/PTC	-	Rearranged during Transfection in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma
RNA	-	Ribonucleic Acid
RNase	-	Ribonuclease
ROI	-	Reactive oxygen intermediates
ROS	-	Reactive oxygen species
RT	-	Room temperature
RTK	-	Receptor Tyrosine Kinase
RT-PCR	-	Reverse Transcriptase Polymerse Chain Reaction
SDS	-	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
TAE	-	Tris Acetate EDTA
TBE	-	Tris Borate EDTA
TBS	-	Tris buffered saline
TE	-	Tris EDTA buffer
TEMED	-	N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylene diamine
Tris	-	tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane
TSH	-	Thyroid Stimulating Hormone
U	-	unit(s)
UV	-	Ultraviolet
v/v	-	Volume/volume
w/v	-	Weight/ volume
WHO	-	World Health Organization
WT	-	Wild type
β-ΜΕ	-	Beta-mercapto-ethanol
μg	-	Microgram
Ml	-	Microliter
μΜ	-	Micromolar
KASP	-	K(c)ompetitive Allele Specific PCR
TCV	-	Tall Cell Variant of Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma

Chapter 1

General Introduction

1.1 Pathogenesis of Cancer

Cancer is the second most common cause of death after cardiovascular disorders in the world (1). The prevalence of cancer in India is estimated to be around 25 lakhs, with about 7-8 lakh new cases and 5.5 lakh deaths per annum (2). The major types of cancer are carcinoma, sarcoma, melanoma, lymphoma, and leukemia. Carcinoma (in Greek, karkinos, or "crab", and -oma, "growth") is a type of cancer that develops from epithelial cells. Specifically, a carcinoma is a cancer that begins in a tissue that lines the inner or outer surfaces of the body, and that generally arises from cells originating in the endodermal or ectodermal germ layer during embryogenesis.

Cancer is a complex genetic disease that is still being unraveled. Work over the past fifty years confirms that the genetic alterations found associated with human cancers impair the function of pathways critical to controlling cell growth and differentiation. When these mutations aggregate, they allow a malignant cell to acquire a set of biologic attributes leading to autonomous proliferation and metastatic spread. Despite this paradigm, the precise nature and timing of each of the events that conspire to program the malignant cell are yet incompletely understood.

Although familial cancer syndromes are responsible for only a minority of human cancers, the study of these kindred has facilitated our understanding of cancer genetics. In many such syndromes, individuals inherit one defective, predisposing allele in the germ line, and only later in life do they acquire a second loss of function mutation. As first described by Knudson, this "two hit" hypothesis helps explain such inherited cancer syndromes such as retinoblastoma and Wilms' tumours (3). Although the tumours in these patients express

mutations in specific inherited genes, the finding that these tumors also harbour a myriad of other genetic changes indicates that further alteration by somatic mutation are required for tumour development (4).

However, the majority of human cancers lacks a readily definable predisposing genetic defect and appears to be the result of a several acquired genetic alterations. Work from many laboratories, using both patient-derived material and experimental cancer models have begun to define these malignant genetic mechanisms.

In spontaneously arising human cancers, we still cannot determine the exact number and nature of genetic alterations involved in the process of transformation from a normal cell to a malignant one. Since cancer encompasses more than 100 different types of malignant diseases with great heterogeneity of clinical characteristics, every tumour could hypothetically be completely unique. Thus, cancers, in general, could harbour an undecipherable number of genetic and epigenetic changes leading to their development.

Alternatively, pathogenesis of human cancers may be dependent on a distinct set of genetic and biochemical alterations that apply uniformly to most if not all human tumours. These changes may alter the functions of specific pathways involved in important biological functions and facilitate malignant transformation, endowing cells with specific changes in cell physiology, termed "acquired capabilities," ensuring their survival and continued success (5). In particular, cancer cells generate their own mitogenic signals, proliferate without limits, resist cell cycle arrest, evade apoptosis, induce angiogenesis, and eventually devise mechanisms for invasion and metastasis.

1.1.1 Genetic Alterations in Cancer

Epidemiologic analyses have shown that four to six rate-limiting events must occur before a tumour becomes clinically apparent (6). The changes that must occur are genetic and/or

epigenetic in nature. Most of these events result from somatic mutations that occur infrequently or are induced by carcinogen exposure, and only in aggregate do they lead to the tumourigenic state.

1.1.2 The carcinoma model

By studying tissue derived from specific histopathologic stages, ranging from normal epithelium to frank carcinoma, genetic alterations specific for each stage has been catalogued. Thereby, a model that analyzes an accumulation of separate genetic mutations could aid in understanding the combination of events that lead to the development of malignancy (7).

Observations in colorectal cancer, suggest that oncogenesis cannot be accomplished by a random accumulation of mutations. The etiology of human cancer follows a stepwise progression of genetic events. This model demonstrates only one of many potential pathways to the neoplastic state. (Figure 1.1).

Similar mapping is yet to be done in most of other human cancer and abundant evidence indicates that specific mutations differ among particular cancers. Understanding the combination of events required in each type of human cancer remains an important goal of future studies.



Fig 1.1: By 1990, analyses of the genomes of colonic epithelial cells at various stages of tumour progression revealed that the more progressed the cells were the more mutations they had acquired (*Courtesy: Land H, Parada LF, Weinberg RA. Nature. 1983; 304:596-602*)

1.1.3 Experimental Models

Initial studies of human cancer cells were limited to samples obtained from tumour biopsy specimens. To facilitate further genetic analysis, cells from these tumours were frequently adapted into cell lines that grow in culture (8). However, the high likelihood that additional genetic alterations are acquired over time, through propagation in culture, is a confounding factor in such genetic analysis.

Recently, transcriptional profiling has been helpful in evaluating the simultaneous expression of thousands of genes in particular cancers or cancer cell lines (9). To analyze true functional roles of genes the new approach is to transform normal cells, *in vitro*, by serially introducing multiple oncogenes.

In rodent systems, two introduced oncogenes (*Ras* or *Myc* transgene) converted embryonic rodent cells to a tumorigenic phenotype (10, 11) farther indicated that multiple genetic changes are required for malignant transformation.

While two oncogenes appeared to suffice to transform rodent cells, the transformation of primary human cell lines proved to be more complex. From a set of observations, Sager and her colleagues postulated that the senescence program is a barrier to cancer development in human (12). Recent work, however, has begun to identify combinations of genetic alterations that suffice to confer human cellular transformation.

Studies have revealed this combination of genetic alterations to be sufficient to transform multiple cell types, including cells of mammary, lung, prostate, ovarian, mesothelial, endothelial, and neuroectodermal (13, 14) origin. Thus, it is necessary to understand the roles of these basic genetic elements involved in transformation in regards to the critical pathways that they effect.
1.1.4 Molecular Changes

Although there are many important cellular capabilities, viz., cell cycle arrest checkpoints, apoptosis, guard against crisis, and provide its own mitogenic signals, these may be bypassed or avoided by cells with accumulated mutations (putative cancer cells), and may be sufficient to allow for transformation to the oncogenic phenotype. These well-defined specific molecular alterations involved both in thyroid-specific and general malignant transformation are described below.

1.1.4.1 Tumour suppressor genes

1.1.4.1.1 P53 in Neoplasia

Perhaps one of the most common alterations in human cancers is mutation of the P53 pathway, found altered in most, if not all, human cancers. Loss of wild-type p53 protein expression, in conjunction with gain-of-function from mutant proteins (15), contribute to acquisition of specialized cell properties, such as proliferative and survival advantages.

Wild-type P53 protein may act as a cellular defense mechanism through its effects on cell cycle arrest and apoptosis, both major obstacles to tumour formation. Thus, abrogation of wild-type p53 function may be sufficient in some tumour types to dismantle the apoptotic machinery (16). However, in other tumours, specific components of the apoptotic cascade, such as bcl-2, Akt, or caspases (17), must also be inactivated.

P53 regulates a number of genes involved in the cell cycle including cyclin dependent kinases (CDKs), Hdm2, a negative regulator of P53, which is also positively regulated by p53 protein itself.

While P53 may be directly mutated in over half of all human cancers, in some tumours no P53 mutation is observed, yet other genes in the pathway are altered. For example, Hdm2 can

be overexpressed and antagonize p53 protein function in a variety of cancers, including Bcell lymphomas, melanomas, and breast cancers (18).

1.1.4.1.2 Retinoblastoma (RB) protein

Regulation of passage through the checkpoint of the cell cycle is one of the most important roles of the retinoblastoma protein (19). In its hypo-phosphorylated form, this protein bound to various E2F family proteins and inhibits mitosis by blocking cell cycle entry into S-phase.

RB inactivation is a crucial step in allowing a cell to bypass the checkpoint and continue through the cell cycle. Normally, one of the cyclin D subtypes assembles with and these active holoenzymes phosphorylate RB proteins. Once in a hyperphosphorylated state, RB is unable to bind E2F or HDACs (20) (Figure 1.2).



Fig 1.2: Genetics of retinoblastoma development: The development of retinoblastomas requires the successive inactivation of two copies of the chromosomal RB gene (*Courtesy: The Molecular Basis of Cancer*, 4^{th} ed, John Mendelsohn et. al, 2015, Elsevier)

Several other tumour suppressor genes including P16, P21 and P27, also contribute to the phosphorylation status of pRB. However, when a strong mitogenic stimulus is present,

increased cyclin D1 helps to phosphorylate and inactivate RB, facilitating cell cycle progression through the G1 restriction checkpoint (21).

Like P53, loss of function mutations of RB is also found in approximately 80% of osteosarcomas and lung cancers, particularly small cell tumours. However, loss is evident in over half of all non-small cell lung cancers. Inactivation of the RB pathway is also observed in a large array of other cancers, including pancreatic, breast, glioblastoma multiforme, and T-cell ALL. In many cervical cancers, human papilloma viruses (HPV) E7 oncoprotein sequesters and tags RB for degradation (22). However, it is reported by Harvey, et al., that mice deficient in both p53 and Rb develop tumours primarily of endocrine origin (23).

1.1.4.2 Mitogenic stimuli and Proto-Oncogenes

Normal and cancer cells differ in their innate ability to proliferate in the absence of mitogenic stimulation. The presence of surrounding growth factors is crucial for the continued proliferation of normal human cells. Cancer cells, in contrast, have reduced their dependence on external stimuli due to the activation of oncogenic mutations that generate constitutively active mitogenic signals (24). For example, alterations or mutation in growth factor receptor (eg. HER2, RET), function as autonomous growth stimuli (25).

1.1.4.2.1 Oncogenic RAS

Since multiple activating mutations and rearranges have been implicated in the pathogenesis of human cancer, various RAS proteins, members of GTP-binding protein super-family have been implicated. These control several crucial signaling pathways that regulate cell proliferation. Their ability to affect downstream intracellular signaling proteins first rely on post-translational farnesylation to localize the RAS protein to the cell membrane. Then the ratio of biologically active RAS-GTP to inactive RAS-GDP depends upon the presence and activity of various guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) and their antagonists, GTPase activating proteins (GAPs) (26).

Multiple effector pathways lie immediately downstream of RAS. The RAF family of proteins, which can trigger a cascade of phosphorylating events through the mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, leads to cell cycle progression. Alterations in the RAS proteins or their downstream effectors can therefore have the potential to lead to constitutively active signals, aiding the oncogenic phenotype.

Activating point mutations of RAS occur in approximately 20% of human tumours, most frequently in pancreatic, thyroid, colorectal, and lung carcinomas, obviating the requirement for the neoplastic cells to encounter external growth stimuli. In general somatic RAS mutations seem to be an early event in human cancer (27).

Three members of the RAS family: the ubiquitously expressed K-RAS, N-RAS, and H-RAS, are commonly found to be activated by mutation in human tumours to the extent of 85%, 15% and <1% respectively. These point mutations all prevent GAP induced GTPase activity, leaving RAS in its active, GTP-bound form (28).

In many cancers that lack RAS mutations, downstream effectors of RAS signaling are frequently altered, leading to acquisition of a similar set of neoplastic attributes. Mutations of the BRAF gene were initially found to be present in around 66% of melanomas and also approximately 12% of colon cancers (29). Amplification of the gene results in PI3K activation in 40% of ovarian tumours, while one of its downstream targets, AKT2, can also be amplified in breast and ovarian carcinomas. Finally, the PTEN tumour suppressor gene, acts as a phosphatase on specific downstream targets of PI3K, such as AKT, inactivating that pathway. PTEN deletions occur in 30–40% of human cancers (30).

Characteristic chromosomal rearrangements of the RET gene result in a constitutively active chimeric receptor, termed (RET/PTC) (Chapter 3.2). Some rare rearrangements of specific TRK tyrosine kinase receptors also cause activation of RAS pathway. These rearrangements and single point mutations in RAS pathway genes contribute to many of the "acquired capabilities" of cancer cells, including unregulated growth, inappropriate survival, invasiveness, and angiogenesis (31).



Fig 1.3: Telomere erosion and entrance into crisis (*Courtesy: Shay JW, Zou Y, Hiyama E*, Wright WE. Telomerase and cancer. Hum Mol Genet. 2001;10(7):677-685.)

1.1.5 Telomeres and telomerase

Telomeres are terminal structures at the ends of each eukaryotic chromosome and are composed of guanine rich, DNA repeats, as well as multiple DNA-binding proteins. At the end of each telomere is a single stranded overhang that forms a large secondary loop structure, termed a T-loop. Telomeric DNA is maintained by telomerase, a RNA-dependent DNA polymerase (32, 33) (Figure 1.3).

One of the main functions of telomere is to protect the ends of chromosomes from forming illegitimate fusions, which would lead to genetic instability. In approximately 90% of human tumours, telomere maintenance and replicative immortality may be achieved through activation of telomerase; the remaining tumours may be maintained through "alternative

lengthening of telomeres" (ALT) (34). Interestingly, studies examining malignant transformation in ALT cells lacking P53 and RB function, but expressing oncogenic RAS, confirm that malignant transformation is impossible even with stable telomere lengths unless hTERT is ectopically introduced. Thus, overhang and T-loop maintenance by hTERT may have a role in the mechanism of transformation (35).

1.1.6 Genetic Instability

Although the molecular alterations discussed above, and their regulatory pathways are crucial to the development of a neoplastic cell, one additional hallmark may be necessary to achieve a malignant state. This cardinal feature is genetic instability, which is likely to allow a cell to acquire additional neoplastic attributes more rapidly through the stepwise accumulation of mutations.

When the homeostatic mechanisms that guard the integrity of chromosomes are disrupted, additional genetic alterations may accumulate that lead to further deleterious effects. This instability, however, can be at either a DNA sequence level or at the level of the chromosome, in the form of an uploidy (36).

Different sets of DNA lesions activate one of the four major DNA repair pathways: mismatch repair, base excision repair, direct repair and homologous/ nonhomologous end joining (37). If these repair mechanisms are not in proper order, a dividing cell could improperly segregate, and depending on the type of lesion, possibly result in aneuploidy. In human cells, the ATR/ATM signaling network, which can together detect a wide variety of DNA lesions through genomic surveillance during DNA replication, has a large role in DNA damage response. ATR disruption is lethal; ATM defects are not and increases cancer risk (38).

Alterations in DNA damage pathways, conferring genetic instability, may be early events in tumourigenesis, as is seen by an increased micronuclei frequency in these tumours. . In a heterogeneous population of cells, certain cells with the appropriate amount of instability develop a survival and proliferative advantage by selecting out the right set of mutations, typically an accumulation of oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes that are now no longer able to be repaired. This eventually leads to clonal outgrowth and tumour formation (39).

1.1.7 Beyond Cancer Genome

To date, genetic alterations in cancer cells are still the easiest to detect and study experimentally. In the future, the sequencing of an entire human cancer cell genome will certainly yield more important information for the further study of cancer. However, even with this data, many important alterations will be missed, since not all changes occur at the DNA sequence level and are instead occurring at a non-genetic level. For e.g., both epigenetic phenomena and post-translational modifications have critical roles in the regulation of important cellular capabilities that contribute to the neoplastic phenotype.



Fig. 1.4: Perpetuation of CpG methylation following DNA replication (*Courtesy: Jones S*, *Wang T L*, *Shih I M*, *et al. Science*. 2010;330(6001): 228-231.)

Epigenetic alterations

Alterations in gene expression that do not involve mutations of DNA sequences are epigenetic events. It has become clear in recent years, that epigenetic changes have an impact to the development of human cancers through silencing of tumour suppressors and DNA damage elements, chromosomal instability, and even activation of oncogenes (40, 41).

Hyper-methylation mediated silencing of tumour suppressor genes may be important for tumour development since, among other advantages, it tends to lead to a selective cellular growth advantage (41). Methylation of cytosine residues occur at CpG dinucleotides, and 70–80% of these dinucleotides are heavily methylated in human cells (Figure 1.4). Long GC-rich stretches of DNA in the human genome, termed CpG islands, are often uniquely associated with flanking genes and are protected from modification. These normally unmethylated CpG islands may become methylated in cancer cells, resulting in loss of expression of the flanking genes (38). This form of methylation induced silencing affects tumour suppressor genes such as CDH1 and P16, both implicated in cancer development. Epigenetic alterations found in familial and non-hereditary forms of breast and colon cancer offer further supportive evidence for the role of methylation in neoplastic formation (42).

Although the exact mechanism of abnormal epigenetic changes leading to neoplasia is unknown, likely candidates include changes in expression of the key enzymes that regulate DNA methylation, such as the DNA methyl-transferases (DNMTs). Over-expression of DNMT mRNA levels have been found in malignancies of various histological origin, including lung, colon, and ovarian cancer cells. Further evidence is the fact that overexpression of DNMT1 leads to de-novo methylation of CpG islands, and can facilitate cellular transformation (43, 44).

1.1.8 Conclusion:

The development of human cancer is a complex process that involves the multiple gene mutations, translocation, ineffective DNA damage-repair pathways, upregulation of protooncogenes and down regulation of tumor suppressor genes, alterations in transcription and translation factors, indicating the involvement of alterations of multiple cell physiologic functions. Although possibilities for genetic and/or epigenetic alterations are innumerable, common principles have recently been delineated that ensure the success of any cell exhibiting a malignant phenotype. The specific pathways and principles discussed above are known to contribute in an intimate manner to this process, but the foundation is just being set. Since this thesis is about genetic mutations in thyroid carcinomas, these malignancies offer excellent models for studying cancer pathogenesis in general, as they offer a broad spectrum of tumour subtypes. For instance, papillary tumours tend to be well-differentiated, slow growing tumours that can be treated with radioiodine and thyroxine-suppression, and may have utility in studying early genetic lesions involved in neoplastic formation. On the other hand follicular tumours are more aggressive as they can lose their differentiated nature easily leading to a poor prognosis. At the other end of the differentiation spectrum, are the anaplastic tumours that are very aggressive and difficult to treat resulting in high mortality. Hence, a careful prospective study of these tumours can yield considerable information on the initiation and progression of genetic mutations responsible for the different types of thyroid cancers.

In the following chapters, the specific molecular defects involved in thyroid cancers will be discussed in detail. These defects may be specific for different subsets of thyroid carcinomas, but they typically lead into unifying pathways that phenotypically result in specific "acquired capabilities" for the cells to become malignant.

1.2. Introduction to Thyroid Cancer- current knowledge

Thyroid carcinoma is fairly uncommon, representing only 1 % of all cancers but accounts for more than 90% of all endocrine cancers (45). The thyroid is a complex and fascinating endocrine gland with multiple functions, including regulation of calcium homeostasis and basal metabolism. Thyroid nodules are frequently seen in clinical practice and the majority are benign. Thyroid nodules represent a variety of different thyroid disorders from the nonneoplastic conditions such as goitre or thyroiditis to neoplastic nodules that can be benign or malignant. Sometimes adenomas and goitre are seen in combination with either hyper- or hypothyroidism. Thyroid carcinomas comprise of a diverse group of malignancies ranging from the indolent papillary micro-carcinoma that is hardly any threat to survival, to the rare anaplastic carcinoma that is very aggressive with high morbidity and mortality. The overall incidence of thyroid cancer is reported to have slowly risen, from a rate of 1.3/100,000 women and 0.2/1 00,000 men in 1935 to 5.8/1 00,000 women and 2.5/1 00,000 men in 1991 (46). Based on the survey of the year 2007-2011, the number of new cases of thyroid cancer is 12.9 per 100,000 men and women per year as shown in Figure 1.5. In India, thyroid cancer prevalence is higher and is reported to be 3-4% of all cancer patients (1). However enough information regarding association with genetic mutation to the prevalence and prognosis for this disease is not available.

1.2.1 The Thyroid gland

1.2.1.1. Embryology

During embryogenesis, the thyroid follicular cells, originating from epithelial cells, descend from the foramen cecum of the tongue to the anterior neck region and fuse with the neuroendocrine C-cells. Normal thyroid tissue can be found along the thyreoglossal duct forming a third pyramidal lobe. The calcitonin producing cells originate from the fifth pharyngeal pouch that give rise to the ultimobranchial body. This is later incorporated into the central part of each lobe of the thyroid gland. The thyroid gland accumulates and binds iodine after 11 weeks of gestation (47).



Figure 1.5: Number of New Thyroid Cases and Deaths per 100,000: The number of new cases of thyroid cancer was 12.9 per 100,000 men and women per year. The number of deaths was 0.5 per 100,000 men and women per year. These rates are age-adjusted and based on 2007-2011 cases and deaths.

Source: http://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/thyro.html

1.2.1.2 Anatomy

The human thyroid gland as illustrated in Figure 1.6 is situated in the neck, in front of the trachea and between the cricoid cartilage and the suprasternal notch. Macroscopically, the gland consists of two lobes that are connected by the isthmus. In dog, the thyroid has a similar appearance, while e.g. in birds the two lobes are isolated (48). The blood is supplied mainly by the superior (which is the first branch from the external carotid artery) and inferior thyroidal arteries. Lymphatic drainage is ipsilateral and each lobe can be regarded as a separate entity, although there are some lymphatic anastomoses between the two lobes throughout the isthmus. The recurrent laryngeal nerve, a motor nerve to the intrinsic muscles of the larynx, traverses the lateral borders of the gland. Injury causes paralysis of the vocal cord on the ipsilateral side. The normal weight of the thyroid is 15-30 gram, depending on

body weight and iodine supply. The four parathyroid glands are located in the posterior region of each pole of the thyroid (49).

1.2.1.3. Function

The functional and structural unit of the thyroid gland is the thyroid follicle. This spherical structure is lined with a single layer of epithelial cells and is filled with colloid, which is rich in the thyroid hormonal precursor, thyroglobulin. Between the follicular cells are the parafollicular cells, called C-cells which produce calcitonin, a hormone involved in the calcium homeostasis. The synthesis of the two major thyroid hormones, triiodothyronine (T3) and thyroxine (T4) is a complex physiologic procedure that takes place in the follicular cells. Iodine is an essential element in the thyroid physiology and a critical component in both T3 and T4 molecules. Iodine enters the cells through Sodium Iodide symporter and oxidized with the hydrogen peroxide generated by the enzyme thyroid peroxidase (TPO). It subsequently binds to tyrosine residues of Tg molecule. After conjugation and protelysis of Tg molecule the T3 and T4 hormones are released into the blood at 1:20 ratio. These hormones are transported into different parts of the body in bound (Thyroid binding globulin, Albumin, Transthyretin) or free form (only 0.03 to 0.3%). Only the free form of T3 is biologically active hormone and T4 is converted to T3, either in the thyroid gland or in peripheral tissue cells by deiodinases. Like other steroid hormones, thyroid hormones cross the cell membrane and bind to intracellular receptors (α_1 , α_2 , β_1 and β_2), and act as transcription factors to modulate DNA transcription related to basal metabolism.



Figure 1.6: The thyroid gland. (Source: <u>http://training.seer.cancer.gov/</u> & <u>https://twitter.com/ wearecare/status/545658420935020544/photo/1</u>)</u>

T4 and T3 production from thyroid gland is controlled by feedback mechanisms through regulatory hormones from the pituitary and the hypothalamus.. Stimulation to hypothalamus like heat, cold and hunger initiates release of Thyrotropin Releasing Hormone (TRH) which subsequently stimulates the anterior pituitary to release Thyroid Stimulating Hormone (TSH). The production of thyroxine and triiodothyronine is induced by thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) by its binding to TSH receptor (TSHR). On the other hand, the TSH production is suppressed by higher levels of T3 and T4 in blood by a negative feedback loop (49).

1.2.1.4. Histology

The normal thyroid gland exhibits a typical histological pattern with spherical sacs (follicles) surrounded by epithelial cells commonly referred to as follicular cells(8). The follicles contain colloids with thyroglobulin (Tg) for production of the thyroid hormones, thyroxine (T4) and triiodothyronine (T3). The production of thyroid hormones is regulated by thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) from the pituitary gland, which in turn is modulated by various influences such as T4 and iodine levels, thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) from the hypothalamus, and different other hormones. Differentiated thyroid cancer usually secrets Tg into the blood which is a valuable tumour marker for post-operative follow-up.

The parafollicular cells, called C-cells because they produce calcitonin. The functions of calcitonin are related to the metabolism of calcium and phosphorous. High levels of calcitonin are common in patients with medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC), as such it is used as a marker in MTC diagnostics (49,50).

1.2.1.5. Thyroid tumours

Nodules in the thyroid gland are common, the majority of which are benign (51). In regions with sufficient iodine intake, 4-7% of the general population has clinically detectable thyroid nodules. Thyroid nodules may reflect a variety of non-neoplastic conditions such as thyroiditis or goiter, as well as benign or malignant tumours. Figure 1.7 illustrates the major types of thyroid tumours, recognized in the WHO classification (52). The most common type of tumour is follicular thyroid adenoma (FTA), originating from the follicular epithelium of thyroid. In contrast to nonneoplastic thyroid nodule, FTA is an encapsulated solitary tumour and usually occurs in multiple numbers. FTA is classified as benign, and the diagnosis requires the absence of vascular and capsular invasion (53).

Other subtypes of follicular tumours are; atypical follicular thyroid adenoma (AFTA) and Hürthle cell adenoma (HTA) (52). The diagnosis AFTA refers to adenomas with high cellularity, irregular growth pattern against the capsule and increased mitotic activity. HTA, or oxyphilic cell adenoma, is composed of more than 75% eosinophilic cells with a high content of mitochondria. Malignant thyroid tumours are grossly categorized as well differentiated (WDTC), poorly differentiated (PDTC) or undifferentiated (Anaplastic thyroid cancer; (ATC)) cancer. In general patients with WDTC have superior prognosis as compared to those with PDTC or ATC (54).



Figure 1.7: Histology of Thyroid Tumours. A. Follicular adenoma: note the sharp separation of a follicular tumour from the surrounding tissue by a uniform fibrous capsule. **B.** Follicular carcinoma with capsular penetration. **C.** Papillary carcinoma metastatic to a lymph node: typical appearance of papillary carcinoma with complex and branching papillae. **D.** Higher magnification showing optical clear, overlapping and grooved (arrow) nuclei. **E.** Tall cell variant papillary carcinoma, lined by tall cells (arrow). **F.** Undifferentiated carcinoma with elongated tumour cells. **G.** Medullary carcinoma. **H.** Papillary carcinoma with clear cell changes: typical intranuclear inclusion (inset). **Source:** http://www.hormones.gr/89/article/article.html

Papillary thyroid cancer (PTC)

Papillary thyroid cancer (PTC) is the most common type of thyroid cancer, constituting 80 to

90% of all thyroid cancers (55). PTCs are tumours of follicular origin that exhibit papillary

and/or follicular growth pattern and characteristic nuclear inclusions and overlapping tumour

nucleus (52). The crucial diagnostic feature for a PTC is the typical nuclear changes (also

referred to as "ground-glass nuclei"). PTC frequently invades lymphatic vessels and lymph nodes.

Follicular thyroid cancer (FTC)

The second most common type of thyroid cancer is follicular thyroid cancer (FTC) comprises about 10% of all cases (55). FTC presents with capsular and/or vascular invasion. Based on the degree of invasion FTCs are further classified as minimally-invasive or widely-invasive (52). Hürthle cell thyroid carcinoma, also known as oxyphillic or oncocytic carcinoma consists of more than 75% oxyphilic cells, is a variant of FTC. FTC metastases are found in the lungs and bones following hematogenous spread.

Medullary thyroid cancer (MTC)

Medullary thyroid cancer (MTC) originates from the calcitonin-producing parafollicular cells and accounts for about 3% of all thyroid cancers (55). Microscopically these tumours are composed of spindle-shaped, round or polygonal cells separated by fibrous stroma that may contain amyloid . MTC may occur in sporadic as well as hereditary forms. An important part of the diagnostic work is the demonstration of immunoreactivity for calcitonin. Metastases to regional lymph nodes are common. Distant metastasis occurs in 20% of the patients and then to the liver, lung and skeleton (52).

Poorly differentiated thyroid cancer (PDTC)

PDTC is a rare type of thyroid cancer, accounting for up to 7% of all thyroid cancer (55). However the real frequency is somewhat uncertain, which is due to related inconsistent definition of this entity. According to the WHO classification (52), PDTC is characterized by increased mitotic activity, tumour necrosis, capsular and vascular invasion and at least focal positive staining for Tg. However, PDTC lacks several morphologic characteristics that are typical for WDTC, suggesting that it may represent an intermediate entity in the progression from WDTC to ATC (53, 54).

Anaplastic thyroid cancer (ATC)

ATC, the most aggressive and lethal form of thyroid cancer, accounts for only 1-2% of all thyroid tumours (56). The prognosis is extremely poor with a median survival of less than one year after diagnosis (55). Previous studies have reported that ATC can occur concurrently with a variety of thyroid disorders, including WDTC (57). ATCs are rapid growing unencapsulated tumours that infiltrate the surrounding soft tissues of the neck and into the respiratory tract.

Microscopically, three types of histologic variants are observed including spindle, giant cell and squamoid cell pattern (54). ATCs are further characterized by frequent mitoses, large areas of necrosis, hemorrhagic, and vascular invasion (52). Staining for Tg is typically negative. In addition, ATC cells do not have thyrotropin receptors or Sodium Iodide symporter and do not secrete Tg. Immuno histochemistry (IHC) staining for calcitonin, chromogranin A, carcinoembryonic antigen and Tg are typically negative. At presentation it is commonly accompanied with regional lymph node metastases, local invasion of surrounding tissues (*i.e.* fat, trachea, muscle, esophagus and larynx), as well as distant metastases in the lung, skeleton and brain. If left untreated most patients will die of ultimate airway obstruction caused by the rapid and extensive tumour growth.

1.3. Thyroid Epidemiology, Diagnosis & Treatments

1.3.1. Epidemiology and risk factors

The incidence of thyroid carcinoma is influenced by several factors such as gender, race and geographical location. Worldwide statistics show women to be more frequently affected than men. Between 1.2 to 2.6 men and 2.0 to 3.8 women per 100,000 individuals are diagnosed with thyroid cancer each year (58). The geographical variation is exemplified by the two-fold higher incidence in Iceland and Hawaii as compared to other North European countries,

Canada, U.S.A and Israel (59). Furthermore, thyroid cancer is also more common among certain ethnic groups, *e.g.* Chinese men, Filipino women in Hawaii (60) and Caucasian men and women (61).

Epidemiological studies have suggested that the risk of developing thyroid cancer is influenced by a variety of internal and external factors. Additional determining parameters are iodine deficiency, diet, and exposure to ionizing radiation (62), sex hormones (63), age and gender (59). Individuals with dietary iodine deficiency frequently develop goiter as a result of compensatory thyroid proliferation. Interestingly FTC is more prevalent in areas of iodine deficiency, and ATC often coincides with longstanding goiter (64). Radiation is another well-established risk factor for development of, in particular PTC, which have become evident in individuals exposed to high levels of radiation (*e.g.* Hiroshima, Nagasaki and Chernobyl) (62).

1.3.2. Diagnosis and treatments

When a patient is diagnosed with a thyroid nodule, the first diagnostic procedure performed is the fine needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB) to determine if the nodule is malignant. Most often the cytological analysis by FNAB shows the nodule(s) to be benign: such as colloid goiter, or thyroiditis since the frequency of nodules being malignant is quite low. Some types of thyroid malignancy like PTC and ATC can be readily diagnosed by FNAB, however, in the case of follicular tumours FNAB cannot be used to distinguish between benign and malignant forms.



Figure 1.8: Algorithm for the administration of radioiodine in patients with thyroid cancer: modifications of the European consensus. A general consensus exists that tumours <1 cm in size, which are unifocal, intrathyroid and stage N0 do not require radioiodine treatment. Abbreviations: Ab, antibodies; LT_4 , levothyroxine; rhTSH, recombinant human TSH; Tg, thyroglobulin.

Source: Nascimento, C. et al. Endocr. Relat. Cancer 18, R29–R40 (2011)

This is related to the diagnostic criteria of FTC requiring the demonstration of capsular and/or vascular invasion. Therefore, all follicular thyroid tumours will be treated by surgery, most commonly by removal of the involved lobe (*i.e.* lobectomy) or total thyroidectomy. If the histopathological investigation of the surgically removed tumour shows FTC, a second operation is often performed (*i.e.* total thyroidectomy). There used to be a debate, several years ago, as to whether lobectomy or total thyroidectomy should be recommended for patients with thyroid cancer. The recommendation of total thyroidectomy is supported by reports showing lower recurrence (65), and mortality (66) and improved survival (67) as

compared to lobectomy. Total thyroidectomy also offers the possibility of effective I^{131} treatment and subsequent recurrences can be identified by measurements of Tg or calcitonin as tumour markers. However total thyroidectomy has the drawback of requiring lifelong substitution with thyroid hormone. On the other hand, lobectomy has the advantage of decreased risk for surgical complications such as hypoparathyroidism and damage to local nerves. It is expected that the increased molecular and genetic knowledge of these tumours will lead to the development of diagnostic tools for pre-operative distinction of these entities. Treatment of ATC remains a challenge in clinical practice. Since the tumours are large, locally infiltrative causing air-way obstructions radiotherapy and chemotherapy are commonly given to decrease the tumour mass prior to surgery. This procedure has both positive effects on the outcome of surgery as well as reduces the local symptoms in the neck (*56*). The algorithm for the administration of radioiodine in the patients with thyroid cancer by the Society for Endocrinology is provided in Figure 1.8.

1.4. Molecular Genetics of Thyroid Tumours

1.4.1. Two hypotheses of thyroid carcinogenesis: multi-step carcinogenesis and fetal cell carcinogenesis

Since the 1980s, cancer cells, including those of the thyroid, have been considered to be derived from normal cells, such as thyrocytes, via multiple incidents of damage to their genome, especially to the oncogenes or tumour suppressor genes, which accelerate uncontrolled proliferation and metastasis. According to multi-step carcinogenesis hypothesis, follicular carcinomas are generated from follicular adenomas, while papillary carcinomas are derived from some unknown precursor cells generated by normal thyrocytes. Anaplastic carcinomas are generated by both follicular and papillary carcinomas by genomic changes, such as mutations in the *TP53*, as described in figure 1.9. The existence of common genomic changes between differentiated carcinomas and anaplastic carcinomas offer direct proof of

the multi-step carcinogenesis hypothesis. *RAS* and *BRAF* mutations are frequently observed in thyroid carcinomas. On the other hand, micropapillary carcinomas, which are often observed in autopsies, show a distinct morphological difference from thyrocytes (68). It is hard to believe that these carcinoma cells obtain their cancerous characteristics via multi-step carcinogenesis, since thyrocytes rarely proliferate and papillary carcinoma cells are very slow to grow. In 2000, another hypothesis of thyroid carcinogenesis was proposed, the "fetal cell carcinogenesis", in which cancer cells are derived from the remnants of fetal thyroid cells instead of thyrocytes (69). A considerable number of researchers have come to believe that cancer cells are derived from immature progenitor or stem cells, but not from welldifferentiated cells (70-73).

Development of thyroid tumours is associated with a variety of molecular and genetic mechanisms. It is related to oncogene activation, fusion oncogenes, tumour suppressor inactivation, genomic imbalances, expression profiles of genes, proteins, microRNAs, epigenetic modifications, and possibly mitochondrial DNA alterations. Several of these modifications are associated with certain types of thyroid tumours or related to familial and sporadic forms of disease as discussed below. The expanding knowledge of molecular genetics in thyroid cancer, continuously adds to our understanding of thyroid tumour etiology.

1.4.2. Oncogenes

Dominant stimulatory genes that cause cancer are termed oncogenes. Many of the components of mitogenic signaling pathways are encoded by genes that were originally identified as cancer-promoting genes or oncogenes because mutations in them contribute to the development of cancer. Activating oncogene mutations are frequently encountered in thyroid tumours and may be observed in germ-line and more commonly on the somatic level.

Well-known examples of recurrently involved oncogenes are *BRAF*, *RET*, the three RAS genes, β -catenin and PIK3CA which are described separately as follows.



Figure 1.9: Multi-step and Fetal cell carcinogenesis. A. According to multistage carcinogenesis theory, different histological subtypes of thyroid carcinoma are generated from a common thyroid follicular cell (thyrocyte) and dedifferentiate depending of acquired mutation. **B.** Feta cell theory proposes that different histology of thyroid cancer originate from thyroid cells present at different stages of differentiation by accumulation of mutation at those specific stages. (Source: Takano, T. (2007) Fetal cell carcinogenesis of the thyroid)

RET

The *RET* (*rearranged during transfection*) proto-oncogenes (74) located in chromosomal region 10q11.2 encodes for a tyrosine kinase receptor that is expressed in the cell membrane of different tissues including the thyroid, adrenal medulla, parathyroid, and enteric ganglion (75). The *RET* receptor consists of an extracellular, one transmembrane, and two intracellular domains (76). This particular gene has been strongly associated with the development of thyroid cancer (75). Activation is achieved by binding of the complex formed by the glial cell

line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) ligand and the GDNF family receptors- α (GDNF α). Binding of the ligand induces dimerization of the receptor and autophosphorylation in the intracellular domain, where after downstream signaling cascades can be activated (76, 77). The detailed information on *RET* is described in section 3.2 of the current thesis. In MTC *RET* mutations are frequently encountered in exons 10, 11, 13, 14, 15 and 16 (75). These mutations typically involve a single base-pair substitution leading to a shift in amino acid often involving a cysteine residue. MEN 2A or FMTC patients harbour constitutional mutations that are commonly affecting the cysteine-rich part of the extracellular domain or the intracellular tyrosine kinase domain (78, 79). A subset of apparently sporadic MTC cases also carry germ-line mutations of *RET* (78, 79). MEN 2B is most commonly caused by a mutation in exon 16 that affects codon 918 and the intracellular substrate recognition pocket in the catalytic core (75). Sporadic MTC frequently exhibit the same codon 918 mutation on the somatic level although other mutations may also occur.

BRAF

BRAF mutations are presently known as the most common genetic abnormalities in PTC. The *BRAF* gene is located in chromosome 7, and its encoded protein is a member of the RAF family of serine-threonine kinases (80). *BRAF* normally functions as an effector of the MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinases) pathway. Binding of Ras leads to activation and recruitment of *BRAF* to the cell membrane for subsequent phosphorylation and activation of members of the MAPK signaling cascade with effects on cellular differentiation, proliferation and survival (80). *In vitro* studies with benign thyroid cells have documented an important function for *BRAF* in *vitro* studies (81). *BRAF* is frequently mutated in a variety of different human cancers such as melanoma, ovarian cancer and colorectal cancer (80). One of the hitherto reported mutations constitutes approximately 90% of all mutations. This "hotspot" mutation involves a single nucleotide transition in exon 15 (1799T-A), predicted to give an

amino acid substitution of a valine by a glutamic acid at the position 600 (V600E) (82). The missense mutation has been reported in approximately 45% of PTC (83), thus making it the most common genetic abnormality of this entity. Although V600E is by far the most common type of mutation, activating *BRAF* mutations have also been reported at codons 599 and 601(84). Furthermore, V600E has also been found in approximately 10% of PDTC and a third of ATC (55). In ATC, *BRAF* mutations have been reported to be more prevalent in cases presenting with a PTC component as compared to regular ATC. Based on these results, it has been hypothesized that PTCs with a *BRAF* mutation would be more aggressive and could possibly progress to ATC. However, the possible relationship between V600E and aggressive tumour phenotypes is controversial (85). The more detailed studies are described in section 2.1 of the current thesis.

RAS

Point mutations in any of the three *RAS* genes *H-RAS*, *K-RAS*, and *N-RAS* are common findings in human cancers and present estimates suggest that approximately 30% of all human tumours harbour mutations in one of these genes (*86*). *RAS* mutations are also commonly observed in follicular thyroid tumours including both FTA and FTC, while in PTC it is less frequent with the exception of PTC of follicular variant. *RAS* mutations have also been reported in PDTC (18-27%) and ATC (20-60%). These findings could possibly suggest a progression of *RAS* mutated follicular tumours to ATC, but may also be coincidental following the overall high frequency of *RAS* mutations in human cancer. *RAS* mutations are typically missense alterations that affect two different locations in the gene including: exon 1 and codons 12 or 13 of the GTP binding part; or exon 2 and codon 61 of the GTP-binding domain (*86*). The normal function or Ras molecules are to convey signals from membrane-bound tyrosine kinase receptors to the MAPK cascade to activate transcription of target genes. Following activation of *RAS* by mutation, downstream targets will be continuously

stimulated with effects *e.g.* apoptosis and proliferation, and in addition contribute to genomic instability, mutations and malignant transformation (*86*).

β-catenin (CTNNB1)

 β -catenin encoded by the *CTNNB1* gene is a cytoplasmic protein with several functions. These involve regulation of cell-cell adhesion by binding to cadherins, mediation of the wingless (Wnt) signaling pathway, and transcriptional up-regulation of different oncogenes such as *Cyclin D1* (*CCND1*), *C-MYC* and *C-JUN* (87). Mutations of *CTNNB1* have been reported in the most aggressive forms of thyroid cancer including 0-25% of PDTC and up to 66% of ATC. *CTNNB1* mutations, especially those in exon 3, stabilize β - catenin so that its normal degradation by the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) complex is avoided (87). This will in turn lead to over-expression of β -catenin and constitutive activation of target gene expression.

РІКЗСА

The phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt signaling involved in regulation of cell growth, proliferation, and survival, has an established role in human tumour development (88). Oncogenic mutations or gene amplifications have been demonstrated in the catalytic subunit of the PIK3CA isoform (89). In thyroid cancer, *PIK3CA* mutations and copy gain have been reported (90-93), with a preferential involvement of *PIK3CA* mutations in FTC and ATC, and of copy number gains in ATC. In a recent study, significant correlation of *PIK3CA* copy gain with increased PIK3CA protein expression was demonstrated (93). In addition, activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway has also been implicated in thyroid cancers (94-96). Notably PIK3CA is activated by Ras, whilst the *PTEN* tumour suppressor has a phosphatase activity antagonizing the signaling of the PI3K/Akt pathway (88). These observations collectively suggest that PI3K/Akt/MAPK pathway is strongly associated with thyroid tumourigenesis.

1.4.3. Tumour Suppressors

p53

p53 is the tumour suppressor gene most frequently mutated in human cancer and it plays a central role in cell cycle regulation, DNA repair and apoptosis. In thyroid cancer, mutations of p53 are generally restricted to the entities of PDTC (17-38%) and ATC (67-88%) (55). Furthermore in a study of tumours with both WDTC and ATC, p53 mutations were only detected in the ATC component (97). In animal models, transgenic mice with *RET/PTC* rearrangements that developed PTC were crossed with p53-/- mice, giving rise to progeny with rapid development of PDTC and ATC (97). Taken together, these observations indicate that p53 inactivation is an important step for the dedifferentiation and progression of thyroid cancers.

p27

p27 or kinase inhibitor protein 1 (KIP1) encodes a nuclear protein member of the CDK inhibitors (CDKIs). These molecules negatively regulate cyclin activity and thus control the transition from the G1 phase to the S phase in the cell cycle as reviewed by Park and Lee (98). Several studies have compared p27 levels in thyroid tumours with those of normal thyroid tissues. They reported recurrent decrease in levels of p27, with lowest intensity detected in PDTC (99). Moreover, under-expression of p27 in PTC has been reported as an independent predictor of lymph node metastasis (100).

PTEN

PTEN is a dual-function lipid phosphatase that exerts its tumour suppressor effects by acting on the PI3K and the Akt/PKB pathways (88, 101). Somatic mutations in *PTEN* are rare in primary epithelial thyroid tumours. However hemizygous deletion occurs in 10-20% of FTAs and thyroid carcinomas (102). Moreover, progressive loss or reduction of PTEN protein expression is observed in thyroid cancers (103, 104). Recently aberrant promoter methylation for *PTEN* was also shown in thyroid cancers (104).

RASSF1A

The *Ras Association Domain family I (RASSF1A)* gene is located in chromosomal region 3p21.3 that is frequently lost in many human cancers including thyroid. It is a Ras effector possessing tumour suppressor properties through its involvement in apoptotic signaling, stabilization of microtubule and mitotic progression (105). RASSF1A promoter hypermethylation and LOH have been demonstrated to be the main mechanisms to inactivate this gene, whilst mutation is common in many human cancers. RASSF1A methylation but not LOH has been reported in all types of thyroid cancer, mostly in FTC (106-108).

Chromosomal rearrangements

Chromosomal rearrangements leading to oncogenic activation contributing to cancer development have been frequently described in hematological malignancies and sarcomas. In solid tumours of epithelial origin such rearrangements are less well characterized and have previously been regarded as of minor importance. However, thyroid tumours serve as a good example of the importance of chromosomal rearrangements and associated cancer genes in solid tumours. Approximately twenty different such rearrangements are presently known that are described below.

RET/PTC rearrangements

Under normal conditions *RET* is highly expressed in C-cells but not in follicular cells of the thyroid. In thyroid tumours *RET* is frequently activated by mutational events that contribute to tumour development. In PTC *RET* is recurrently activated by chromosomal rearrangement such as translocation or inversion. Following the rearrangement *RET* and the partner gene are juxtaposed leading to fusion of the 3' part of *RET* gene with the 5' part of one of several unrelated genes, known as *RET/PTC* rearrangements. To date, at least 11 different *RET*/PTC

rearrangements have been reported in varying frequencies of PTC cases (77). Overall *RET/PTC* rearrangements have been reported in varying frequencies of PTC cases with more frequently reported in pediatric patients (up to 80%) as compared to adult patients (2-34%) (97). *RET/PTC1* and *RET/PTC3* are the most commonly observed variants among the pediatric patients, which has been proposed to reflect an association with radiation exposure (97). *RET/PTC* rearrangements are regarded as early events in development of PTC but unrelated to progression from PTC to PDTC or ATC (109). Santoro and colleagues found less than 10% of *RET/PTC* positive PDTCs suggesting that *RET/PTC* carrying PTCs have a lower risk of invasion and metastasis (110).

NTRK1 rearrangements

The known chromosomal rearrangements in PTC involve either *RET* or *NTRK1*, which are fused with a variety of different partner genes. The *NTRK1* gene (neurotrophic tyrosine kinase receptor 1) is located on chromosome 1q21-22 and its encoded product is the nerve growth factor receptor. Three different variants of rearrangements involving *NTRK1* have been reported in PTC (*110*) especially in those associated with previous radiation. *NTRK1* rearrangements have been reported in frequencies from 3 to 12% making it less common than *RET/PTC* (*112*, *113*).

BRAF rearrangement

BRAF presents a similar situation as *RET* in that both activating mutations and chromosomal rearrangements may render an oncogenic function. A novel fusion gene between *AKAP9* (*A-kinase anchor protein 9*) and *BRAF* was recently reported in a small subset of PTCs (114). The underlying chromosomal mechanism is an intrachromosomal rearrangement of chromosome 7 involving a paracentric inversion of the long arm. This resulted in the formation of a fusion gene with in-frame fusion of the N-terminus of *AKAP9* with the C-terminal of *BRAF*. In support of its oncogenic function *AKAP9-BRAF* was shown to have

constitutive kinase activity, to stimulate MAPK pathways and to promote transformation of NIH3T3 cells (114).

PPAR_γ rearrangements

Chromosomal translocations giving rise to fusion oncogenes are recognized in both PTCs and follicular thyroid tumours. The first fusion gene identified in FTC results from a chromosomal translocation t(2;3)(q13;p25). This leads to fusions of the *PAX8 (paired domain 8)* gene in 2q13 with the *peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor* γ (*PPAR* γ) gene in 3p25 as originally reported by Kroll *et al (115)*. *PAX8-PPAR* γ has been identified in FTC in significant but varying frequencies, and in addition it has been reported in a subset of FTAs (97). Chromosomal region 3p25 has also been found to be involved in other translocation events in follicular thyroid tumours, suggesting that it could be a hot spot breakpoint region (*116, 117*). In two such cases the 3p25 breakpoint has been shown to involve the *PPAR* γ gene locus, including one primary FTC (*117*) and one FTA cell line (*116*). Interestingly reduced expression of the RAS effector *NORE1A (RASSF5A)* in FTCs has been associated with the presence of *PAX8-PPAR* γ (*117*), suggesting a link to the *RAS* signaling pathway.

THADA rearrangement

Cytogenetic investigations of FTA have revealed frequent rearrangements involving chromosomal regions 19q13 and 2p21, of which the latter has been associated with the *THADA* (thyroid adenoma-associated) gene (*118*). The identification of *THADA* was achieved by detailed characterization of two FTA cell lines carrying the translocations t(2;20;3)(p21;q11.2;p25) and t(2;7)(p21;p15), respectively (*118*). In these FTA cells, *THADA* was found to be fused with sequences from chromosomes 3 and 7. The exact identification of the possible partner genes remains to be clarified, although the 3p25 breakpoint was assigned

to the location of $PPAR\gamma$ (116). The function of the THADA protein is largely unknown but has been suggested to be related to the death receptor pathway (118).

1.4.4. Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)

The mtDNA is relatively small and encode for some of the components that are involved in mitochondrial energy-production. The possible involvement of mtDNA in thyroid cancer is by far less well studied than the nuclear DNA. Nevertheless, studies of the mtDNA have revealed deletions and/or point mutations in oncocytic thyroid tumours (55). Notably, oncocytic thyroid tumours are characterized by a high content of mitochondria.

1.4.5. Micro RNAs (miRNA)

Studies of microRNA in human cancer constitute a relatively new field of cancer research. It has been shown to comprise regulatory functions as oncogenes and tumour suppressive genes in different types of cancer and has also been associated with thyroid cancer. It is reported that there is up-regulation of five miRNA species, especially miR-221, miR-222 and miR-146 in PTC as compared to normal thyroid (119). Following this original observation, Pallante et al. confirmed the involvement of miR-221 and miR-222 in addition to miR-181b (120). miRNA-221 is a putative oncogene that is proposed to play a role in an early stage of PTC tumourigenesis (119). In the same study, up-regulation of miR-221, -222 and -146 was shown to be associated with loss of KIT gene and protein expression. Interestingly PTCs with loss of KIT expression harboured germline single-nucleotide alterations of KIT that involved the recognition sequences for miR-221 and miR-222. In another follow-up study by Visone and coworkers, enforced expression of miR-221 and miR-222 resulted in reduced p27(Kip1) protein levels but not corresponding mRNA levels (119), and in addition gave progression to the S phase in PTC cells (121). Profiling of miRNA has also been carried out in follicular thyroid tumours, which revealed significant over-expression of miR-197 and miR-346 in FTCs as compared to FTAs and normal thyroid tissues (122).

1.4.6. Comparative genome hybridization (CGH) and loss of heterozygosity (LOH) studies

Comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) is a molecular cytogenetic method for analyzing copy number variations (CNVs) relative to ploidy level in the DNA of a test sample compared to a reference sample, without the need for culturing cells. The aim of this technique is to quickly and efficiently compare two genomic DNA samples arising from two sources, which are most often closely related, because it is suspected that they contain differences in terms of either gains or losses of either whole chromosomes or subchromosomal regions (a portion of a whole chromosome). This technique was originally developed for the evaluation of the differences between the chromosomal complements of solid tumour and normal tissue, (124) and has an improved resolution of 5-10 megabases compared to the more traditional cytogenetic analysis techniques of Giemsa banding and fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) which are limited by the resolution of the microscope utilized.

CGH is only able to detect unbalanced chromosomal abnormalities. This is because balanced chromosomal abnormalities such as reciprocal translocations, inversions or ring chromosomes do not affect copy number, which is what is detected by CGH technologies. CGH does, however, allow for the exploration of all 46 human chromosomes in single test and the discovery of deletions and duplications, even on the microscopic scale which may lead to the identification of candidate genes to be further explored by other cytological techniques.

Gains and losses of chromosomal regions have been described in most types of thyroid tumours including MTCs (124, 125), FTAs (126-129), FTCs (125-129), PTCs (125, 130-135), PDTCs (*128, 136*) and ATCs (125, 128, 136-138). Taken together the detected abnormalities suggest that FTCs, PDTCs and ATCs are genetically less stable as compared

with PTCs, FTAs and MTCs (139). PTC is the best studied type of thyroid tumour using CGH. It has been found that less well differentiated PTCs display significantly more abnormalities as compared to other PTCs (131, 132). In addition, gains in 1p are associated with aggressive PTCs and MUC1 (1q22) was subsequently identified to be amplified as well as over-expressed in PTCs of aggressive type (134). It is reported that, the frequency of LOH is generally low in PTC (140, 141), with the exception of two studies that detected LOH in 50% of cases frequently involving 4q, 5p and 7p (139, 142). Cytogenetic analyses of FTA have revealed frequent rearrangements involving chromosomes 2 and 19. Furthermore, trisomies of chromosomes 4, 5, 7, 12 and 22 have been recurrently observed in this tumour group (143, 147). In contrary, loss of 7q has been reported in FTC (148-150). Deletions in 3p in particular the 3p21-25 region have been recurrently observed, indicating putative TSGs for FTC tumourigenesis. Loss of 22 is particularly common in FTCs, and it is associated with the widely-invasive type (125). Other studies also demonstrated LOH at chromosomes 3p, 3q, 10q, 11p, 11q, 13q, 17p and 22q in FTC (139, 151-153). The reported studies of CGH analyses in PDTC and ATC include a total of 33 PDTCs and 54 ATCs (125, 128, 136). Of note, these studies utilized conventional CGH. Wreesmann et al. identified gains at 1p34-p36, 6p21, 9q34, 17q25 and 20q and losses at 1p11-p31, 2q32-q33, 4q11-13, 6q21 and 13q21-q31 as recurrent alterations in PDTC (128). Loss at 13q was also reported in PDTC by Rodrigues et al. (94). Several alterations have been identified in this type of tumour. Hemmer et al. identified frequent gains of 7p22-pter, 8q22-qter and 9q34-qter in ATC, whilst Wilkens et al. demonstrated gains of 5p and alterations of chromosome 8 are responsible for ATC tumourigenesis (125, 137). Interestingly, gains at 3p13-p14 and 11q13, and loss of 5q11-q31 were proposed to be involved in ATC progression from PDTC by Wreesmann et al. (128). On the other hand, Rodrigues et al., suggested that gains at 3q and 20q are associated to ATC transformation from FTC, while losses of 7, 12q and 13q play an important role in ATC development from PDTC (136).

1.4.7. Gene-specific promoter and genome-wide methylation

Aberrant methylation at the promoter region of some TSGs i.e. RASSF1A and PTEN is commonly observed not only in thyroid cancer but also in adenomas, suggesting its role is early in thyroid tumourigenesis. Methylation of several TSGs may also be associated with thyroid tumourigenesis. For example TIMP3 (tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase), SLC5A8 (a member of the sodium solute symporter family) and DAPK (calcium/calmodulindependent serine threenine kinase) promoter hypermethylations were reported to be associated with poor pathological characteristics of PTC (154). Recently Hoque et al. revealed hypermethylation of TSHR, RAR- $\beta 2$, CDH1 and TGF- β in addition to RASSF1A, DAPK and TIMP3 in a panel of thyroid tumours (155). Promoter hypermethylations were observed for thyroid hormone receptors- α and - β (TRs) mainly in FTCs and in some PTCs and FTAs (156). Fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 (FGFR2) is down-regulated in neoplastic thyroid cells through DNA promoter methylation (157). However, little is presently known about genome-wide methylation changes in thyroid tumours. The only published study is by Galusca and colleagues who demonstrated a lower level of global methylation in thyroid cancer tissues as compared to benign tumours or adjacent normal thyroid based on analyzed using 5-methylcytidine antibodies (158).

1.4.8. Expression studies

Several studies have applied cDNA microarray analyses for global gene expression profiling in thyroid tumours (62, 133, 159-165). Some of the genes identified in these studies have been verified using immunohistochemistry such as *FN1* (encoding fibronectin), *LGALS3* (encoding galectin 3), and *KRT19* (encoding cytokeratin 19), suggesting that they could be developed into tools for thyroid cancer diagnostics (166, 167). Gene expression profiles are distinctly different in FTC as compared to PTC. Over-expression of *Cbp/p300- interacting transactivator* (*CITED1*), *claudin-10* (*CLDN10*), and *insulin-like growth factor binding protein 6* (*IGFBP6*) was seen in PTC, while e.g. *caveolin-1* (*CAV1*) and -2 (*CAV2*) were expressed at similar levels in the two tumour types . Using a similar approach Fryknäs *et al.* observed significant under-expression of the *four and a half LIM domains 1* (*FHL1*) gene in FTCs as compared to FTAs (*168*). Molecular profiling studies have also been applied with the aim to clarify molecular events in thyroid tumour dedifferentiation. Montero-Conde *et al.* found that genes related to the MAP kinase and TGF- β -signaling pathways, focal adhesion, cell motility, activation of actin polymerization and cell cycle were up-regulated in ATC as compared to WDTCs (*169*). Similarly another study also revealed that up-regulation of a set of genes involved in cell cycle progression and chromosome segregation is a unique feature of ATC (*165*).

1.5. Rationale of the Study

As mentioned above, the wide divergence in clinical behavior of thyroid carcinoma is poorly predicted by currently used clinico-pathological factors for diagnosis and prognosis. Hence, the different molecular alterations in various thyroid carcinomas that have been recently identified are being explored clinically. Despite extensive research to date, especially in genetic alterations, the scientific community has not been successful in translating biomarkers into useful clinical tools and thus avail the full clinical potential for patients presenting indeterminate thyroid nodules.

Attempts to improve diagnostic accuracy in the cases of uncertain or suspected cytological tests in thyroid nodule-FNAB samples with the addition of *BRAF* mutation, detection of *RAS*, *RET/PTC*, and *PAX8/PPAR* γ mutations, are being made. This is expected to improve cancer diagnosis. *BRAF*, can also be used as a tool for tumour prognostication based on the recent evidences and in clinical practice. The genes, coding the signaling cascade proteins (*RET*,

RAS, BRAF, PI3K, PTEN, AKT), are mutated or aberrantly expressed in thyroid cancer derived from follicular thyroid cell. Genetic and epigenetic alternations also contribute in consequence of malignant follicular cell transformation. The clinical implications of these molecular alterations include their utility in diagnostic evaluation, staging, prognosis and targeted treatment. Thus molecular analysis of thyroid cancer promises to increase our understanding of its biologic behavior and is expected to have further impact on its clinical management.

RMC has one of the largest registries of thyroid cancer patients in South East Asia. Approximately 500 new cases are being diagnosed every year as thyroid cancer. However the type and prevalence of various mutations in thyroid cancer patients remain so far unidentified in Indian population. It is known that different geographic areas and different genetic background amongst races may contribute to different frequencies and type of mutations as well as their role in the molecular pathogenesis of thyroid cancer.

Therefore the project aims at:

- To study the prevalence of *BRAF* ^{V600E} mutation and its implication as diagnostic and prognostic tool in thyroid carcinoma
- To study the prevalence of *BRAF* mutation in poorly differentiated and tall cell variant of thyroid carcinoma
- Detection of *RET/PTC* and *PAX8-PPARy* rearrangements and their correlation with *BRAF* mutation and clinico-pathological parameters in thyroid carcinoma
- study the prevalence of *RET* (*Exon 10,11,13,14,16*) gene mutation in Medullary thyroid carcinoma
- study the prevalence of *NRAS*, *HRAS* and *KRAS* (*Exon 1, 2*) gene point mutation in thyroid cancer patients of Indian origin

Chapter 2

Prevalence of Point mutations in Follicular Cell Derived Thyroid Carcinomas

2.1 Activating Mutation in BRAF Gene in Thyroid Carcinoma

2.1.1 Introduction:

2.1.1.1 Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma:

Papillary thyroid cancer (PTC) is the most common histological type of thyroid malignancy and the rising incidence of thyroid cancer is mainly attributed to the increased diagnosis of PTC, particularly the small PTC (*170, 171*) [Fig 2.1.1]. PTCs generally have a good prognosis after appropriate treatment including surgical procedure and radioiodine therapy (*172, 173*).



Fig 2.1.1: Increasing incidence of papillary thyroid carcinoma; Trends in different size of tumours [Source: Davies and Welch (175)]
However, the recurrence rate of differentiated thyroid cancer and death rate are now reported to be as high as 30%, and 8% respectively, at 30 years of follow-up, after initial treatment (*174, 175*). During the past decade, understanding of genetic alternations in thyroid cancer has rapidly expanded. These improvements in understanding the development of thyroid cancer have offered novel diagnostic tools and therapeutic strategies.

Similar to other cancer types, the progression and dedifferentiation of thyroid cancer involves a number of genetic alterations including two distinct molecular mechanisms: point mutation or chromosomal rearrangement (*176*). Most mutations in thyroid cancer involve the MAPK and PI3K–AKT signaling pathways. *BRAF* is a serine-threonine kinase that is translocated to the cell membrane after being bound and activated by *RAS*, which results in the phosphorylation and activation of mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) and other downstream targets of MAPK signaling pathway (*177, 178*). According to our present studies, *BRAF* mutation exclusively exists in PTC and PTC-derived anaplastic thyroid cancer (ATC). It has not been found in other histological types of thyroid cancer such as follicular thyroid cancer (FTC) and medullar thyroid cancer (MTC) (*83, 179*). The *BRAF* ^{V600} mutation [a valine to glutamic acid mutation at position 600] is found in more than 50% of all thyroid malignances (*180*). In our study, we focused on the association of *BRAF* mutation with clinic-pathological characteristics and potential use of the *BRAF* mutation as a diagnostic marker and therapeutic target of thyroid cancer.

2.1.1.2 BRAF V600E mutation related molecular events in PTC

The *BRAF* gene (official name: v-raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B1) encodes B type RAF protein, one of the components of MAP kinase pathway, as mentioned before. There are 3 isoforms of *RAF* serine-threonine kinase: *A RAF, B RAF,* and *C RAF (181)*. Although all the RAF isoforms have an ability of MEK activation, BRAF protein is the most effective MEK activator, characterized by different distribution & expression in various tissues (182).



Figure 2.1.2: (A) Ribbons diagram of Wild Type B-RAF kinase do-main. The positions of Asp593 and Phe594 of the DFG motif, Asn580 of the catalytic loop, and Glu585 are shown, DFG and APE motif in yellow, rest of activation segment and the N region are in red. N lobe is in magenta, C lobe in marine, and P loop in orange. Residues 600–611 of the activation loop are disordered (dashed lines). (B) Schematic of B-RAF primary structure, showing functional domains and position of 32 observed cancer associated mutants of B-RAF. [Source: PyMOL (http://www.pymol.org)]

BRAF is a regulated signal transduction serine-threonine kinase with 766 amino acids. As explained in Fig: 2.1.2, it consists of three conserved domains: CR1, a RAS –GTP binding

domain; CR2, a serine rich hinge region and a catalytic kinase domain, CR3, that activates the downstream proteins by phosphorylation (183, 184). There are 2 known loci for human *BRAF* gene; *BRAF1 – 7q34*, responsible for coding the functional product & *BRAF2 – Xq13*, it constitutes the inactive pseudo gene, of which the gene located on chromosome 7, is the most potent activator of the MAP kinase pathway (185) [Fig: 2.1.3].

The most common genetic alterations in PTCs include *BRAF* mutation, *RAS* mutation, and *RET/PTC* rearrangement, which are mainly involved in the *RAS/BRAF/MAPK* signal pathway. Interestingly, these molecular alterations are exclusive in PTC patients, suggesting that each of them alone is sufficient for malignant transformation of thyroid cells. *BRAF* ^{V600E} mutation strongly increases *BRAF* kinase activity by eliciting ERK1/2 phosphorylation which is 480 fold higher than wild type *BRAF* (*186*). The markedly increased ERK1/2 phosphorylation in *BRAF*^{V600E} mutation is mainly attributed to a negatively charged residue adjacent to the phosphorylation site at T598 and mimics phosphorylation at Thr598 and Ser601 residues (*82*).

Activation of MAPK pathway by *BRAF* ^{V600E} was believed to play a dominant role in the development and progression of thyroid cancer. Effectors of MAPK signaling pathway represent an early molecular event in PTC by regulating a number of genes related to cell proliferation, differentiation and survival. Gene expression analyses using DNA microarrays showed that different transcriptional profiles were associated with *BRAF*, *RET / PTC* and *RAS* mutation groups in human PTCs (*187*). The differential expression profiles between these genetic alternations may explain why *BRAF* mutation has more noticeable correlations with poor clinic-pathological features compared with *RET /PTC* and *RAS* mutation. The mutant *BRAF* can stimulate constitutive signaling which bypasses the need for extracellular growth factors. Subsequently phosphorylation of downstream MER1/2 and ERK1/2 leads to the expression of a number of specific genes involved in cell proliferation, differentiation,

proliferation, differential, survival, tumourigenesis, and even the microenvironment promoting the process of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (188). The mutant *BRAF/MAPK* pathway is illustrated in Figure 2.1.4.



Figure 2.1.3: MAPK signaling pathways in Thyroid. Growth factors (GF) induce receptortyrosine kinase (RTK) dimerization, resulting in phosphorylation of specific tyrosine residues within the cytoplasmic tail which activates *RAS* by catalyzing the replacement of GDP with GTP. *RAS* activates the kinase activity of *BRAF* and its downstream signaling cascade. *BRAF* phosphorylates the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) kinase (MEK), which phosphorylates and activates extracellular-signal-regulated kinase (ERK). Activated ERK migrates to the nucleus where it phosphorylates and activates various transcription factors that are involved in cell proliferation and differentiation, such as MYC and ELK1.

Thyroid follicular cells upon binding to TSH produce cyclic AMP (cAMP) which stimulates the protein kinase A (PKA). PKA in turn phosphorylates cytoplasmic and nuclear target proteins.

(Source: Nature Reviews- Cancer, Vol. 6, April 2006)

It has been demonstrated that methylation of several tumour suppressor genes including tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase3 (TIMP3), SLC5A8, death associated protein kinase

(DAPK), and retinoic acid receptor b2 (RARb2) was closely associated with *BRAF* mutation in PTC (*154*). The silencing of these tumour suppressor genes represented an important molecular mechanism in *BRAF* mutation induced progression and invasiveness of PTC. Another study showed that PTCs harbouring *BRAF* mutation were significantly associated with the expression of both MMP2 and MMP9, which was associated with a higher more frequency of extra-thyroidal invasion with respect to MMP negative PTCs (*189*). The process of absorption and accumulation of radioiodine relies on the sodium iodide symporter (NIS) in the basal membrane that transports iodide into the cells from the blood stream. Impairment of NIS expression and other iodide metabolizing genes including TPO, TG, and pendrin was found to be associated with *BRAF* mutation in PTCs (*190*). One explanation may be that the gene silencing by methylation regulated by *BRAF* mutation, which resulted into loss of radioiodine sensitivity and increased aggressiveness of PTC.

2.1.1.3 Association of BRAF mutation with clinic-pathological characteristics of PTC

BRAF^{*V600E*} mutation in thyroid cancer has been proved to be associated with high risk clinicpathological characteristics, tumour recurrence and reduced sensitivity of radioiodine therapy. Conventional factors that demonstrate the high risk clinic-pathological characteristics included increased age, male gender, larger tumour size, extra-thyroidal invasion, local lymph node metastasis, distant metastasis, and advanced disease stages. Recent studies have shown significant correlations of *BRAF* mutation with the reliable prognostic predictors such as extra-thyroidal invasion, lymph nodal metastasis, and advanced TNM stage (*191, 192*). A meta-analysis revealed that PTC patients harbouring *BRAF*^{*V600E*} mutation achieved a 1.5 to 2.1fold increase in extra-thyroidal extension, lymph node metastasis, and advanced TNM stages compared with those holding wildtype *BRAF* (*193*). However, a number of studies have also demonstrated that there was no significant association between *BRAF* mutation and poor clinic-pathological factors (*194, 195*).



Fig 2.1.4: Normal *BRAF* is activated by interaction with *RAS*. In *BRAF*^{V600E} mutation proteins have high unregulated kinase activity that impels cell proliferation and tumour growth. (Source: http://www.biosb.com/braf)

The association of *BRAF* mutation with PTC recurrence was displayed in a majority of the studies including multivariate analysis with adjustment for all the known prognostic factors, even in patients with early tumour stages I and II (191, 196, 197). However, a recently a study suggested that $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation was not associated with the recurrence of PTC after initial treatment with total thyroidectomy and radioiodine remnant ablation (198, 196). The rather aggressive initial treatment in this study may have contributed to the absence of significant recurrence in patients with *BRAF* mutation. It has also been indicated in yet another study that *BRAF* ^{V600E} mutation correlated strongly with radioiodine resistance in PTC patients due to the reduced expression of Sodium Iodide Symporter and lost capacity for iodine uptake (199). However, the impairment of iodide metabolism in PTC patients

harbouring *BRAF* mutation can be compensated by carrying out radioiodine ablation therapy with an aggressive dose.

2.1.1.5 Detection of *BRAF*^{V600E} mutation as a molecular marker in thyroid cancer

Diagnosis by fine needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB), the gold standard for preoperative evaluation of thyroid lesions, has recently been used in conjunction with molecular tests to improve the accuracy of diagnosis from cytology and has been used in 15 - 20% of thyroid nodules with indeterminate outcomes on FNABs (200). It is feasible to look for molecular markers including *BRAF*, *RAS*, *RET/PTC* and PAX8/PPAR γ , which may be helpful to increase the diagnostic accuracy with FNAB (201, 202).

BRAF mutational analysis, in particular, has improved the sensitivity of diagnosis of PTC in FNAB specimens is well documented (203). It has been proposed that preoperative knowledge of *BRAF* mutation of the thyroid nodules may help surgeons make proper decision regarding the extent of operation, such as subtotal thyroidectomy versus total thyroidectomy, and neck dissection versus no neck dissection. Hence, appropriate surgical plan before surgery may seem to be possible especially for patients at early stages and reduce the postoperative complications accordingly. Compared with clinico-pathological evaluation using traditional indicators, testing of *BRAF* mutation seems to be more useful to identify the risk of tumour recurrence (191,204).

2.1.1.6 Targeting BRAF signaling pathway as therapeutic target to treat thyroid cancer

Several molecule inhibitors of *BRAF* have been developed including Sorafenib, PLX4032, RAF265, PLX4720, and XL281 with different selectivity (205). Indeed, encouraging results with the *BRAF* inhibitors Sorafenib and PLX4032 were recently reported in clinical trials with malignant melanoma which has a high prevalence of *BRAF* mutations. These drugs showed markedly inhibition of cell proliferation, survival, motility, and invasion *in vivo* and

in vitro. PLX4032, a compound which selectively targets *BRAF* ^{*V600E*}, can effectively inhibit the proliferation of PTC cell lines bearing *BRAF* mutation (*206, 207*). However, incomplete inhibition of ERK activation by PLX4032 was also revealed in comparison with the MEK inhibitor PD0325901 which completely inhibited ERK activation. The disabled feedback mechanisms and wildtype *BRAF* proteins may contribute to the incomplete inhibition of ERK activation of ERK activation for the the term of t

Although increasing clinical trials using these selective pathway inhibitors have shown promising results in patients with tumours harbouring $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutations, acquired resistance to these agents is an emerging problem. The clinical effectiveness and safety of the inhibitors tested was generally limited, raising the question on the effectiveness of inhibiting only the MAPK pathway to target resistant and aggressive tumours with *BRAF* mutations.

2.1.2 Aims and Objectives:

From the above information it is apparent that sporadic point mutations in BRAF protooncogene in several human cancers, including thyroid carcinoma, results in constitutive activation of downstream MAP kinase pathway. Most prevalent among them is the transversion mutation that occurs at nucleotide position 1799 of *BRAF* gene, resulting in a valine to glutamic acid substitution at residue 600 (*BRAF*^{V600E}) (180, 209).

Several studies have been carried out to see if a correlation exists between $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation and clinico-pathological features of PTC. However, the results have been controversial. This may be due to the sample sizes, inclusion of different PTC variants in the study, and variations due to different geographic areas (194, 195, 210).

It is known that uncertain prevalence might bias the potential usefulness of *BRAF* mutation as a diagnostic and prognostic molecular marker for PTC (179, 204, 211). Hence, it is

mandatory to build up the knowledge of prevalence of *BRAF* mutation and it's relation with the clinical behavior of PTC in different cohorts from various geographical regions (209, 212).

The overall incidence of thyroid cancer in India is 34% with 80% of it being PTC (1). However the type and prevalence of the *BRAF* mutations in PTC patients remains so far unidentified in the Indian population (209, 212). Hence, the aim of the present study was to establish the prevalence of BARF^{V600E} mutation and to define association of this genetic alteration with clinico-pathological characteristics of PTC in Indian subcontinental population. For this purpose, 140 sporadic thyroid carcinoma patients with different histological variants were included in the study. The mutational analysis of the *BRAF* gene was performed by an assay based on MASA, Mutector assay, SSCP or by PCR and direct sequencing.

2.1.3 Materials and Methods:

2.1.3.1 Tumour Tissue Specimens:

Frozen thyroid tissues from thyroid cancer patients who had attended the clinic between 2002 and 2006 were retrieved from the Tissue Repository of Tata Memorial Hospital, Mumbai, India, for analysis of *BRAF* gene mutation at codon 600. A total of 140 specimens with adequate clinical and pathological information were retrospectively studied. Tissue specimens included 86 PTC, 14 FTC, 8 FTA, 16 MTC and 16 benign hyperplasias. Acquisition of the tissue specimens was approved by the Scientific Review Committee of Tata Memorial Hospital. Experiments were performed in accordance with regulations of the hospital's Human Ethics Committee. The clinical information was retrieved retrospectively from patients' medical records, pathology reports, and subsequent clinical visits. Histological diagnosis was reconfirmed by an experienced pathologist after hematoxylin and eosin staining of sections. Patients were staged using the tumour-node-metastases (TNM) system and classified according to the presence of extra-thyroidal extension, cervical nodes and distant metastases.

2.1.3.2 Cell Lines:

Five thyroid tumour cell lines were used in this study (Table 2.2.1). Follicular carcinoma (WRO), papillary carcinoma (NPA), and anaplastic carcinoma (ARO and FRO) cell lines were procured from Dr. Giorgio Stassi's laboratory ((Universita Degli Studi Di Palermo, Palermo, Italy) which had been originally developed by Dr. Guy J. F. Juillard at the University of California at Los Angeles. Medullary thyroid carcinoma cell line (TT) was received from National Centre for Cell Sciences (NCCS), Pune, India. All these thyroid carcinoma cell lines were grown in Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium (IMDM) containing 10% fetal calf serum at 37°C and 5% CO_2 (*179*).

2.1.3.3 Molecular Analysis:

2.1.3.3 A. Genomic DNA Extraction:

Nucleic acid extraction from frozen tissues, cell lines and normal peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNC) was carried out using QIAamp[®] DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Germany) with some modifications. All samples were subjected to digestion in digestion buffer (Tris HCl 100mM, EDTA 1mM, 1% SDS) containing 1mg/ml of proteinase K at 60°C for 12 hrs. Concentration of extracted DNA was quantified by measurement of OD at 260 nm in Nanodrop Reader (Nanodrop Technologies, ND1000, U.S.A).One hundred nanograms of genomic DNA was used as template for detection of mutation.

2.1.3.3 B. PCR Amplification:

Genomic DNA (100 ng) was used as template to amplify 215 bp fragment of *BRAF* gene exon 15. Sequences of the forward 5'TCATAATGCTTGCTCTGATAGGA3' and reverse 5'GGCCAAAATTTAATCAGTGGA3' primers were based on flanking introns (*179*). PCR

reaction was set with an initial denaturation of 3 min at 94°C followed by thirty five cycles where each cycle consisted of denaturation for 30 s at 94°C, annealing for 45 s at 55°C, extension for 45 s at 72°C and a final extension step for 10 min at 72°C. The NPA and ARO cell lines were used as positive controls for *BRAF* T1799A mutation, and WRO cell line and PBMNC were used as controls for wild type *BRAF* gene.

2.1.3.3 C. Sequencing:

BRAF gene exon 15 amplicons generated from tumour tissue, cell lines and PBMNCs were subjected to automated DNA sequencing in an ABI PRISM 37718 DNA Sequencer (ABI, USA). Each amplicon was sequenced in both directions using Big Dye Terminator Version.3.1 Cycle Sequencing kit (ABI, USA) and above mentioned forward and reverse primers respectively. All amplicons were cleaned by QIAquick gel extraction kit (Qiagen, Germany) before being used as template. Cycle sequencing reaction and PCR program was followed as per manufacturer's protocol. Sequences were compared by the BLAST program: <u>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST</u>.

2.1.3.3 D. Mutant allele specific amplification (MASA):

MASA was carried out with two forward primers, one complimentary to wild type sequence, and the other having mutant allele specific nucleotide base substitutions at the 3'end (5'TAG GTG ATT TTG GTC TAG CTA CAG T3' and 5'GGT GAT TTT GGT CTA GCT ACA AA 3') and the common reverse primer used earlier. Each primer was designed to amplify the wild type allele of *BRAF* T1799A and transversion mutation respectively (211). Amplification reactions were performed in a PTC1148 M J Thermal Cycler (MJ BioRad, U.S.A), following an initial denaturation of 2 min at 94°C and subsequent denaturation for 30 s at 94°C, annealing for 45 s at 52°C and extension for 45 s at 72°C for 35 cycles (40 cycles for negative samples for verification). Amplicons were separated on 2 % agarose gel and

visualized by ethidium bromide staining. All samples were examined twice for the conformation of *BRAF* mutation.

2.1.3.3 E. Single strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP):

Exon 15 amplicons of *BRAF* gene were diluted 1:1 in denaturing solution (0.25% Bromophenol blue and 95% formamide and 0.1M NaOH) before boiling for 3 min in boiling water bath and rapid chilling on ice to prevent reannealing of single strand products. Electrophoresis was carried out in the MacrokinS Electrophoresis Unit (Techno Source, India) with Fotodyne DNA Seq. System, Model 4200, USA, at 9°C, 120 V, 30 mA for 6 hrs. Gels were stained with silver nitrate (*213*).





2.1.3.3 F. MutectorTM Assay:

Mutector assay was also used to detect *BRAF* mutation at nucleotide position 1799. The Mutector assay is designed to detect point mutations of known DNA sequence variation. For this, a detection primer was used (provided in kit) which allows primer extension in cases of mutant amplicons and prevents primer extension for wild type template. If primer extension does not occur, labeled nucleotides are not incorporated, and a color reaction is not observed.

When the target base is mutated (e.g., $T \rightarrow A$ point mutation at *BRAF* T1799), primer extension continues and a strong color reaction is observed. The Mutector assay is highly sensitive and can detect as little as 1% of mutant DNA from a mixed sample. The assay was performed using 10 µL of PCR products (215 bp fragment) according to the manufacturer's instructions (TrimGen, Sparks, MD) (214). Positive and negative controls were used as mentioned for PCR analysis.

2.1.3.4 Statistical analysis:

Patients' clinico-pathological parameters and mutation status were tabulated using mean and frequency. Correlation between *BRAF* mutation and clinico-pathological parameters of the patients was determined by χ^2 test and non-parametric two-tailed Fisher test and multivariate logistic regression analysis. A univariate as well as multivariate analysis using logistic regression was performed to assess the effect of clinico-pathological variables on lymph node metastasis. All analyses were performed using Sigma Stat version 3.5. P< 0.05 was considered as statistically significant for two tails (*215*).

2.1.4 Results:

2.1.4.1 BRAF mutation in thyroid cancer cell lines:

Direct sequencing of exon 15 amplicons obtained from DNA of 5 human thyroid cancer cell line (Fig 2.1.6) was confirmatory for their respective genotypes. As seen in the electropherogram, NPA was homozygous for *BRAF* T1799A (V600E) mutation, while ARO

and FRO cell lines were heterozygous. This missense mutation was absent in WRO and TT cell lines which are homozygous for wild type allele. All these cell lines (Table 2.1.1) were used as controls for further experiments.



Figure 2.1.6: $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation in thyroid cancer cell lines as demonstrated by DNA sequencing. The sequences show the wild type BRAF gene in WRO & TT, homozygous BRAF mutation T1799A (V600E) in NPA and heterozygous BRAF mutation T1799A in ARO & FRO.

TABLE 2.1.1: <i>BRAF</i> ^{V6001}	² mutation in thyroid	carcinoma cell lines
---	----------------------------------	----------------------

Cell line	Туре	Metastasis	BRAF V600E
WRO	FTC	Yes	-
NPA	PTC	Unknown	+
ARO	ATC	Yes	+
FRO	ATC	Yes	+
TT	MTC	Unknown	_

2.1.4.2 *BRAF* mutation in thyroid tumour samples:

 $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation was determined primarily by MASA assay, Mutector assay, DNA sequencing and SSCP in 25 samples. Results obtained by all three techniques were

comparable. Mutation detected in all the positive samples by MASA (Fig 2.1.7) involved a T>A transversion at nucleotide 1799 (V600E) and was heterozygous as shown by DNA sequencing (Fig 2.1.8 B). Mutector assay (Fig 2.1.8 A) showed high sensitivity for the mutation and allowed quantitative detection of percent mutant in template DNA in samples (data not shown). However, it is however not cost effective for screening large number of samples by this method. Thus, MASAPCR which is specific, reproducible and also economic was found to be most suitable for screening all of the 140 tumours along with adjacent normal tissue. Fifty percent of all the samples were randomly selected for DNA sequencing. SSCP analysis (Fig 2.1.7) corroborated with the above findings but was found to be inconsistent among samples, since SSCP does not have the requisite sensitivity, when the mutated DNA content is low.

In summary, *BRAF* T1799A (V600E) mutation was found in 46 out of 86 PTC patients (53.4%) included in the study. Percent incidence of this mutation varied among pathological subtypes of PTC (Table 2.1.2). *BRAF* gene mutation was much more common in the conventional PTC (38 out of 62; 61.3%) than in the follicular variants of PTC (2 out of 17; 11.7%). None of the 54 non-PTC thyroid tumours including 8 FTA, 14 FTCs, 16 MTCs and 16 benign samples showed any mutation at this nucleotide position in exon 15. Also, normal thyroid tissue samples from the surroundings of *BRAF* mutation positive malignant thyroid areas showed no mutations of *BRAF* thereby suggesting that the mutations were somatically acquired.



Figure 2.1.7: *BRAF* mutation in Thyroid Tumours. (**A**) Mutant allele specific amplification (MASA) analysis of *BRAF* mutation. Genomic DNA extracted from tumour tissue was analyzed for *BRAF* mutation by MASAPCR as described in Materials and Methods. PCR products were analyzed in a 2% agarose gel. Genomic DNA extracted from WRO and ARO Thyroid cancer cell lines were used as negative and positive control respectively.(**B**) Single strand conformational polymorphism (SSCP) pattern in thyroid tumours showing WRO (*BRAF*T1799WT), ARO (*BRAF* T1799A Transversion mutation) and DNA samples from thyroid cancer patients. Samples P12 and P46 show wild type *BRAF* whereas samples P21 and P71 exhibit mutated *BRAF*. Notice the abnormal single strand and heteroduplex pattern in the mutated samples (arrows).

		$BRAF^{V600E}$			
Histology	Total	Positive		Negative	
		N	%	Ν	%
Papillary Carcinoma	86	46	53.4	40	46.6
Classical Variant	62	38	61.3	24	38.7
Poorly Differentiated (PDTC)	2	2	100	0	0
Foll. Var. of PTC (FVPTC)	17	2	11.7	15	88.2
Tall Cell Variant	3	3	100	0	
Hurthle Cell Carcinoma (HCC)	1	1		0	
Diffuse Sclerosing variant	1	0		1	
Follicular Carcinoma	14	0		14	
Follicular Adenoma	8	0		8	
Medullary Carcinoma	16	0		16	
Benign hyperplasia	16	0		16	

Table 2.1.2: Prevalence of *BRAF*^{V600E} mutation in 140 thyroid neoplasia patients

2.1.4.3 Correlation with clinico-pathological parameters:

The association between *BRAF* mutation and various clinico-pathological parameters were assessed in 86 patients with PTC (Table2.1. 3). By univariate analysis, *BRAF* mutation status showed significant association with conventional type of PTC (P<0.011), TNM Stage (P<0.005), extra-thyroidal extension (P<0.005) and lymph node metastasis (P<0.005). There was no significant correlation between *BRAF* mutation and sex, age or tumour size at diagnosis. A multivariate analysis was performed with the same clinico-pathological parameters. Only extra-thyroidal extension (odds ratio = 9.1; 95% confidence interval, 2.75–30.4, P<0.005) and lymph node metastasis (odds ratio = 3.5; 95% confidence interval, 1.12–11, P<0.031) were correlated with *BRAF* mutation with and without stepwise multiple logistic regression method.

All the tumours were divided into morphological subtypes, wherein conventional (classical) variant of PTC was the largest group. Correlation of *BRAF* mutation with the same parameters was sought within this group. However, no significant correlation was found either by univariate or by multivariate analysis.

To understand the prognostic significance of clinico-pathologic factors in determining lymph node metastasis, linear and multiple regression analyses were performed. In univariate analysis, tumour size, tumour stage, ETE and *BRAF* mutation were significant predictive factors for lymph node metastasis (Table 4). But in multivariate analysis tumour stage and *BRAF* mutation were the only significant prognostic factor for lymph node metastasis (odds ratio = 12.2; 95% confidence interval, 4.1–35.6, P < 0.001; and odds ratio = 4.9; 95% confidence interval, 1.5–15.5, P < 0.006; respectively) (Table 2.1.4).

In summary, our results predict that *BRAF* gene mutation of PTC is correlated with lymph node metastasis and ETE by both univariate and multivariate analysis; but it is not an independent risk indicator within the classical subtype, as observed by other investigators. Tumour stage and *BRAF* gene mutation were the only significant prognostic factors for lymph node metastasis in PTC. However, *BRAF* mutation status is not independent from PTC subtypes in predicting extra-thyroid extension and lymph node metastasis (215).



Figure 2.1.8: *BRAF* mutation in Thyroid Tumours. (**A**) Results of Mutector assay by *BRAF* codon 600 mutations detection kit; TrimGen®, Sparks, MD. Wells with color reaction (*green*) represent samples positive for T1799A *BRAF* mutation. (NTC) is no template control, (NPA) the Papillary thyroid cancer cell line served as the positive control and (WRO) the Follicular thyroid cancer cell line served as the negative control. The representative positive and negative thyroid tumour samples were P#21, P#71, and P#46, respectively. (**B**) The corresponding sequence chromatographs of tumour P#21,tumour P#71 and NPA, with *BRAF* T1799A mutation and normal tissue P#21, P#71 and WRO with wild type *BRAF* T1799.

	$BRAF^{V600E}$				χ^2 test	Mult	Multivariate Analysis		
	Posi	tive Negative		P €	P Odds ratio(95%CI)				
	n [†]	%	n	%					
Tumour Stage (PTC)					< 0.005	0.381	1.4 (0.613.5)		
ΤI	2/18	11.1	16	88.9					
TII	10/22	45.4	12	54.6					
T IIIIV	34/46	73.9	12	26.1					
Gender (PTC)					< 0.65	0.073	0.31(0.081.1)		
Male	16/32	50.0	16	50.0					
Female	30/54	55.5	24	44.5					
Age(PTC)					< 0.085	0.11	2.6 (0.88.5)		
\geq 45 yr	24/38	63.1	14	36.8					
<45 yr	21/48	43.7	27	56.2					
Node Metastasis					< 0.005	0.031	3.5 (1.111.4)		
(PTC)									
Yes	35/47	74.4	12	25.6					
No	11/39	28.2	28	71.8					
Tumour size (mm)					< 0.068	0.94	0.96 (0.352.6)		
range, mean \pm SD	3/12	25.0	9	75.0					
<10 mm	32/52	61.5	20	38.5					
10–40 mm	11/22	50.0	11	50.5					
>40 mm									
Distant Metastasis	2/3	66.6	1	33.4					
Extra-thyroidal					< 0.005	< 0.005	9.1 (2.730.4)		
Extension									
Yes	33/41	80.5	8	19.5					
No	13/45	28.9	32	72.1					
Tumour Type					0.011	0.098	3.1 (0.8212.2)		
Conventional	40/65	61.5	25	38.4					
NonConventional	6/21	28.5	15	7.1					

TABLE 2.1.3: Correlation between $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation and clinico-pathologicalparameters in papillary thyroid carcinoma

^{ε}Clinico-pathological parameters are compared by $\chi 2$ test

[†] Data are presented as no./total no. of patients, with percentages in parentheses

*Age and Tumour size were assessed as continuous variables

2.1.4.4 Pathological findings:

Among the 86 heterogeneous entities of PTC, the conventional subtype was found to predominate over other types. In general, *BRAF* mutation status was associated with certain clinical features like: older patients, larger tumours, solid tumours, higher rate of node metastasis and extra-thyroidal extension (ETE). The presence of *BRAF* mutation also correlated well with pathologic features like papillary patterns, characteristic nuclear features, intra-thyroidal invasion, sclerotic stroma etc. It was seen more commonly in conventional types and all cases of tall cell variants (3/3). *BRAF* negative finding was associated more frequently with younger patients, smaller tumours, cystic tumours, lower rate of lymph node metastasis, ETE, nonpapillary patterns like follicular and solid pattern circumscribed border, subtle nuclear features and lack of sclerotic stroma. This group included mainly FVPTC and other tumour types.

Both the cases of poorly differentiated thyroid carcinoma (PDTC), we found, were of large cell type. Both patients were male. On histological examination, the tumour showed areas of PTC with vacant nuclei and nuclear grooves (Fig. 2.1.9). *BRAF* mutation was present in both patients, indicating the progression of PTC towards PDTC.

In the three cases with distant metastasis, all were having lymph node metastasis and ETE and one of them was PDTC. Two out of three distant metastasis patients were *BRAF* mutated as reported by others too (216).

However, in summarizing statistical analysis and morphological findings, our results indicate that *BRAF* mutational status, though associated strongly with distinct clinical, pathologic and biologic variables, it is not an independent prognostic indicator 'per se' in PTC. Morphologic typing appears to be essential as a prognostic indicator in PTC.



Figure 2.1.9: Pathological variants of PTC. (**A**) Conventional PTC with characteristic nuclear feature (**B**) FVPTC with circumscribed border (capsular) (**C**) Tall cell variant of PTC with compactly arranged papillae and dense eosinophilic cytoplasm (D) Poorly differentiated PTC with vacant nucleus and nuclear grooves (E) Hurthle cell carcinoma (F) Diffuse sclerosing variant of PTC (G) Lymph node metastasis in PTC (H) ETE with cystic changes in PTC

	Lymph Node Metastasis		Univa	ariate Analysis	Multivariate Analysis	
	Yes	No	Р	Odds Ratio	Р	Odds Ratio
Age*			0.81	1.1 (0.42.67)	0.22	0.97 (0.941.0)
Gender			0.82	1.1 (0.52.7)	0.72	1.2 (0.43.6)
Female	29	25				
Male	18	14				
Tumour Size*			0.037	1.3 (1.01.7)	0.50	1.3 (1.01.9)
TNM Stage			0.001	12.2 (4.135.6)	0.001	12.2 (4.135.6)
Ι	0	18				
П	1	21				
III & IV	46	0				
ETE			0.001	5.6 (2.114.3)	0.052	3.1 (0.999.8)
Yes	31	10				
No	16	29				
BRAF V600E			0.001	7.4 (2.819.3)	0.006	4.9 (1.515.5)
Positive	35	12				
Negative	11	28				

TABLE 2.1.4: Prognostic Factors for Lymph Node Metastasis

^{*} Age and Tumour size were assessed as continuous variables for both univariate and multivariate analysis

2.1.5 Discussion:

Since the initial discovery of *BRAF* mutation in human cancers (209), there have been more than 40 mutations identified in the *BRAF* gene. Amongst these mutations the T1799A point mutation is the most common and accounts for more than 90% of all the mutations found in the *BRAF* gene (217).

 $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation was reported in thyroid carcinoma initially by Kimura et al. 2003 (179) and since then significant progress has been made in understanding its tumourigenic role and clinical importance in this disease (210, 218). It has been shown that BRAF plays critical role

as intermediate of ERK phosphorylation in MAPK pathway. This pathway acts in parallel with TSH receptor cAMP-PKA-CREB pathway for subsequent cellular proliferation and differentiation (55). There is a crosstalk between these two pathways, either agonistic or antagonistic, depending on the cell type (219).

This activating mutation has been specifically reported in PTC with a frequency ranging from 29–83% in several thyroid tumour cohorts depending on the epidemiological factors, heterogeneity of the histological variants, or the age group analyzed (220, 221). Recently Mathur et al. have reported a much higher rate (88%) of *BRAF* mutation in PTC which increased significantly over a 15 year period at the authors' institution (216). The findings suggested that a higher rate of *BRAF* mutation in papillary thyroid cancer may contribute to the increasing incidence of thyroid cancer. Xing et al. 2005 have shown that this mutation is associated with a poorer clinico-pathological outcome and is a novel independent molecular prognostic marker in the risk evaluation of thyroid cancer (191).

In Mumbai, 3-4% of the cancer patients are reported to suffer from thyroid neoplasia (1). To the best of our knowledge there is no published data on the prevalence of *BRAF* mutation in thyroid cancer in patients from the Indian sub continent.. In the present study, we report the frequency of occurrence of *BRAF* mutation in sporadic PTCs, mainly in the classic variant of PTC, for the first time in our patients and confirm that this mutation is strongly associated with the papillary growth pattern.

In the present study, 140 patients of thyroid carcinoma were included from different parts of the country. $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation was found in 46 out of 86 PTC patients (53.4%), in comparison with observations from other Asian countries, Japan 36 %, Taiwan 46.6 % and Ukraine 22.9 % as quoted by Fugazzola et al. (222). We did not find the concerned mutation in the adjacent normal thyroid tissues of those patients with $BRAF^{V600E}$ positive tumour samples, which is suggestive of its somatic origin (204, 209).

The distribution of *BRAF* mutation in PTC showed a clear subtype related pattern. We found the significant prevalence of *BRAF* mutation in classical PTC (64%).Whereas in follicular variant of PTC (FVPTC) only 11% harboured *BRAF* mutation. This percentage of prevalence correlated well with the average prevalence of 60% and 12% incidence of *BRAF* in classical PTC and FVPTC as observed from the nine reports summarized in the review by Xing M, (*83*). Also, all the tall cell variants, which were more aggressive in nature, harboured *BRAF* mutation as expected (*83*, *223*).

In our study, both the poorly differentiated carcinoma (PDTC) samples with large cell component were positive for $BRAF^{V600E}$. The tumours contained areas of PTC with vacant nuclei and nuclear grooves. Similar finding were reported by Nikiforova et.al, 2003 and Soares et al. 2004 (224, 225). According to our observation two out of three distant metastasis cases were harbouring *BRAF* mutation with one of them being PDTC. In the study reported by Fugazzola et.al, none of the 10 poorly differentiated tumours were positive for *BRAF* mutation, indicating the absence of *BRAF* mutation in PDTC when not associated with a well differentiated component; which is in contrary to our observation (216). Our finding is also supported by authors who have reported *BRAF* mutations only in PTC and PTC derived anaplastic or poorly differentiated tumours. The possibility that *BRAF* mutation reduces the risk of tumour progression was a matter of debate a decade ago (224, 225), which as suggested by Puxeddu et al. 2004, it might be related to differences in cancer selection or to the low number of cases studied in each tumour cohort, due to unavailability of samples (226). However, presently, the role of BRAF in tumourigenesis is accepted (189).

As far as the correlation of *BRAF* mutation and clinical features of PTC patients are concerned, we did not find significant correlation between *BRAF* mutation and gender, age, tumour size at diagnosis. Whereas we found significant correlation of *BRAF* mutation with nodal metastasis (p <0.005), extra thyroidal invasion (p <0.005) and tumour stage (p <0.005) which is in agreement with the observation reported by Frasca et al. 2008 in a series of 323 PTC patients indicating that the presence of BRAF mutation in PTC is associated with aggressive tumour behavior (189). In the multivariate analysis, BRAF mutation correlated only with ETE and lymph node metastasis. In another study on 500 cases of PTC in a homogenous Italian cohort from a single institution Lupi et al. demonstrated a strong association of BRAF mutation with extra-thyroidal invasion, lymph node metastasis and advanced tumour stages (227). However, we could find no correlation of BRAF with any of these clinico-pathological parameters, when performed within the classical or follicular subtype of PTC. In our consecutive series of 86 patients, tumour stage was another prognostic factor, other than BRAF mutation, for lymph node metastasis. Similar to our finding, one large scale study on 410 PTC patients reported by Cheng S et al. indicated that BRAF mutation cannot be considered as independent risk determinant within a particular subtypes PTC (215). Hence, this association is still controversial as it is observed in some studies, but not in other studies. Different factors such as number of study subjects in a cohort, different recruitment and follow up procedures, tumour classification may have been contributing factors towards making many of these studies inconclusive (218). Our results predict that BRAF gene mutation of PTC is correlated with lymph node metastasis and ETE by both univariate and multivariate analysis; but it is not an independent risk indicator within the classical subtype.

We have not included studies on other genetic alterations such as RET/PTC and RAS in this context, but done subsequently to study translocation and rearrangements, and is the subject of a later Chapter in the Thesis. However it has been reported that $BRAF^{V600E}$ occurs mutually exclusively and its activation may be responsible for progression to classic PTC (179, 223, 227, 228). According to our study all the PDTC, Hurthle cell, tall cell variant, and most of the distant metastatic patients were BRAF positive, which suggests that this mutation may be

involved in thyroid cancer progression to poorly differentiated and aggressive phenotypes also as reported by Michels et al. (229). The results from the transgenic mouse studies also revealed that *BRAF* mutation initiated development of PTC and its transition to anaplastic thyroid cancer (230). Consistent with other observations, we did not find any patient with FTC, FTA, MTC or benign hyperplasia, positive for *BRAF* mutation (216, 224).

In conclusion, this study undertaken to determine the prevalence of $BRAF^{V600E}$ in the thyroid cancer patients from the Indian population and the clinico-pathological parameters associated with the cancer. We found 53% of PTCs harboured *BRAF* mutation which is as expected and concurs with literature reports ranging from (29 – 83%). This genetic event is predominantly associated with the classic variant of PTC also in Indian subjects and correlated significantly with aggressive features among all the clinico-pathological parameters that we studied. However, statistical analysis and morphological findings, in combination suggests that *BRAF* is not an independent prognostic indicator 'per se' in PTC.

Thus our findings, along with those reported in the literature; suggest that morphologic typing in combination with *BRAF* mutation status appears to be better prognostic indicator in PTC. Relevantly, considering that the prevalence is >50% in the Indian cohort, *BRAF* gene can be a promising target for small molecular inhibitors for better prognosis of radioiodine refractory thyroid carcinoma patients, which is also reported by King et al. (231).

2.2 BRAF Mutation in Tall Cell Variant of Thyroid Carcinoma

2.2.1 Introduction:

2.2.1.2 Tall cell Variant of Papillary Thyroid CA:

Within papillary thyroid carcinoma, numerous histopathological subtypes have been described. Among them, follicular, macro-follicular, Pseudo-Warthin, clear cell have an indolent course and better prognosis (232). Though there is some controversy between tumour morphology and prognosis, subtypes like tall cell variant (TCV) and columnar cell variant have been associated with more aggressive clinical course. Hence, at present there are endeavors to clearly define the correlation between prognostic characteristics and histological subtypes of thyroid carcinoma.

Table 2.2.1: Proposed Criteria for the Diagnosis of PTC TCV

•	Tumour	composed	of 50%	tall cells
---	--------	----------	--------	------------

- Tall cell height at least twice its width
- Eosinophilic tall cell cytoplasm
- Nuclear features characteristic of PTC

TCV was first described in 1976 by Hawk et al. (232). Reported incidence of TCV range from 4% to 17% of total PTC cases (233). It is generally characterized by abundant eosinophilic cytoplasm, numerous papillae, classical nuclear pattern of PTC and height at least twice or thrice their width (229).

Diagnosis of TCV is quite challenging (Table 2.2.1) (52, 234-236). Their nuclear stratification and exaggerated intranuclear inclusions are often noted (Fig: 2.2.1). TCV has also a low nuclear cytoplasmic ratio and an eosinophilic granular cytoplasm due to an abundance of mitochondria demonstrated (Fig 2.2.1) (237). Although many classical PTC

have some tall cells, a significant proportion of the tumour needs to be composed of tall cells to label the carcinoma as TCV. Unfortunately, there is disagreement with regard to the threshold needed to classify a tumour as TCV. Indeed, the cutoff values range from 30% to 70% according to different publications (233, 235, 238). Probably due to these facts, only 2 (1.4%) of 140 patients studied in our population could be classified as TCV.

Mutations in *BRAF* proto-oncogene and its close association of *BRAF*^{V600E} with extrathyroidal extension and lymph node metastasis in papillary thyroid carcinoma has been discussed in previous chapter and reported by others (239). Our findings have also been published (240). Though yet unclear, there may be a correlation between the aggressiveness of TCV and *BRAF* gene mutation (84, 241). There are literature reports on the presence of a rare *BRAF* mutation (*BRAF* 1582M) in classical PTC histology leads to the replacement of amino acid isoleucine to methionine (242). However, there are no available reports of this mutation in TCV.

Influence of *RET-PTC* rearrangement and *PAX8-PPAR* γ translocation, which play a critical role in the oncogenic transformation of classical and follicular variant of PTC, are also equivocal in TCV patients (*189*). Studies on different ethnic populations of the world indicate elevated expression of MUC1, Cyclin D1, Galectin 3, HBME 1, Cytokeratin 19 in PTC patients at the transcriptional and translational level as reported by Cheng et al., using high throughput proteomic analysis (*243*).

Among the two patients with TCV, one was a female patient who had recurrences more than 14 times and will be documented as a case repot considering BRAF and other genetic markers. In this patient, we have investigated the close relationship between these prognostic and diagnostic markers in TCV of PTC in the context of multiple recurrences. This study shows the need for studying more cases to understand the association of these markers with this rare histotype.



Fig 2.2.1: Example of Tall cell variant (TCV) of papillary carcinoma. Note the abundance of granular acidophilic cytoplasm with oncocyte like features. (Source: Cheng Z. Liu, et.al April 30, 2003 University of Oklahoma Health Science Center)

2.2.2 Case report: *BRAF* ^{V600E} Mutation Along with a Rare *BRAF* ^{1582M} Mutation Documented in Tall Cell Variant of Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma with Multiple Recurrences

A 46 year old female with a clinical diagnosis of papillary thyroid carcinoma had undergone near total thyroidectomy ten years previously. Macroscopic examination of the specimen showed a 33gm gland with the left lobe measuring 5.2 x 2.3 x 3.3 cm and the right lobe measuring 5.5 x 2.5 x 2.3 cm. Within three months of the first surgery, a second operation was carried out to remove the growth over the tracheal surface. Histopathological examination proved this to be metastatic lymph node of PTC. Five years after this surgery there was a development of large palpable mass on the thyroid bed. Excision biopsy of the mass was suggestive of metastatic deposits of papillary carcinoma of thyroid in lymph nodes. In view of already two surgeries undertaken previously to remove nodal recurrences, she was considered for empirical radioiodine therapy and was treated with 155 mCi ¹³¹I. There was minimal response and, hence, was undertaken for the neck dissection for the recurrent mass (Fig 2.2.3). Histopathology denoted the presence of soft tissue of PTC with left side neck node metastasis. A distinct tall cell pattern was observed for the first time in the course of this malignancy from initial diagnosis. Two years following this, another recurrence was detected, necessitating the surgical removal of left sided cervical lymph node. It was found to be metastatic PTC of tall cell pattern. Subsequently, she presented with neck nodal recurrences over six years, which necessitated surgical removal. None of the times, there was any radioiodine concentration observed in the tumour recurrences and, hence, ¹³¹I therapy was not administered. Whole body survey with [¹⁸F]FDG-PET had shown relatively avid uptake in the neck recurrences as can be expected in this case (Fig 2.2.4); on the last occasion the standardized uptake value (SUVmax) calculated was 10.3. Interestingly, distant metastases were not documented in the previous FDG-PET studies. The thyroglobulin values were elevated during each of the recurrences and ranged from 23 ng/ml to 340 ng/ml.

Following the last surgery, the patient was also treated with external radiotherapy to the neck in view of multiple recurrences. Very recently, she presented with elevated Tg (24ng/ml). Latest FDG PET-CT study revealed multiple FDG avid nodules in both the lungs with largest nodule documented as 1.7mm (SUV max 38.1).



Fig 2.2.2: *BRAF* mutation in Thyroid Tumours. (A) Sequence chromatograph of tumour showing heterozygous *BRAF* T1799A mutation. Genomic DNA extracted from tumour tissue was amplified for *BRAF* Exon 15 and analyzed for *BRAF* mutation by dideoxy sequencing. (B) *BRAF* I582M point mutation observed in the same tissue specimen. (C) **Real time PCR:** The graph shows relative mRNA expression corrected for total mRNA using the housekeeping β actin gene. Two fold increase on MUC1 level in metastatic carcinoma tissue with respect to adjacent normal tissue. (D) Semiquantitative RT PCR: *muc1* gene (upper) expressing in negative control (normal tissue), positive control (ARO cell line) and Thyroid tumour tissue with their respective β Actin genes (lower). (E) and (F) Real time PCR: The diagrams show that there were no significant difference in relative mRNA expression of BCL2 and BCL XL gene in metastatic carcinoma tissue with respect to adjacent normal tissue (upper) was identical in both normal tissue and tumour tissue with respective β Actin level (upper) was identical in both normal tissue and tumour tissue with respective β Actin level (lower).



Fig 2.2.3: ¹³¹I Scan: High count neck and chest view of the I131 whole body scan during the last recurrence undertaken 72 hours after oral administration of 148 MBq I^{131} demonstrates no abnormal focus in the neck and chest, implying the palpable neck nodes are non iodine concentrating (a feature of dedifferentiation in the thyroid carcinoma).



Fig 2.2.4: FDGPET Scan: Whole body FDGPET (coronal slices) during the time of last recurrence) undertaken 60 minutes after injection of 370 MBq [18 F]FDG demonstrates multiple FDG avid neck nodes (SUVmax 10.3). The rest of the whole body survey was unremarkable.



Fig 2.2.5: H & E sections (200X): Tall cell variant of PTC. (A) Note compactly arranged finger like projections. The cells are tall with dense eosinophilic cytoplasm. Overlapping nuclei oriented along the longitudinal axis, with nuclear pseudoinclusion, are the characteristic features. (B) H&E section (400X) shows papillary projections covered by tall cells. Characteristic nuclear features are better appreciated in this figure.



Fig 2.2.6: Immunohistochemical detection of different tumour markers (200X): (A) Cyclin D1: Nuclear positivity in the tumour cells lining the papillae. (B) Galectin3: Nuclear and cytoplasmic positivity observed in tall cells (C) HBME1: Compactly arranged tumour cells show diffuse cytoplasmic and membrane positivity. (D) Cytokeratin19 shows a diffuse cytoplasmic positivity in tumour cells.

2.2.3 Pathological Finding in patient with TCV

The clinical information was retrieved from the patient's medical records. The histological diagnosis was made by two experienced pathologists with hematoxylin and eosin staining.

Completion thyroidectomy specimen showed a solid tumour in perithyroidal soft tissue. It showed papillary and festoon like pattern. At places, papillae were closely packed. The papillae were covered by single layer of tall columnar cells. The tall cell pattern was seen in 90 % of the tumour (Fig 2.2.5). Follicular pattern was totally absent. The height of the tumour cell was two to three times of the width. The characteristic nuclear features of papillary thyroid carcinoma were noted with occasional mitotic activity. The cytoplasm of tumour cells was dense eosinophilic and moderate in amount. The aggressive features like brisk mitotic activity, necrosis and nuclear pleomorphism were seen. Extensive hyalinization was noted. Spindle cell metaplasia was not seen. Psammomatous calcification was absent. Lymphovascular invasion of thyroid epithelial clump of cells were observed (Fig 2.2.6).

In the surgical specimen of recurrence in 2010, the right paratracheal nodes and left paracarotid nodes showed metastasis of papillary thyroid carcinoma with tall cell morphology. Cystic change was observed in the metastatic node. Extranodal extension was also noted. Immunohistochemical markers viz Cyclin D1, Galectin 3, HBME 1, Cytokeratin 19 were unregulated in the recurrent metastatic specimen of the patient. Whereas, P27 and ERB β protein levels were insignificant in the tumor specimen (Fig 2.2.6).

2.2.4 Genetic analysis

To study the genetic alteration, genomic DNA extraction and PCR amplification of BRAF exon 15 was performed as described in Section 2.1 and as described elsewhere (*189, 240, 244*). PCR products were sequenced in both forward and reverse directions. PCR reactions in 25µl of final volume were performed as per manufacturer's instructions. Sequences were performed by dideoxy sequencing method using Big-Die Terminator Vre.3.1 kit in ABI Prism 377-18 gel running Sequencer; U.S.A. Sequences were compared by the BLAST program: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST revealing *BRAF* ^{V600E} and *BRAF* ^{1582M} mutations in exon 15 of *BRAF* gene.

Total RNA from tissue was isolated using method described in Chapter 3.1. cDNA isolated from tumour and adjacent normal tissue of the patient were analyzed with MUC1, BCL2and BCL XL specific primers in Quantitative Real time PCR (Stratagene, USA) using SYBR Green master Mix (CAT # 600548, Stratagene, La Jolla, Ca, USA). The expression of MUC1 gene at the transcriptional level in both normal and cancerous tissue was normalized with their respective β -Actin by 2^{$\Delta\Delta$ ct} method (245, 246). Neoplastic tissue showed two fold increases in expression of MUC1 gene in comparison to the normal tissue. Although, the transcript levels of anti-apoptotic gene BCL2 and BCL XL and post translational modification of P53 were similar in tumor tissue compared to normal. (Fig. 2.2.2)

2.2.5 Discussion

PTC accounts for 80-90% of thyroid cancer making it the most frequent follicular cell derived malignancy (247). This is the eighth most common malignancy in women (constituting 3% of all cancers in women) (189). Among the different histotypes of PTC, the tall cell variant is reportedly more aggressive and associated with a less favorable outcome. It shows a high propensity to metastasize in regional lymph nodes as is consistent with our patient and also as reported by others (229, 232). In one report, Adeniran et.al correlated the aggressive behavior of TCV with constitutive activation of MAPK pathway protein B-type Raf kinase (BRAF) (241, 244). The T1799A (exon 15) transversion mutation of BRAF, initially reported in thyroid carcinoma by Davies H et al (209), has been described to occur in 30-60 % of thyroid malignancy. It has been shown that BRAF plays a critical role as an intermediate in the cAMP induced activation of MEK1 and the extracellular signal regulated kinases in thyrocytes. It has been hypothesized that presence of this oncogenic mutation in PTC would be associated with aggressive disease and unfavorable clinical outcome (239,248). BRAF mutation is more prevalent in TCV and possibly responsible for frequent ETE and nodal metastasis. Among 33 mutations reported to occur in BRAF gene, some
mutations like T1746C (I582M) as found in this patient are very rare (Fig 2.2.2). According to Dixit et.al, energy landscape analysis has revealed that mutation has a neutral role in kinase activity and allosteric regulation of BRAF protein (249). In this patient, all the metastatic tissue specimens collected at different times as the disease progressed, showed BRAF V600E mutation (Fig. 2.2.2). According to literature, the presence of BRAF mutation not only increases the risk of lymph node metastasis or difficulty of treatment but also regional nodal relapse. This clearly indicates that persistent presence of constitutively expressing BRAF may have a role in multiple recurrences (248).

Our study also revealed that multiple tumour aggressiveness determination markers were overexpressed in this case. Mucin 1 or polymorphic epithelial mucin (PEM), which is a mucin encoded by the *MUC1* gene in humans, is up regulated at the transcriptional level in the said patient's tumour sample (Fig 2.2.2 C, D). As reported in 2005 by Kapel N et.al over expression of MUC1 glycoprotein "is a key molecular event in pathogenesis of aggressive TC". The heavy glycosylation in the MUC1 prevents the entry of therapeutic agents, access to anti-tumour immune response and augments the accumulation of growth factors (246).

Immunohistochemical analysis of the metastatic tissue sample showed the diffused expression of all the thyroid malignancy specific protein markers (CK19, Cyclin D1, Galectin 3, HBME1) (Fig 2.2.6). Cyclin D1, a cell cycle regulatory protein necessary for Cyclin-CDK complex formation, is reported to be elevated in 60% PTC. Deregulated expression of Cyclin D1 is a key player in molecular mechanism of thyroid carcinogenesis (250,251). The lectin family tumour marker Galectin-3 which is also overexpressed in this patient has a broad biological functionality including cell activation, chemo attraction and carcinogenesis (252, 253). HBME-1 is a valuable marker of follicular variant of thyroid carcinoma and was also found to be overexpressed in this patient. Keratin family tumour marker Cytokeratin 19 which was overexpressed in the tumour tissue is responsible for the structural integrity and

proliferation of epithelial cells (253, 254). All these cell adhesion and cell cycle regulatory proteins are reportedly helpful for differential diagnosis of endocrine malignancy. A combined analysis of these markers that indicate diffuse expression pattern and intense cellular positivity may provide a better prediction for poor prognosis of thyroid cancer. In the clinical practice of thyroid oncology, FDG-PET is now considered an important modality in investigating patients with high Tg and no abnormal iodine concentration in whole body radioiodine scan. The valuable diagnostic role of FDG-PET has been emphasized in the literature including revealing second primary in this group of patients (255, 256). In addition to the detection of site of recurrence that can account for raised Tg level, there is now increasing evidence that FDG-PET can predict tumour biology. FDG avid disease is also associated with tumour aggressiveness and relative resistance to radioiodine therapy even in patients of differentiated thyroid carcinoma who demonstrate radioiodine concentration (257, 258). It is logical to hypothesize that the aggressiveness of the disease in terms of clinical behavior could be related with the genetic mutation that is associated with aggressive features in DTC. The present finding in this challenging case also supports this. We thus propose a relation between the BRAF genetic mutation in these lesions and their in vivo imaging and histological features as observed in the present case study (255-259). We believe the findings observed in our patient require to be examined in future patients with a similar history and, if proven would open up further research with BRAF specific therapies (e.g. BAY 43-9006, AMG 706, Vemurafenib) in this group of patients.

2.3 Sporadic Point mutations of RAS proto-oncogenes

2.3.1 Introduction

2.3.1.1 RAS Isoforms:

A family of genes that is frequently found to harbour a mutation in human tumours is that of the *RAS* genes (260, 261). This family consists of three functional genes, *HRAS*, *KRAS*, and *NRAS*, which encode highly similar proteins with molecular weights of 21,000 (Fig.2.3.1) (262). Mutated *RAS* genes were first identified by their ability to transform NIH/3T3 cells after DNA transfection. Subsequent analysis of a variety of tumour samples revealed that one of the three *RAS* genes harboured a point mutation in part of the human tumours; as a result, the protein product has an altered amino acid at one of the critical positions 12, 13, and 61 (263, 264).



Fig 2.3.1: Schematic Representation of the *RAS* Isoforms The structures of the G domain of *HRAS*, *NRAS*, and *KRAS* have been solved and are virtually identical, but the structure of processed hypervariable regions have not been solved and are, therefore, depicted as a linear sequence. Lipid modifications with farnesyl (purple) and palmitoyl (orange) chains are shown. (Source: Cancer Cell; Volume 25, Issue 3, p272–281, 17 March 2014)

The functional and structural resemblance of the *RAS* proteins with the G-proteins controlling adenylate cyclase has led to the proposal that normal p21*RAS*2 proteins are involved in the transduction of external stimuli, most likely induced by growth factors or factors involved in cell differentiation (*265, 266*). The current model tells that the *RAS* proteins become activated upon stimulation, transduce the signal to some effector molecule, and subsequently become inactivated (Fig2.3.2). Mutated *RAS* proteins, however, have lost the ability to become inactivated and thus stimulate growth or differentiation autonomously. Despite extensive research, the signals that induce activation of *RAS* proteins and the proteins that are affected by *RAS* proteins in the signal transduction cascade are still unknown. The *RAS* proteins might not be directly linked to cell surface growth factor receptors, but might play a more pivotal role in the transduction of several growth or differentiation factor stimuli (*267, 268*) (Fig 2.3.3).

A protein has been discovered that is involved in the hydrolysis of the GTP bound to *RAS* (Fig 2.3.2). This protein, GTPase activating protein, binds to the effector domain of the *RAS* proteins and might play a role in the transduction of signals from *RAS* to further downstream. Alternatively, other still to be discovered, effector proteins might compete with GTPase activating protein for the effector site (268, 269). The introduction of new and rapid assay systems for the identification of mutated *RAS* genes has made it possible to analyze large numbers of tumour samples for the presence of *RAS* genes. Recently extensive reviews have appeared about the function of *RAS* proteins in both lower and higher eukaryotes, about the role chemical mutagens can play in the induction of the mutation (270, 271), and about the presence of mutant *RAS* genes in human tumour cell lines (272).



Fig 2.3.2: Schematic representation of our current view of *RAS* regulation. *RAS* proteins are activated by various extracellular stimuli, which are mediated by, among others, receptor-tyrosine kinases (RTKs), G proteins, adhesion molecules and second messengers. These stimuli activate various guanine nucleotide-exchange factors (GEFs; green ovals). Several GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs; orange ovals) are also involved in the downregulation of *RAS* by catalysing the GTP hydrolysis. DAG, diacylglycerol; PLC, phospholipase C. (Source: Nature Review, Cancer, Volume 3, June 2003)

2.3.1.2 Mutations of RAS genes in different cancers

The frequency of *RAS* mutations varies in the different sites of human tumours including: pancreas, colon, rectum, small intestine, liver, skin, female reproductive tract, breast, kidney, brain, testis, leukemia and thyroid (*261, 273-275*).

Mutations in all three *RAS* family genes have been found in thyroid tumours. The highest incidence of mutations was found in follicular and undifferentiated carcinomas (276, 277) while in papillary carcinomas the incidence of *RAS* mutations was limited (278). Follicular tumours have been known to harbour activating point mutations of the *RAS* genes. Three *RAS* genes, *HRAS*, *KRAS*, and *N-RAS*, encode highly related 21-kDa proteins located at the



Fig 2.3.3: Overview of known *RAS* effectors and their corresponding biological responses. Active *RAS*-GTP induces a wide variety of cellular processes, such as transcription, translation, cell-cycle progression, apoptosis or cell survival, through direct interaction with various effectors. GAP proteins also interact with *RAS*-GTP and might also act as effectors.(Source: Nature Review, Cancer, Volume 3, June 2003)

inner surface of the cell membrane and play a central role in the transduction of signals arising from tyrosine kinase and G protein-coupled receptors. *RAS* point mutations in thyroid and other human neoplasms occur typically in codons 12, 13, or 61, leading to constitutive activation of downstream signaling pathways in thyroid follicular cells. Somatic missense mutations in codons 12/13 and 61 of one of the three *RAS* genes have been found in 18–52% of follicular carcinomas (276, 277, 279-281) and 24–53% of follicular adenomas (277, 279-281). A much lower incidence has been reported in Hurthle cell tumours (15–25% of carcinomas and 0 – 4% of adenomas) (280, 282). Macrofollicular hyperplasias are characterized by the absence of mutations in the members of the *RAS* family (283).

2.3.2 Aim and Objective:

Detection of activating point mutations is frequently associated with an aggressive type of the disease and with specific clinical characteristics. The clarification of the role of activated *RAS* alleles in thyroid tumours, may have significant implication in the clinical practice. The presence of mutant *RAS* alleles may serve as molecular markers for the development of the disease (*176, 284*). Biopsy specimens from surgically resected tumours may be assayed for the presence of *RAS* mutations and this may help to predict the course of the disease or to establish treatment strategies. Furthermore, the detection of *RAS* mutations may provide useful information as regards the prognosis of the disease. Cytological material from FNAC might be used in order to screen the population for the presence of mutant *N/K/HRAS* alleles (*285, 286*).

A more challenging possibility is the use of the fore mentioned information for the therapy of cancer. Such an approach has been successfully carried out *in vitro* by specific compounds (antisense oligonucleotides) that block *RAS* genes at the level of transcription or posttranscriptional modifications respectively (287-289).

In this study, efforts have been made to investigate 92 patient sample specimens and 3 cell lines. Association of H,N and *KRAS* mutations with detailed clinical parameters have been analyzed, in order to reveal the precise role of the *RAS* family genes in human thyroid cancer and to apply this information in clinical practice in Indian population.

2.3.3 Material and Method:

Tumour Tissue Specimens:

Frozen and paraffin embedded thyroid tissues from thyroid cancer patients who had attended the clinic between 2000 and 2010 were retrieved from the Tissue Repository of Tata Memorial Hospital, Mumbai, India for analysis of *RAS* gene mutations at codon 12, 13 and 61. A total of 92 specimens with adequate clinical and pathological information were studied. Tissue specimens included 14 PTC, 14 FTC, 3 FTA, 25 FVPTC and 33 PDTC.

Patients were staged using the tumour-node-metastases (TNM) system and classified according to the presence of extra thyroidal extension, cervical nodes and distant metastases.

Cell Lines:

Three thyroid tumour cell lines were used in this study including follicular carcinoma (WRO) and anaplastic carcinoma (ARO and FRO). The cell lines have been discussed in details in the first part of this chapter.

Molecular Analysis:

Genomic DNA Extraction:

Nucleic acid extraction was performed as described previous in Chapter 2, Section 2.1.

SNP analysis using KASP technology:

The Competitive Allele Specific PCR (KASP) genotyping assay was utilized for *RAS* gene SNP analysis of DNA samples. KASP is a unique form of competitive allele-specific PCR combined with a novel, homogeneous, fluorescence-based reporting system for the identification and measurement of genetic variation occurring at the nucleotide level to detect

single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) or inserts and deletions. The KASP technology is suitable for use on a variety of equipment platforms and provides flexibility in terms of the number of SNPs and the number of samples able to be analyzed. The KASP chemistry functions equally well in 96, 384, and 1,536 well micro-titer plate formats and has been utilized since many years in large and small laboratories by users across the fields of human, animal, and plant genetics (290-292) (Fig. 2.3.4).

The KASP method is a cost effective method over multiplex methods. There is also a much shorter turnaround time to receive the results with the KASP method than other multiplex methods. Additionally, there is a lower genotyping error rate of 0.7-1.6%.

The analysis was performed using three initial steps 1) designing of two allele-specific forward primers, 2) dilution of purified DNA sample, and 3) designing of a common reverse primer. 50 bp upstream and downstream of SNP sites were selected using online Basic Local Alignment search tool (BLAST) in National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) (Table 2.3.1). A 60 μ l volume of 15 ng/ μ l of the extracted DNA sample were aliquoted in each of the 96 well PCR plate and sealed. The sealed plates with DNA were sent for analysis to LGC-Genomics, Germany, where the forward and reverse primer sets were designed. The probe containing the fluorophore and quencher were also designed.

Mutations were detected with bi-allelic scoring using the following steps. In the first round of PCR, the KASP primer mix that contains the two allele-specific forward primers and the single reverse primer is added to the mixture.

SNP ID	Sequence	Chromos ome	C po sit io n	Genet ic alterat ion	Amino Acid Change
NRAS C12G C	ccaacaggttcttgctggtgtgaaatgactgagtacaaactggtggtggt tggagca[g/t]gtggtgttgggaaaagcgcactgacaatccagctaat ccagaaccactttgt	Chromo some1 p 13.2	12	GGT >TGT	Gly>C ys
NRAS C13G C	ccaacaggttcttgctggtgtgaaatgactgagtacaaactggtggtggt tggagcaggt [g/t]gtgttggga aaagcgcact gacaatccag ctaatccaga accactttgt	Chromo some1 p 13.2	13	GGT >TGT	Gly>C ys
NRAS C61Q L	acaagtggttatagatggtgaaacctgtttgttggacatactggatacag ctggac[a/t]agaagagtacagtgccatgagagaccaatacatgagg acaggcgaaggcttcc	Chromo some1 p 13.2	61	CAA >CT A	Gln>L eu
KRAS C12G D	ataaggcctgctgaaaatgactgaatataaacttgtggtagttggagctg [g/a]tggcgtaggcaagagtgccttgacgatacagctaattcagaatc attttgtggacgaat	12	GGT >GA T	Gly>A sp	
KRAS C12G S	ataaggcctgctgaaaatgactgaatataaacttgtggtagttggagct[g/a]gtggcgtaggcaagagtgccttgacgatacagctaattcagaatc attttgtggacgaat	chromo some 12 p12.1	12	GGT >AG T	Gly>S er
KRAS C13G D	ataaggcctgctgaaaatgactgaatataaacttgtggtagttggagctg gtg[g/a]cgtaggcaagagtgccttgacgatacagctaattcagaatc attttgtggacgaat	chromo some 12 p12.1	13	GGC >GA C	Gly>A sp
-					
HRAS C13G D	gcaggcccctgaggagcgatgacggaatataagctggtggtggg cgccggcg[g/a]tgtgggcaagagtgcgctgaccatccagctgatcc agaaccattttgtggacga	chromo some 11 p15.5	13	GGT >GA T	Gly>A sp
HRAS C61Q L	gcaggtggtcattgatggggggggggggggggggggggg	chromo some 11 p15.5	61	CAG >CT G	Gln>L eu
BRAF C15V E	atatattte tteatgaaga eeteacagta aaaataggtg attttggtet agetacag[t/a]g aaatetegat ggagtgggte eeateagttt gaacagttgt etggateeat	chromo some 7 q 34	15	GTG >GA G	Val>Gl u

Table 2.3.1: Chromosomal location of SNP of H, N and *KRAS* genes with upstream and downstream sequences

The specific nature of the forward primers allows for the primer to bind solely at the SNP of interest, allowing DNA polymerase to lay down the rest of the complementary nucleotides. During this time, the common reverse primer begins to lay down complementary nucleotides on the opposite strand of DNA. This ends the first round of PCR.





Fig2.3.4: Schematic drawing of KASP chemistry. (Source: http://www.kbioscience.co.uk) In the second round of PCR, a compliment to the allele-specific forward primer is generated when the common reverse primer binds to the amplicon formed in the first round of PCR. Finally, the thermocycling of the PCR reaction continues, starting the third portion of the KASP method. The FAM oligo, a fluorescently labeled primer found in the master mix, complements the tail sequence of the common reverse primer, allowing for elongation to occur. This occurs multiple times throughout the thermocycling settings and the fluorescent signalling becomes stronger as more FAM oligo primers are used in the amplification process.

2.3.3 Results:

2.3.3.1 RAS Mutation Pattern:

The KASP analysis of common types of *RAS* mutations are illustrated in Figure 2.3.5. The X and Y coordinates represent the end point fluorescence intensity of the fluorophore labeled probe that are bound to the wild type and mutant allele specific PCR amplicons.







Fig 2.3.5: Snapshot displaying wild type and mutant alleles by genotyping with Kompetitive Allele Specific PCR (KASP) assay.

The results of H, K and *NRAS* mutation analysis and the correlation of *RAS* mutation status with clinico-pathologic features are summarized in Tables 2.3.2.

Among the mutations identified in different *RAS* isoforms, the *KRAS* C12GD mutation is of highest prevalence (23 of 95 samples, 24.2%), all of them occurring at codon 12. *NRAS* C12GC mutation was found in seventeen (17.8%), *NRAS* C13GC mutation in five (5%) and *NRAS* C61QL mutation in six (6.3%) out of 95 neoplasias. Mutation in *HRAS* gene at codon 13 and 61 were found in eleven (11.5%) and sixteen (16.8%) tumours respectively. Both transition and transversion type of nucleotide changes were equally apparent.



Fig2.3.6: Number of cases with different RAS mutations

Among the different histological subtypes, *RAS* mutation was found in 57 out of 95 samples (60%) of Indian cohort. Percent incidence of this mutation varied among pathological subtype. *RAS* gene mutation was much more common in the PDTC (29 out of 35; 82.8%) than in the PTC (7 out of 14; 50%), FTC (19 out of 42; 45.2%). Two out of 4 ATC (50%) were harbouring *RAS* mutation. Multiple activating mutations were restricted to PDTC (28%) and ATCs (50%). 10 of the 35 PDTC and 2 out of 4 ATCs harboured multiple *RAS* mutations. (Table 2.3.2)

Histology	Total	RAS Mutations	
	(N)	Positive	%
		(n1)	
Total	95	57	60
Papillary Carcinoma	14	7	50
Follicular Carcinoma	42	19	45.2
Poorly Differentiated	35	29	82.8
Anaplastic Carcinoma	4	2	50

Table 2.3.2: Prevalence of RAS gene mutation

Table 2.3.3: Prevalence of HRAS	nd KRAS Mutations in 94 thyroid neoplasia
and cell lines	

Histology	Total	HRAS CI	3GD	HRAS C61QL Positive %		KRAS C12GD	
	(N)	Positive	%			Positive	%
		(n1)		(n2)		(n3)	
Papillary	14	0	0	0	0	0	0
Carcinoma							
Follicular	42	4	9.7	2	4.8	3	7.3
Carcinoma							
Poorly	35	7	20	12	34.2	17	48.5
Differentiated							
Anaplastic	4	0	0	2	50	2	50
Carcinoma							

HRAS (C13GD and C61QL) is observed in 7 (20%) out of 35 PDTCs followed by 4 (9.7%) out of 41 patients of FTCs. PDTC also harboured *KRAS* C12GD mutation in 17 (48.5%) cases. However, none of the 14 PTCs contained *HRAS* (C13GD and C61QL) or *KRAS* C12GD mutation. (Table 2.3.3 and 2.3.4)

NRAS mutation at codon 12, 13 and 61 were found in higher frequency in PTC (28%, 28% and 14% respectively) with respect to other histotypes. Mutation at codon 13 was exclusively

present in PTC and PTC derived PDTC (2.8%) and not in FTC. Also, none of the ATCs showed *NRAS* mutation.

Histology	Total	NRAS	C12GC	NRAS C13GC		NRAS C61QL	
		Positive	%	Positive	%	Positive	%
Papillary	14	4	28.5	4	28.5	2	14.2
Carcinoma							
Follicular	42	11	26.8	0	0	4	9.7
Carcinoma							
Poorly Differen.	35	2	5.7	1	2.8	0	0
Anaplastic	4	0	0	0	0	0	0
Carcinoma							

Table 2.3.4: Prevalence of NRAS Mutations in 94 thyroid neoplasia and cell lines

2.3.3.2 Correlation of *RAS* with Clinico-pathologic Parameters:

The association between *RAS* mutations and various clinico-pathological parameters were assessed in 94 samples (Table 2.3.5) by Fisher's exact test, univariate and multitvariate logistic regression analysis. By Fisher's test *NRAS* mutation status showed association with histotypes of thyroid carcinoma (P<0.05) and lymph node metastasis (P<0.05). But no correlation was found with age, gender and TNM Stage, tumour volume and extra-thyroidal extension. Multivariate analysis performed with the same clinico-pathological parameters revealed correlation of *NRAS* with only histological type (odds ratio = 0.69; 95% confidence interval, 0.48-0.98, *P*<0.05) (Table 2.3.5).



Fig 2.3.7: Comparative representation of prevalence (%) of mutated *RAS* isoforms in different Thyroid Carcinoma Histotypes

There was significant association between *KRAS* and *HRAS* mutation with tumour subtypes (p<0.005 and p<0.001 respectively) by univariare regression analysis. A multivariate analysis was performed with the same clinico-pathological parameters and were correlated with *KRAS* and *HRAS* mutation (odds ratio = 2.5; 95% confidence interval, 1.36-4.77, *P*<0.005; odds ratio = 3.64; 95% confidence interval, 1.47-9.0, *P*<0.006) with and without stepwise multiple logistic regression method.

All the tumours were divided into morphological subtypes, where FTC was the largest group. Correlation of *BRAF* mutation with the same parameters was sought within this group. However, no significant correlation, other than association with tumour type, was found either by univariate or by multivariate analysis.

				Fisher's	er's			
		NR	AS		test (2 t)	Multivariate Analysis		
	Positiv	/e	Negat	ive	Р	Р	Odds	
							ratio(95%CI)	
	Ν	%	N	%				
Tumour Stage					0.25	0.12	2.7 (0.75-9.7)	
TI	4	13.7	25	86.2				
ТШ	6	21.4	22	78.5				
T IIIIV	13	30.9	29	69				
Gender					0.622	0.466	1.49(0.5-4.3)	
Male	10	28.5	25	71.4				
Female	13	22.8	44	77.2				
Age					0.48	0.428	0.646 (0.219-1.9)	
≥45 yr	11	22	39	78				
<45 yr	12	28.5	30	71.5				
Metastasis					0.049*	0.754	1.2(0.2-7.7)	
Yes	18	32.7	37	67.2				
No	5	13.5	32	86.4				
Туре	-	-	-	-	-	0.041*	0.691 (0.48-0.98)	
Extra-thyroidal					0.344	0.067	0.27 (0.75-9.7)	
Extension								
Yes	11	21.1	41	78.8				
No	12	30	28	70				

Table2.3.4: Correlation between *RAS* mutation and clinico-pathological parameters in papillary thyroid carcinoma

* p<0.05

2.3.4 Discussion:

Activating *H*, *K*, and *NRAS* mutations represent the most common type of abnormality of a dominant oncogene in human cancer and have been identified in many different types of tumours, with specificity and type of mutation varying in relation to the tumour type (260, 293). Previous studies have addressed the relationship between *RAS* mutations and the

clinicopathologic features of the tumours harbouring the mutation in different ethnicities. Several studies, including a prospective study (294) and large meta-analyses, (295, 296) have shown that *RAS* mutations are associated with poor prognosis in colorectal adenocarcinoma and that different gene mutations have different prognostic impact (294).

Both prospective (297) and retrospective (298, 299) analyses have shown that *KRAS* mutations are associated with poor prognosis in non–small-cell lung carcinoma. The type of *KRAS* mutation may also influence survival in pancreatic adeno-carcinoma, (300) whereas N-*RAS* mutations are associated with failure to achieve complete remission in acute myeloid leukemia (301, 302).

Constitutive activation of all three *RAS* oncogenes (*H*, *K* and *NRAS*) has recently been reported to occur among tumours that originated from the follicular epithelium of the thyroid gland (276, 303). However, there are significant discrepancies related to the overall frequency of *RAS* mutations (ranging from 7% to 62%) (303-305) and their prevalence in specific thyroid tumours. No consistent relationship between tumour histotype or biologic behavior and one particular pattern of *RAS* activation can be inferred from a review of the literatures. Although it is difficult to explain this lack of consistency, the mutation screening methods, the selection of patients, and the design of individual studies may be responsible for the variations in associations between *RAS* mutational status and clinical or pathologic parameters.

We have used Competitive Allele Specific PCR method (KASP), a technique that, with much lower turnaround time to receive the results and minimal genotype error rate (0.7 to 1.6% depending on starting DNA quality) (292). We have also selected tumours that include the full spectrum of different histotypes in follicular cell derived thyroid cancer with a large number of patients. This allowed us to perform a meaningful statistical analysis.

This study demonstrates that different isoforms of *RAS* mutations define a specific subset of thyroid carcinoma. This is indicated by the close association between oncogenic *NRAS* C13GC with PTC and HRS C13GD with PDTC. Exclusive presence of *KRAS* C12GD with PDTC and ATC indicates towards the probable role of this activating mutation in the loss of those histologic features that characterize well differentiated thyroid tumour phenotypes (*53, 303*). Reportedly, oncogenic *KRAS* not only correlates with the loss of tumour differentiation but also with the presence of distant metastases and response to chemotherapy (*306, 307*). This is inconsistent with our study as we could not find correlation of *KRAS* C12GD with invasiveness and metastasis (*306*). Analysis of *KRAS* codon 13 and 61 (results awaited) may have answers towards this discrepancy. Relevantly, we found relative higher prevalence of *RAS* mutations in PDTC compared to FTCs. However, after detailed investigation of the reported PDTCS it was understood that they are prevalently of FTC origin. This further supports the role of *HRAS* and *KRAS* in dedifferentiation of well differentiated follicular thyroid carcinoma.

In summary, our results predict that *RAS* gene mutations have association with different histological subtypes of thyroid carcinoma. Among different *RAS* mutation *NRAS* mutations may be a potential prognostic marker for aggressive behavior and poor outcome of thyroid cancer. Although additional investigations of remaining activating mutations of *KRAS* (codon13, 61) and *HRAS* (codon 12) are necessary to elucidate further the relationship between *RAS* oncogene activation and thyroid neoplasia, our results indicate that *RAS* genotyping may be of significant value as a prognostic indicator and may provide the rationale for novel treatment modalities.

Chapter 3

Chromosomal Rearrangements in Thyroid Cancer

3.1 Introduction

Most of the cancer-causing genes are altered by chromosomal rearrangements, a process that creates a chimeric gene or apposes a gene to the regulatory elements of another gene (308, 309). So far chromosomal rearrangements were most commonly observed in leukemias, lymphomas and mesenchymal tumours, but now have been reported in epithelial tumours involving the thyroid, kidney and breast (310, 311).

There are two types of chromosomal rearrangements. In one type of rearrangement, there is an exchange of genetic material between two different chromosomes that is known as chromosomal translocation (interchromosomal rearrangement). Whereas in the other type, there is an exchange of genetic material between loci on the same chromosome, known as chromosomal inversion (Intrachromosomal rearrangement) (*312*, *313*). One of the major interchromomal rearrangement observed in thyroid cancer is PAX8/PPAR γ translocation, described in Section 3.2. Another most prevalent intrachromosomal rearrangement in thyroid neoplasia is *RET/PTC* rearrangement, elaborated in section 3.3 (*283*, *309*, *314*).

3.2 PAX8/PPAR y Fusion Oncogene in Thyroid Cancer

3.2.1 Introduction to PAX8/PPAR y

When identified at early stages, most well-differentiated thyroid cancers are readily treated and yield excellent outcomes. In particular, follicular thyroid cancer (FTC) when diagnosed at a late stage, may be very resistant to treatment, and exhibits 10-year survival rates of less than 40% in patients (*315*). Despite substantial progress in recent years, we still have only a limited understanding of the molecular and biological interrelationships between various subtypes of benign and malignant follicular thyroid neoplasms. In contrast to the wealth of information available regarding papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC), the triggering mechanisms of FTC development and the major underlying genetic alterations leading to follicular thyroid carcinogenesis remain obscure.

A substantial body of evidence suggest that the PTEN/PI3K/AKT pathway is frequently involved in the pathogenesis of FTC and ATC (*316*, *317*). In addition, recent studies focusing on chromosomal rearrangements in FTC have implicated PPAR mediated pathways (*115*) and are the focus of much research. However, the pathogenesis of FTC remains much less well defined than that of PTC. Since FTC are among the more aggressive tumours and account for a larger proportion of the mortality associated with the disease, continued effort to understand the molecular pathogenesis of FTC is required with the hope of establishing targets for development of alternative therapeutic strategies.

3.2.1.1 Chromosomal rearrangements in follicular thyroid cancer

An important, relatively recent development in the study of FTC tumourigenesis has been the identification of the $PAX8/PPAR\gamma$ fusion oncogene. This fusion oncogene is created by a balanced translocation between chromosomes 2 and 3 (115). During the chromosomal exchange, the 2q13-qter region is translocated to 3p25, resulting in an in-frame fusion

between most of the coding sequence of the thyroid-specific paired-box transcription factor PAX8 (2q13) and the entire translated reading-frame of the gene of the liganded nuclear receptor-family member per-oxisome proliferators activated receptor gamma (PPAR) (3p25) (Fig 3.2.1). Several studies have implicated the role of expressed novel PAX8/PPAR fusion protein (PPFP) in the pathogenesis of FTC. The PPFP fusions exhibit several different PAX8 breakpoints, although the PPAR breakpoint appears to be constant (*115, 318*).



Figure 3.2.1. Pax8/PPAR γ rearrangement illustrating the genomic structure with exon arrangement and sites of fusion. The PAX8 activation domain (AD) is eliminated in all fusion events. The protein structure of the predicted fusion protein is shown and contains the PAX8-paired domain, containing the DNA binding domain (DBD), the octapeptide motif (OP), and the truncated homeodomain (HD). All of the functional domains of PPAR γ gene, including activation domains 1 and 2 (AD1 and AD2), DBD, and ligand binding domain are retained in the fusion protein. (Source: PPAR Research, Volume 2008, Article ID 672829,10 pages)

PAX8 plays an essential role in the terminal differentiation steps of thyrocyte development (319) and, unlike other members of the PAX gene family, is a key regulator of terminally differentiated gene expression, including the sodium-iodide symporter, (320, 321). Thus

interference with PAX8 function by PPFP could represent a conceivable mechanism by which PPFP influences tumourigenesis. The PAX8 gene promoter drives expression of the PPFP gene (*115*). Accordingly, PPFP expression would be expected to correlate with the differentiation status of thyroid tumours, being high in well-differentiated tumours and low or absent in poorly differentiated tumours (*322, 323*). PPFP has been identified in about 36% of FTC, 11% of follicular adenoma (FA), 13% of the follicular variant of PTC (FVPTC), and 2% of Hurthle cell carcinoma and is absent from PTC, anaplastic thyroid cancer (ATC), and benign nodular hyperplasia (*324*). The occurrence of PPFP in FA, a benign condition, raises questions whether PPFP causes cancer; however, if there is an FA to FTC progression, PPFP may play a role in the progression pathway (Fig. 3.2.2). On the basis of its occurrence, its expected PAX8-dependent expression pattern, and its oncogenic functions, it has been proposed that PPFP may represent an early FTC-specific oncogene (*176, 283, 323*).

PPFP mediated interference with PPAR function is another potential target for PPFP's oncogenic actions. While PPAR γ is widely recognized to regulate adipogenesis and plays a major role in insulin sensitization, in recent years it has also been studied for its potential role in tumourigenesis (*325, 326*). In addition, PPAR ligands have increasingly been evaluated as therapeutic agents in a variety of cancers (*327, 328*), including thyroid cancer (*329*). The influence of PPAR in the pathogenesis of cancer may be mediated in part by its roles in regulating cell cycle control and apoptosis through its influence on gene expression involving multiple cell signaling pathways (*330,331*).

3.2.1.2 Role of PAX8/PPAR as an oncogene

Several *in vitro* studies from a number of laboratories have provided evidence that PPFP can act as an oncogene. Powel et al. have utilized both transient and stable transfection of PPFP in Nthy-ori 3-1 cells and have shown accelerated growth rates and lower numbers of cells in the G0 /G1 resting state in PPFP-transfected cells compared to expression vector (*322*).

Similar results on growth and apoptosis rates have been observed in cells that have been stably transfected with PPFP (322). The over-expression of both PPFP and CREB3L2/PPAR stimulated the proliferation of primary human thyroid cells (332), suggesting that the common PPAR moiety is an essential component of these fusion genes' dominant oncogenic mechanism of action. PPFP transfection also reduced dramatically the rates of apoptosis in the PPFP positive cells, suggesting reduced apoptosis may explain much of the enhanced growth (322). Also, PPFP expression in FRTL-5 cells leads to enhanced proliferation as assessed by ³H-thymidine incorporation and soft agar assays (333). Taken together these studies suggest that PPFP expression may provide a significantly faster as well as promote attachment-independent growth, both factors that contribute to tumourigenesis. While PPFP did not directly affect tumourigenesis, studies provide strong evidence that PPFP acts as a dominant negative inhibitor of wild-type PPAR and affects epithelial cell behavior and carcinogen-induced tumourigenesis, as discussed in more detail below. While studies demonstrate that PPFP exerts oncogenic functions in vitro, there is as yet no demonstration of PPFP's ability to affect tumourigenesis in vivo. Thus the impact of PPFP on the behavior and biology of human FTC remains to be established. Also, it remains to be seen, whether PPFP acting alone is sufficient to promote tumourigenesis, or whether additional oncogenic events are required for its action. Clearly, additional studies will be required to understand the importance of these other factors and their interrelationships, if any, to PPFP-mediated tumourigenesis.

3.2.1.3 Molecular Mechanism of PPFP Action

While the precise mechanism of PPFP action remains to be elucidated, different studies demonstrate that PPFP can act as a dominant negative inhibitor of wild-type PPAR activity and/or as a unique transcriptional activator of PPAR and PAX8-responsive genes (Fig. 3.2.2).



Figure 3.2.2: Figure showing the influence of *PAX8/PPARy* **fusion protein over PTEN:** PPAR γ (as shown in the figure) activates PTEN, whose major role is to regulate cell proliferation and cell migration. PTEN does this by inhibiting the phosphorylation of Shc, component of MAPK pathway; and FAK phosphorylation, component of integrin mediated pathway. However the fusion protein, *Pax8/PPARy*, acts in a dominant-negative fashion to block PPAR γ -dependent transactivation and upregulation of PTEN. MMTV-*Pax8/PPAR\gamma* mice exhibit reduced PTEN and activation of Ras and ERK, presumably through activation of PI3K (*p85 and p110*). ERK activates ER transcriptionally and posttranslationally, and *Pax8/PPAR\gamma* interferes with the ability of PPAR γ to inhibit ER transactivation. (Source: Glazer RI et.al, PPAR Research 2008)

PPFP is also capable of both stimulating and inhibiting selected PAX8-responsive genes (333). In addition, at least under some *in vitro* conditions PPFP can exert independent, ligand-responsive transcriptional activation from both PAX8- and PPAR-responsive promoters (333). Further studies will be required to establish the mechanisms for each of these PPFP actions, especially under *in vivo* conditions, and which of these actions are most important for PPFP-mediated tumourigenesis.

3.2.2 Aims and Objectives:

PTCs show an overall survival rate exceeding 90% at 10 years. In contrast, FTCs are usually prone to blood-borne metastases, and carry a lower overall survival rate. Whereas FVPTCs, which generally show a slower growth pattern, are in some cases prone to lung metastases without any nodal metastasis. It was also observed that poorly circumscribed and widely invasive FVPTCs mimic the disease progress pattern of FTC, pushing the borders and signs of our classical understanding.

It has been shown in our previous study and supported by other literatures that FVPTC cases have a different prevalence of BRAF mutations compared to conventional PTCs, which are characterized by the occurrence of BRAF V^{600E} (40-60%), whereas FVPTC cases have a much lesser prevalent (10%).

The PAX8-PPAR γ fusion gene has been detected in a high percentage of FTC, FTC (16) and, later on, also in FVPTCs by some groups in different geographical locations (17–20).

In an attempt to find the prevalence of PAX8-PPAR γ in our Indian patients, and to see whether or not, FVPTC cases share some of the molecular features of follicular tumours; we initiated the study with 62 thyroid neoplasia and 16 benign tissues. In addition we also investigated the association of this rearrangement with BRAF mutation and different clinicopathological parameters.

3.2.3 Materials and Methods:

3.2.3.1 Tumour Tissue Specimens:

Frozen thyroid tissues from thyroid cancer patients who had attended the clinic between 2000 and 2010 were retrieved from the Tissue Repository of Tata Memorial Hospital, Mumbai, India for analysis of *PAX8/PPARy* and *RET/PTC* gene rearrangements. A total of 62

malignant and 16 benign tissue specimens with adequate clinical and pathological information were studied. Neoplastic Tissue specimens included 32 PTC (26 Classical PTC and 6 FVPTC), 13 FTC, 6 FTA and 10 MTC.

Patients were staged using the tumour-node-metastases (TNM) system and classified according to the presence of extra-thyroidal extension, cervical nodes and distant metastases. All the analyzed tissues were snap frozen immediately in liquid nitrogen after the surgery and stored at -80°C with RNA Latter (Sigma).

3.2.3.2 RNA Extraction and cDNA Synthesis from Thyroid Tissue:

RNA was extracted from the tissue using "HiPurATM Total RNA Miniprep Purification Spin Kit"(Himedia). Cryo-preserved tissue (approx 20-30 mg) was first crushed in liquid nitrogen. Liquid nitrogen was allowed to evaporate and before the tissue gets thawed 350-400 μ L lysis solution containing 2-mercaptoethanol (1% v/v) was added and vortexed for 30 sec. Incubation of 15 to 30 min with intermediate vortexing is given for complete lysis. Clear tissue lysate was transferred to cleanup column (DBCA 01) and centrifuged at 10,000 rpm 2 min. The filtrate was collected and equal volume of 70 % ethanol was added. The mixture was applied on a RNA separation column (DBCA 02) and centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 2 min. Then the column was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm with 350 μ L of pre-wash solution for 15 sec. Filtrate was discarded and add 10 μ L of 4U/ μ L of DNAase1 and 50 μ L of 1X DNAase 1 digestion buffer was added and incubated for 30 min for on-column digestion of any DNA impurities. Another wash with 350 µL of pre-wash solution was applied. Thereafter, the column was given two consecutive washes with 500µL of wash solution at 10,000 rpm for 15 sec each. The column was eluted with 20µL DEPC treated elution buffer by centrifuging at 12,000 rpm for 1 min. Extracted RNA was immediately stored at -80 °C. The efficiency of extraction is checked by taking the absorbance ratio 260nm and 280nm (expected ratio 1.8-2.0)

cDNA was prepared by reverse transcription using the Revert AidTM First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (MBI Fermentas, #K1622). Appropriate amount of RNA (volume of RNA solution corresponding to 1µg) was taken and made up to 11.6 µL using sterile DEPC treated water. Random hexamer (1 µL) was added and incubated at 72 °C for 5 min. 7µL of master mix, containing 2µl of dNTP, 4µl of 5X buffer and 1µl of RNase inhibitor, was added and incubated at 25 °C for 5 min. Reverse transcriptase (0.4µL) was added and further incubated at 42 °C for 60 min and then at 70 °C for 10 min. The desired cDNA was stored at -80 °C (335).

3.2.3.3 RT-PCR and Sequencing

Chromosomal translocation fusing the Paired Box gene (PAX8), and the nuclear receptorperoxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) was detected by reverse transcription PCR using cDNA synthesized from tissue sample.

Amplifications by PCR were carried out using forward primers F1 specific for PAX8 exon 6 and reverse primer R1 specific for PPAR γ exon 1. The oligonucleotide primer sequences (Xcelris Labs, India) are presented in Table 3.3.1. RT- PCR was performed with 2µL cDNA, using the following conditions: 94 C for 30 sec, 60 C for 30 sec, and 72 C for 1 min for over 40 cycles of amplification. Reactions contained final concentrations of 20 mm Tris-HCl (pH 8.4), 50 mm KCl, 400µm dNTPs (Invitrogen), 2 mm MgCl₂, 10 pmol of both primers, and 1.5 U of Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen). Negative controls for cDNA synthesis and PCRs, in which the template was replaced by sterile water, were included in each experiment. RNA integrity and efficiency of cDNA synthesis were confirmed in each sample by RT-PCR for the housekeeping gene β-Actin. PCR products were analyzed by electrophoresis in a 5% polyacrylamide gel and purified by running in 1.5% Agarose gel. All results were repeated at least two times from different batches of cDNA at different times with same RNA sample.

Primer	Complementary Gene	Primer Sequence
F1	PAX8 (exon 6)	5'CGCGGATCCGCATTGACTCACAGAGCA3'
R1	PPARγ (exon 1)	5' CCGGAATTCGAAGTCAACAGTAGTGAA3'

Table3.2.1: RT-PCR primers for detection of PAX8-PPARγ fusion transcripts

Amplification of PAX8-PPAR cDNA variants containing PAX8 exons 1–6, 1–7, 1–7 plus 9, or 1–8, were expected to generate products of 296, 417, 519, and 606 bp, respectively (Fig. 3.2.3).





Patients' samples with rearrangements were purified and PCR based analysis is over and the amplicons obtained will be analysed by sequencing in both forward and reverse orientation using the same primer set (ABI Prism 310 using the ABI Prism Big Dye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Ready Reaction Kit version 2; Applied Biosystems, USA).

3.2.3.4 Silver Staining

After separation of the RT-PCR amplicons in 5% polyacrylamide gel, the gels were kept in 40:60 methanol:water for 30 min for fixing. Thereafter, the methanol-waterwas replaced with 2% Nitric acid solution and incubated for 10 min. The gel was thoroughly washed with distilled water to remove the traces of nitric acid. Subsequently, it was exposed to freshly prepared solution of 0.2% (200mg/100ml) Silver Nitrate in dark for 15 min. The gel was thoroughly washed with distilled water thrice for 30 sec each and was incubated in developer (20 ml chilled 3% sodium carbonate solution + 20 ml distilled water + 60μ L of sodium thiosulphate + 40 μ L of formaldehyde) till the bands were developed. The gel was washed with distilled water and 3% citric acid was added to stop the reaction. Finally the gel was stored in 80% methanol.

3.2.4 Results:

3.2.4.1 Prevalence of PAX8/PPARy

In Tables 3.2.2, we have summarized the clinic-pathological and molecular data of the 62 thyroid carcinoma samples including 32 PTC (26 Classical PTC and 6 FVPTC), 13 FTC, 6 FTA, and 10 MTC.

The mean age \pm SD was 47.6 \pm 13.5 yr, and the mean tumour size \pm SD was 3.9 \pm 2.6 cm. By RT-PCR, we detected the PAX8/PPAR γ rearrangement in 13 of the 62 cases analyzed (20.9%) (Fig. 3.2.4; Table 3.2.2). We confirmed the rearrangement, by FISH analysis in the two cases in which paraffin embedded tissue was available. In 16 cases the adjacent thyroid was analyzed by RT-PCR, and the PAX8/PPAR γ rearrangement was not detected in any of these samples.

Histology	Total	PAX8/PPARy			
		Ро	sitive	Negative	
		N	%	N	%
Papillary Carcinoma	32	4	12.5	28	87.5
Classical Variant	26	2	7.7	24	92.3
Foll. Var. of PTC (FVPTC)	6	2	33.3	4	66.6
Anaplastic Carcinoma	1	0	-	1	100
Follicular Carcinoma	13	2	15.4	11	84.6
Follicular Adenoma	6	1	16.6	5	83.3
Medullary Carcinoma	10	2	20	8	80
Benign	16	0	-	16	-
Cell lines: ARO, NPA, FRO, WRO	4	0	-	4	-

Table 3.2.2: Prevalence of *PAX8/PPARy* Translocation in 62 thyroid neoplasia patients

Of the 62 samples studied rearrangements were found most prevalently in FVPTC (2 out of 6, 33%), followed by MTC (20%), FTA (16.6%) and FTC (15.4%). The rearrangement was not detected in the single case of ATC or in any of the four thyroid cancer cell lines.



Fig 3.2.4: A and B, RT-PCR analysis of PAX8-PPAR γ transcripts in thyroid neoplasias. The resulting DNA products were resolved by electrophoresis on a polyacrylamide gel and observed by silver staining. 296bp RT-PCR amplicons were observed in FCT and FVPTC (top) and 521bp amplicon was observed in PTC and MTC (bottom). DNA size markers indicating 100-bp and 50 bp intervals were used in lane 1 of each gel; negative control was run in lane 2 (top). A single PAX8-PPAR γ transcript is present for each case in panel.

Breakpoint analysis showed that both [Pax8 exon 1-6 to PPAR exon 1] and [Pax8 exon 1-7, 9

to PPAR exon 1] were equally present in our study group. PAX8 breakpoint at exon 6 is

found exclusively in FTC, FVPTC and FTA. Whereas, breakpoint at exon 7 and 9 are present

only MTC and PTCs.

					Fisher's			
		D (170)			test (2			
		PAX8/	PPARy	PPAR y t)		Multivariate Analysis		
	Positive		Negative		P	P	Odds ratio (95%	
		T					CI)	
~ ~	N	%	N	%	0.04.43	0.440		
Tumour Stage					0.014*	0.110	4.65 (0.70-30.7)	
(PTC)								
TI	0	0	17	100				
T II	2	8	23	92				
T IIIIV	6	31.5	13	68.4				
Gender (PTC)					0.482	0.437	2.13 (0.31-14.3)	
Male	6	18.2	27	81.8				
Female	3	10.3	26	89.6				
Age(PTC)					1.0	0.7	0.648 (0.071-5.8)	
\geq 45 yr	7	15.9	37	84				
<45 yr	2	11.1	16	88.8				
Metastasis (PTC)					0.028*	0.254	0.188(0.01-3.3)	
Yes	7	26.9	19	73				
No	2	5.5	34	94.4				
Tumour size (mm)					0.176	0.360	2.24 (0.39-12.7)	
range, mean \pm SD								
<10 mm	0	0	8	100				
10–40 mm	3	9.6	28	90.3				
>40 mm	6	26	17	73.9				
Extra-thyroidal					0.009*	0.05*	15.5 (0.98-245.8)	
Extension								
Yes	8	27.5	21	72.4				
No	1	3	32	96.9				

Table3.2.3: Association between $PAX8/PPAR\gamma$ mutation and clinico-pathologicalparameters in papillary thyroid carcinoma

* p<0.05

3.2.4.1 Clinco-pathological Association:

The association between *PAX8/PPAR* γ and various clinico-pathological parameters were assessed in 62 samples (Table 3.2.3) by Fisher's exact test, univariate and multitariate logistic regression analysis. The *PAX8/PPAR* γ rearrangement was significantly associated with the presence of metastasis (P < 0.05), extra-thyroidal extension (P = 0.009) and size of tumours

(p=0.014). All but one the 9 patients with *PAX8/PPARy* rearrangement had extra-thyroidal invasion. No significant association of *PAX8/PPARy* rearrangement with age (p=1.0) and gender of patients (p=0.482).

Although Fisher's exact test showed association with three different clinico-pathological parameters, Multivariate regression analysis revealed existing association between ETE and $PAX8/PPAR\gamma$ [p=0.05, Odds ratio 15.5 (0.98-245.8) at 95% CI].



Fig 3.2.5: Prevalence of *PAX8/PPARy* translocation in different histotypes of thyroid carcinoma

3.2.5 Discussion:

Our results raise some interesting issues on the putative relationship between FVPTC and FTC, and on the implications of the tumours' genotype for our understanding of their phenotype. The first issue concerns the much higher prevalence of $PAX8/PPAR\gamma$ in follicular variant of PTC (FVPTC) compared to classical variant of PTC. We report, for the first time

from India, in a cohort of 62 patients of thyroid carcinoma in which the *PAX8/PPAR* γ fusion gene has been detected in a moderately high percentage of cases (20.9%).

Our preliminary data support the published data (133) and demonstrate that there is a association between the occurrence of *PAX8/PPARy* rearrangement and the follicular growth pattern even in the setting of PTC also reported by Roque et. al. (336). The nuclear features of FVPTC were of the PTC-type regardless of the presence or absence of *PAX8/PPARy* rearrangement, thus supporting the assumption that such features probably reflect molecular alterations other than those related to the rearrangement (337).

The significant association we have found between $PAX8/PPAR\gamma$ and extra-thyroidal invasiveness in the study group suggests that the rearrangement confers a higher invasive potential to the neoplastic cells in tumour microenvironment. These findings fit with those reported from other ethnicities of the world (176).

Though our present study showed an association with lymph node metastasis (by Fisher's test), there was no association of rearrangement with distant metastasis. Since, a majority of patients in our series were not having distant metastasis, it was not possible to analyze the putative association of $PAX8/PPAR\gamma$ rearrangement with overtly invasive features of the tumours, as put forth in a previous study (176).

The frequencies of *PAX8/PPARy* in FTCs (15.4%) and FTAs (16.6%) are in accordance with the data on record (*338, 339*). There was only one sample of PTC with coexistence of BRAF^{V600E} mutation and the rearrangement. The patient presented with a binodal neck metastasis and ETE. Similar to the previous reports, no mutations in BRAF hot-spot coexisted with rearrangement in any of the follicular tumours (*283, 335, 340*).

The issue concerning the putative relationship of FVPTC with conventional PTC and FTC needs to be addressed. In view of our data illustrating a high frequency of *PAX8/PPARy*
rearrangement in FVPTC (33.3%) (Fig. 3.2.5) in one hand and BRAF V600E in classical PTC (61.3%) on the other, it seems logical to conclude that some cases of the FVPTC do not share similar molecular features with papillary thyroid subtype (PTC).

Our conclusion is reinforced by the findings of Wreesmann et al., (133) who showed, using comparative genomic hybridization analysis, that the presence and pattern of genomic aberrations in FVPTC were significantly different from those in conventional PTC and similar to those observed in follicular tumours (133). Therefore, it does not seem possible to rely upon histopathology for the identification of the subset of FVPTC that shows some of the molecular features of FTC. There is enough evidence now to rule out the idea that FVPTC, as a whole, should be considered as a subgroup of conventional PTC, and we propose that the metastatic pattern (341-346) and the molecular features described in the present study should be taken into consideration. This concept is represented schematically in Fig. 3.2.6.



Fig 3.2.6: Schematic representation of the putative relationship between FVPTC and the two main histotypes of thyroid carcinoma (PTC and FTC).

The study of a larger series of FVPTC with a longer follow-up and detailed data on lymph node and lung metastases is necessary to find out the clinical significance of the occurrence of the three genetic alterations ($PAX8/PPAR\gamma$, H, N, K RAS mutation and BRAF in association) in FVPTC.

3.2 RET PTC Rearrangement in Thyroid Carcinoma

3.3.1 Introduction:

RET is a single-pass transmembrane receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) that is required for normal development, maturation and maintenance of several tissues and cell types. The developmental importance of RET is highlighted by a high degree of protein conservation in a range of species, from Drosophila through to Human. In the past several years, key studies have implicated that RET gene rearrangement is associated with cell proliferation, migration, invasion and survival of patients in several forms of cancer.

3.3.1.1 RET structure and function

The RET proto-oncogene lies in the pericentromeric region of chromosome 10q11.2 (347). The expression of RET is regulated by DNA-binding factors that modulate basal transcription (such as SPI, SP3 and early growth response protein 1 (EGR1)) (348) and/or contribute to its tissue-specific expression patterns (such as SRY-box 10 (SOX10), paired box 3 (PAX3), NK2 homeobox 1 (NKX2 -1) and homeobox B5 (HOXB5)) by binding to upstream promoter and enhancer sequences (349-351).

RET signalling is mediated by binding of a group of soluble proteins of the glial cell linederived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) family ligands (GFLs), which also includes neurturin (NRTN), artemin (ARTN) and persephin (PSPN) (352). Unlike other RTKs, RET does not directly bind to GFLs, but it requires an additional co-receptor: that is, one of four GDNF family receptor- α (GFR α) family members, which are tethered to the cell surface by glycosylphosphatidy-linositol linkage. GFLs and GFR α family members form binary complexes that in turn bind to RET and recruit it into cholesterol-rich membrane sub-domains, which are known as lipid rafts, where RET signalling occurs (352, 353) (Fig 3.3.1). Upon binding of the ligand coreceptor complex, RET dimerization and autophosphorylation on intra-cellular tyrosine residues recruits adaptor and signalling proteins to stimulate multiple downstream pathways.



Fig 3.3.1: RET functional domains and downstream signaling. RET ligands bind their respective GFRa co-receptors (full arrows indicate the preferred interactions, broken arrow indicates potential interactions) and activate RET. GFRa proteins have three cysteine-rich domains (except for GFRa4, which has only two) and are attached to the plasma membrane by a GPI anchor. Activation of RET leads to trans-phosphorylation of tyrosine residues (Y) in the RET kinase domain resulting in the recruitment of different signaling molecules and adaptor proteins as highlighted in the zoomed area. (Source: Trends in Mol. Medicine, Volume 17, Issue 3, p149–157, March 2011, Cell Press)

3.3.1.2 RET rearrangements: RET and the other genes involved

RET/PTC rearrangement has been known for almost two decades as one of the most common molecular alterations in thyroid papillary carcinoma. It was discovered in 1987 by Fusco et al (354) using a transfection assay on NIH3T3 cells, which revealed the transforming activity of DNA isolated from papillary carcinomas. In the thyroid gland, RET protein is strongly expressed in parafollicular C-cells consistently with its role in the development of neural crest-derived structures (354). In some PTCs, the tyrosine kinase domain of RET is fused with an heterologous gene that provides the promoter and the 5' coding region (355). The product of this rearrangement is a chimeric oncogene named RET /papillary thyroid carcinoma (*RET/PTC*). Since the original report, at least 11 types of *RET/PTC* variants have been isolated (355). Most of these rearrangements are between RET on chromosome 10 and genes located on different chromosomes. By contrast, RET/PTC1 and RET/PTC3 are intrachromosomal paracentric inversions because the genes involved H4 and RFG (also designated ELE1/ARA70/NCOA4) are also all located on chromosome 10 (355,356). RET/PTC1 and RET/PTC3 account for the vast majority of the variants, while the others are very rare and have little clinical significance. The chimeric RET/PTC protein generated by the genetic recombinations lacks the transmembrane domain and the extracellular regulatory region of RET but retains the coiled-coil domains in the RET partner coding sequences, necessary for the dimerization process. This determines the cytoplasmic location of the chimeric protein, its ligand-independent dimerization, and its autophosphorylation at residues 1015 and 1062 responsible for the oncogenic activity of the *RET/PTC* chimera (357).

3.3.1.3 *RET/PTC* in thyroid cancer

RET rearrangements are an exclusive occurrence of thyroid gland. A possible explanation for this restriction is that contiguity between RET and the recombinant genes occurs in nuclei of thyroid cells but not in other cell types (358). After its initial discovery in 1985, a large survey conducted in the following decades evidenced the frequent occurrence of *RET/PTC* in PTC and its sporadic oligoclonal occurrence in benign thyroid lesions. The estimated prevalence of RET rearrangement in PTC is highly variable among different studies. A crucial factor responsible for this wide variability is the detection method. Another important factor is tumour subtype composition. PTC is a heterogeneous tumour including very frequent variants such as classic PTC, FVPTC, and some uncommon PTC variants such as tall-cell PTC (tcPTC), diffuse sclerosing, columnar-cell, Hurthle-cell, cribri-form, and solid variants (359). The reported prevalence of RET rearrangements in classical PTC was generally higher than that in FVPTC. RET/PTC, mostly the RET/PTC1, has been detected in a relevant percentage of Hurthle-cell variant PTC, in the cribriform variant, which is typically associated with familial adenomatous polyposis, and in hyalinizing trabecular tumour, a borderline thyroid neoplasm with many histological features similar to PTC (360, 361). Ionizing radiations are known to be a relevant cause for genetic alteration and carcinogenesis because they are particularly effective in inducing DNA double-strand breaks. The association of *RET* rearrangements with radiation exposure was sustained by the observation that the incidence of PTCs is severely increased in radio-iodine contaminated areas following a linear relationship with dose exposition, as seen in Chernobyl. (362). In the comparative analysis of *RET* rearrangements in sporadic and radiation-induced thyroid tumours performed by Nikiforov et al. (363), RET/PTC1 was shown to be the dominant type within sporadic carcinomas and was strongly related to the classic variant, while RET/PTC3 was predominant among radiation-induced carcinomas and more frequent in the solid PTC variant (Fig 3.3.2).



Figure 3.3.2: Schematic representation of the three initially described types of *RET/PTC* (*RET/PTC*1, *RET/PTC*2, and *RET/PTC*3). All rearrangements result from the fusion of the tyrosine kinase domain of *RET* to the 5' portion of different genes that are constitutively expressed in thyroid follicular cells. All *RET* fusion genes encode putative dimerization domains (CC, coiled-coil domain; C18 and C39, cysteine residues forming disulfide bonds during dimerization) essential for ligand-independent activation of the truncated *RET* receptor.

3.3.1.4 Patho-physiological aspects of RET/PTC

There are several lines of evidence pointing to *RET/PTC* as a driving event in thyroid carcinogenesis. The rat thyroid cells- PCCl3 change morphology, lose their differentiated functions, and are no longer TSH dependent for growth when stably transformed by *RET/PTC3* (364). However, acute expression of *RET/PTC* is sufficient to block the expression of TSH receptor and generation of cAMP, but it is insufficient to allow cells to

grow in the absence of TSH, suggesting that *RET/PTC* is a weak tumour-initiating factor and that secondary genetic or epigenetic changes are required for full transformation into a cancer cell as suggested by Wang et.al. (365). Transgenic mice expressing RET/PTC1 develop thyroid papillary carcinomas with features very similar to those shown by human PTC. These tumours are characterized by nuclear grooves and ground glass cells, slow growth rate, TSH responsiveness, continued expression of thyroglobulin, and loss of radioiodide concentrating activity (365, 366). Similarly, RET/PTC3 transgenic mice develop thyroid hyperplasia and locally invasive solid subtype of PTC with lymph node metastasis (367). However, not all the *RET/PTC* transgenic animals develop thyroid cancer, and it appears only after a long latency period. This evidence suggests that other molecular events are required for the development of thyroid carcinomas. This concept is further supported by the finding that RET rearrangements can occur only in a fraction of the cells in some PTC, thus being a secondary event in these tumours, and by the presence of *RET/PTC* in sporadic cells in HT and benign nodules. Radiation exposures, cellular over-proliferation, production of free radicals and chemokine secretion have been hypothesized to account for the occurrence of intrachromosomal rearrangements in these benign thyroid lesions (368). The biological significance of *RET/PTC* in benign lesions is a challenging task. A recent study has tried to answer the question whether this oncogene changes the fate of benign nodules. Sapio et al. (369) searched for *RET* rearrangements in a cohort of benign thyroid nodules in patients subjected to a careful clinical and ultrasonographic follow up for 3 years. The researchers did not find evidence of cancer development but demonstrated that nodules harbouring RET/PTC grow more rapidly than those without the oncogene. This finding is consistent with the hypothesis that even the presence of a small portion of cells having RET/PTC may have biological and clinical consequences in benign nodules. While the mechanisms underlying the more rapid growth of these nodules remain unclear, it can be hypothesized that the proinflammatory transcriptional program activated by *RET/PTC*, including upregulation of various cytokines, chemokines, and their corresponding receptors, can stimulate thyroid cell proliferation through a autocrine/paracrine mechanism extended to the neighboring cells and involving a larger part of the nodule as reported by Mellilo et.al., and Borrello et. al. (*370*, *371*). More studies with longer follow-up are needed to clarify the clinical significance of low level of *RET* rearrangements in benign nodules.

3.3.2. Aims and Objectives

As inconclusive cytology from a FNAB is seen quite frequently and BRAF as molecular marker does not cover the complete PTC histotype. Hence, the introduction of additional molecular markers in the preoperative diagnosis of thyroid nodules has been proposed in recent years. In this study, we explored the clinical implications of preoperative detection of rearrangements of the *RET* gene in thyroid nodules. The prevalence of *RET/PTC* in PTC depends on the histological subtypes, geographical factors, radiation exposure, and detection method.

Though initially reported decades ago, there are relatively very few reports of this rearrangements and its prevalence in different races of the world. Recently, very sensitive detection methods, FISH and Southern blot on RT-PCR amplicons, demonstrated increased frequency of detection of *RET* rearrangement.

Our study is the first of its kind from patients from Indian population aimed towards detection of *RET/PTC* rearrangements in PTC and study its coexistence with BRAF point mutations along with its clinico-pathological significance.

3.3.3 Materials and Methods:

Identical set of frozen tissue samples were used for $PAX8/PPAR\gamma$ and RET/PTC rearrangement.

3.3.3.1 Detection of *RET/PTC* Rearrangement by RT-PCR:

As recent literature reports suggest that roughly 90% of *RET/PTC* rearrangements observed in thyroid tumours are *RET/PTC*1 and *RET/PTC*3, while *RET/PTC*2 is rarely seen (Fig 3.3.2). Therefore, our study was focused on these three variants. Previous reports suggest the prevalence of these rearrangements in PTC. However, as we are reporting for the first time from India, we have included all the histological subtypes as per their prevalence.

RET/PTC rearrangements were detected by RTPCR with the same cDNA used in PAX8/PPAR γ translocation analysis. RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis was performed as described previously in Section 3.1.3.

Forward primers were designed on the coiled-coil domains of the *RET* fusion partners: H4 (10q21) for *RET/PTC*1, RLa for *RET/PTC*2 (17q23) and RFG for *RET/PTC*3 (10q11.2). The common antisense primer was specific for *RET* gene.

Amplifications by PCR were carried out using forward primers specific for H4, RI α and ELE1 and reverse primer specific for *RET* gene in three separate PCR reactions for each sample. The oligonucleotide primer sequences (Xcelris Labs, India) are presented in Table 3.3.1. RT- PCR was performed with 2µL cDNA, using the following conditions: 94 °C for 15 sec, 60 °C for 30 sec, and 72 °C for 1 min for over 40 cycles of amplification.

Reactions contained final concentrations of 20 mm Tris-HCl (pH 8.4), 50 mm KCl, 400um dNTPs (Invitrogen), 2 mm MgCl2, 10 pmol of both primers, and 1.5 U of Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen). Negative controls for cDNA synthesis and PCRs, in which the template was replaced by sterile water, were included in each experiment. Positive controls were tumours samples harbouring *RET/PTC* rearrangements. RNA integrity and efficiency of cDNA synthesis were confirmed in each sample by RT-PCR for the housekeeping gene β -Actin. PCR products were analyzed by electrophoresis in a 5% polyacrylamide gel and

purified by running in 1.5% Agarose gel. All results were repeated at least two times from different batches of cDNA at different times with same RNA sample.

Primer	Complementary	Primer Sequence	Amplicon
	Gene		Size
RETPTC1F	H4	5'CAAAGCCAGCGTTACCATCG3'	81 bp
RETPTC2F	RΙα	5'GAAATTGTGGGGGCATCGACC3'	108 bp
RETPTC3F	ELE1 (RGF)	5'CAAGCTCCTTACATACC3'	134 bp
RETPTC R	RETPTC	5'CCTTCTCCTAGAGTTTTTCC3'	why blank?
B Actin F	β Acitn	5' TGC GTG ACA TTA AGG AGA AG3'	
B Actin R	β Acitn	5' GCT CGT AGC TCT TCT CCA 3'	

Table 3.3.1: RT-PCR Primers for detection of RET/PTC Rearrangements:



Fig 3.3.3: A, B and C showing RT-PCR analysis of RET/ PTC1, RET/ PTC2 and *RET/PTC3* expression in representative thyroid tumour samples. RET/ PTC1 (A) and *RET/PTC3* (C) shoed positive amplicons for the two rearrangements; whereas RET/ PTC2 amplicon was not found in any sample indicating absence of the chimeric transcript in the tissues.

e e	-				
Histology		RET PTC1		1	
	Total	Po	sitive	Neg	gative
		N	%	N	%
Papillary Carcinoma	32	9	28.1	23	71.8
Classical Variant	25	9	36	16	64
Poorly Differentiated	0	0	0	0	0
(PDTC)					
Foll. Var. of PTC (FVPTC)	6	0	0	6	100
Tall Cell Variant	0	0	0	0	
Hurthle Cell Carcinoma	1	0		1	100
(HCC)					
Diffuse Sclerosing variant	0	0		0	
Follicular Carcinoma	13	0		13	100
Follicular Adenoma	6	0		6	
Medullary Carcinoma	10	0		10	
Benign hyperplasia	16	0		16	

 Table 3.3.2: Prevalence of RET PTC 1rearrangement in 62 patients

 with thyroid neoplasia

The second most frequent genetic alteration found in PTC is RET rearrangement leading to the generation of chimeric *RET/PTC* oncogenes. To confirm the expression of fusion mRNAs in tumour tissues, assay was performed with primers designed to flank the fusion point between *RET* and its partner gene (H4 or RFG) as illustrated in Fig. 3.3.2 and 3.3.3. Amplification of *RET* gene revealed two specific translocation, *RET/PTC1 (H4-RET)* and *RET/PTC3 (RFG-RET)* in our patient population. Whereas *RET/PTC2* rearrangements was

not found. To further confirm whether *BRAF* mutation and *RET/PTC* rearrangements are coexisting or alternative events, prevalence of *BRAF* V600E was also investigated.

Histology		RET PTC3 Positive Negative		3	
	Total			Negative	
		N	%	N	%
Papillary Carcinoma	32	9	28.1	23	71.8
Classical Variant	25	8	32	17	68
Poorly Differentiated	0	0	0	0	0
(PDTC)					
Foll. Var. of PTC (FVPTC)	6	1	16.6	5	83.3
Tall Cell Variant	0	0	0	0	
Hurthle Cell Carcinoma	1	0	-	1	100
(HCC)					
Diffuse Sclerosing variant	0	0	-	0	
Follicular Carcinoma	13	0	-	13	100
Follicular Adenoma	6	0	-	6	
Medullary Carcinoma	10	0	-	10	
Benign hyperplasia	16	0	-	16	

 Table 3.3.3: Prevalence of RET/PTC3 rearrangement in 62 thyroid neoplasia patients

In Tables 3.3.1, 3.3.2 and 3.3.3 we have summarized the prevalence and correlation with clinico-pathological data of the 62 cases of thyroid carcinoma including 32 PTC (26 Classical PTC and 6 FVPTC), 13 FTC, 6 FTA and 10 MTC.

The mean age \pm SD was 47.6 \pm 13.5 yr, and the mean tumour size \pm SD was 3.9 \pm 2.6 cm. *RET/PTC* rearrangement was found in 14 (22.5%) of 62 thyroid carcinoma patient samples.

Among all the histological subtypes, *RET/PTC* rearrangement was exclusively found in PTC and not in any other subtype including FTC, MTC or FTA. Rearrangement was detected in 13 (52%) of the 25 classical PTCs and one (16.7%) of six FVPTC samples. One case of PTC with Hurthle Cell pattern did not show any mutation.

Table 3.3.4: Prevalence of *RET/PTC* Rearrangement along with its complementarities and coexistence with BRAF^{V600E} mutation in PTC

Mutation	RET/PTC (n/N)	PERCENTAGE
<i>RET/PTC</i> (1, 2 and 3)	14/32	43.7%
RET/PTC 1	9/32	28%
RET/PTC 2	0/32	-
RET/PTC 3	9/32	28%
Coexistence of RETPTC and BRAF:		
<i>RET/PTC</i> 1 + BRAF	5/32	15.6%
<i>RET/PTC3</i> + BRAF	9/32	28%
<i>RET/PTC</i> 1+ RETPTC3+BRAF	3/32	9.3%
Complementarities in RETPTC and BRAF:		
<i>RET/PTC</i> ONLY	4/32	12.5%
BRAF ONLY	7/32	21.8%

Both *RET/PTC*1 and *RET/PTC*3 were equally prevalent with nine cases (28.1%) each. RET/PTC1 was found in 9 (36%) of 25 cases of classical PTC exclusively. Whereas, *RET/PTC*3 was found in 8 (32%) of 25 PTC and 1 (16.7) of 6 FVPTCs.

Relevantly, taken together, BRAF and *RET/PTC* showed a considerable coexistence as well as occurring independently. BRAF^{V600E} mutation was found in all the 9 (28% of the PTC) RET/PTC 3 rearrangement (Fig 3.3.4). Whereas *RET/PTC* 1 was detected to coexist with *BRAF* in 5 (15.6% of PTC) Patients. Three rearrangement in combination was found in 3 (9.3%) of 32 PTC. *RET/PTC* alone represents 12.5 % and *BRAF* represent 53.4% of PTC population. Thus, taken together, *BRAF* and *RET/PTC* detection will help to identify 65.9% (12.5% +53.4%) of PTC samples in our population.



Fig 3.3.4: Coexistence of *RET/PTC* and *BRAF* point mutation in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma.

3.3.3.2 Clinico-pathological correlation:

The association between *RET/PTC* and various clinico-pathological parameters were assessed in 62 samples (Table 3.3.3) by Fisher's exact test, univariate and multitariate logistic regression analysis. There was a considerable coexistence of *RET/PTC3* and *BRAF* in the study group (p<0.001). Although there was no association of *RET/PTC* (1 and 3) rearrangement with extra-thyroidal extension, metastasis, stage, tumour size, age at diagnosis or gender.

3.3.5 Discussion:

Our understanding of the molecular biology of PTC has made a step forward with the discovery that roughly 50% of PTC harbour one specific activating point mutation in the *BRAF* gene (179, 191, 218, 372). Though *BRAF* is an attractive molecular marker with high prevalence combined in PTC, there is an urgent need for finding additional markers for remaining 50% PTC population harbouring no *BRAF* mutation.

Another genetic lesion that is often present in PTC is the recombination of the RET kinase to heterologous genes, leading to the generation of chimeric *RET/PTC* oncogenes (*373*). There is considerable variation in prevalence of *RET/PTC* rearrangements in published reports from different ethnicities. Though its occurrence is lesser than that of *BRAF* mutations, there is a controversy on its role in thyroid tumourigenesis and coexistence with *BRAF*. Incidental detection of *RET/PTC* in Hashimoto thyroiditis also complicate the use of *RET/PTC* in the molecular diagnosis of PTC (*374-377*).

In this study, we also analyzed the 62 samples for the presence of either *RET/PTC*1, *RET/PTC*2 and *RET/PTC*3 and found that 43.7% of PTC samples were *RET/PTC* positive. In contrary to previous reports, 28 % patients harbouring *RET/PTC* were positive for *BRAF*

(286, 314). All of these samples with coexisting genetic alterations *RET/PTC3* rearrangement. This limits the use of *RET/PTC3* rearrangement as additional diagnostic marker for PTC. However 12.5% PTCs analyzed were exclusively carrying *RET/PTC1* rearrangement giving us an advantage to use it as a diagnostic marker.

					Fisher's		
				test (2	Multivariate Logistic		
	RET PTC		C (1,2,3)		t)	Regression Analysis	
	Positiv	'e	Negat	ive	Р	Р	Odds ratio
					(95%CI)		
	n	%	n	%			
Tumour Stage					0.365	0.708	0.693 (0.12-4.7)
(PTC)							
ΤI	2/9	22.2	7	77.7			
TII	6/11	54.5	5	45.4			
T IIIIV	6/12	50	6	50			
Gender (PTC)					1.0	0.729	1.4(0.20-9.6)
Male	7/16	43.7	9	56.2			
Female	7/16	43.7	9	56.2			
Age(PTC)					0.711	0.204	3.7 (0.49-27.8)
≥40 yr	10/21	47.6	11	52.4			
<40 yr	4/11	36.3	7	63.6			
Node Metastasis					0.307	0.715	1.63 (0.12-22.2)
Yes	9/47	74.4	8	25.6			
No	5/39	28.2	10	71.8			
Tumour size (mm)					0.812	0.626	1.3 (0.37-5.1)
range, mean \pm SD							
<10 mm	2/6	33.3	4	66.6			
10–40 mm	6/13	46.1	7	53.8			
>40 mm	6/13	46.1	7	53.8			
BRAF ^{V600E} Mutn.					0.0731	0.097	5.4(0.73-39.5)
BRAF Positive	9/13	69.2	4	30.7			
BRAF Negative	6/18	33.3	12	66.6			
Extra-thyroidal					0.412	0.851	1.33 (0.06-26.8)
Extension							
Yes	12/24	50	12	50			

 Table 3.3.5: Association between RET PTC rearrangements and clinico-pathological parameters in papillary thyroid carcinoma

Thus, we envisage the possibility that the BRAF mutation analysis could be combined with RET/PTC detection to increase the fraction of identifiable PTC. A larger and prospective

study will be necessary to calculate the diagnostic utility of this dual marker analysis in FNAB samples to avert unwanted surgery in benign hyperplasia. Of course, the absence of *BRAF* mutations will not exclude a malignant condition (*378*). Nonetheless, a positive finding can support decision making about the extent of surgery, planning for radioiodine therapy and probable chemotherapy more informed.

Another challenge in cytology, faced in diagnosis of FVPTC needs to be addressed in this context. Our data supported by previous reports, show a low prevalence of *RET/PTC* (16%) (355) and *BRAF* (11.7% as described in chapter 2.4) in FVPTC (224, 379, 380). This means that a large fraction of PTC-FV would remain unrecognized at the molecular analysis with only *RET/PTC* and *BRAF*. Therefore, there is need for novel molecular markers like PAX8/PPAR γ (33.3% as reported by us in chapter 2.4) for specific FVPTC subtype that can be used in adjunct to *RET/PTC* and *BRAF* detection.

Finally, multiplexing of all these markers in molecular diagnosis can provide an advantage in determining treatment modality and better prognosis for thyroid cancer patients, particularly in our country, where access to molecular techniques is available in limited centres.

Chapter 4

RET gene point mutations in Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma 4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 Medullary Thyroid Carcinoma: MTC is a rare type of cancer constituting only 5–10% of thyroid cancer cases. Of the 54,000 cases of thyroid cancer reported by Horner et.al. from the National Cancer Base in US, from 1985 to 1995, 2,000 are MTC *(381)*. Seventy-five percent of MTCs are sporadic; while the rest are associated with hereditary germ-line mutations in RET proto-oncogene *(382, 383)*. MTC can also coexist with other neoplasia, constituting the syndromes like MEN-2A and MEN-2B. Following anaplastic thyroid carcinoma, MTC has the second worst prognosis with an average 10-year survival being 50–80%, but this rate varies depending on age and TNM stage at the time of diagnosis *(384-387)*. Unfortunately, half of the MTC patients present with metastases at first diagnosis. Like other thyroid cancers, frequency of MTC is higher in women, with a female to male ratio of 2:1 *(388)*.

4.1.2 Histology of MTC:

Parafollicular cells constitute only 0.1% of thyroid cells. They are scattered throughout the thyroid gland, but are most numerous at the junction of the upper third and lower two thirds. Because they are responsible for synthesizing, storing, and secreting calcitonin, parafollicular cells possess extensive endoplasmic reticulum; this endoplasmic reticulum stains clear and therefore parafollicular cells are also referred to as "clear cells" or "C-cells" (*389*). Follicular cells develop as early as the 3rd week of gestation, and are derived from a diverticulum of the foregut, whereas parafollicular cells develop around the 12th week of gestation, and are derived from neural crest tissue.



Fig 4.1: A. MTC is associated with multiple endocrine neoplasia syndrome, a group of with tumours of the endocrine medical disorders associated system. MEN includes MEN2A, MEN2B and familial medullary thyroid cancer, each with its own characteristic pattern. B. Oncogenic heritable RET mutations that are identified in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type (MEN) are generally point mutations that lie at specific sites the RET protein. (Source: in http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Multiple endocrine neoplasia)

This embryologic dichotomy has implications for the development of MTC and its unique treatment as a neuroendocrine tumour.

4.1.3 C-Cell Hyperplasia (CCH)

In normal thyroid tissue, C-cells are only seen sporadically around the thyroid follicle. When C-cells proliferate at an accelerated rate it results into CCH. Histologically, CCH is defined by the presence of more than six C-cells per thyroid follicle, or more than 50 C-cells visualized in one low power field $(100 \times)$ (391-394).

Frank MTC is always preceded by CCH; but the the presence of CCH usually, not always, implies progression to MTC (53, 395). In fact, 20–30% of healthy individuals may have CCH evident on thyroid biopsy, and CCH is also commonly seen in autoimmune

thyroiditis and FTCs. When C-cells become prolific, they are more likely to disrupt and invade the follicular basement membrane. Disruption of the basement membrane is what defines MTC from CCH (*391, 396, 397*). The extent of CCH and rate of progression to MTC are associated with the type of RET mutation, which is discussed more thoroughly in the upcoming pages.

4.1.4 Pathology:

Grossly, MTC is firm in consistency and gray-white to tan-pink in color; it is well circumscribed but not encapsulated. Microscopically, MTC consists of many cells separated by fibrous stroma (53, 395). Unlike normal parafollicular cells which are usually round, MTC cells can be polygonal, round, or most often, spindle shaped. Because of their extensive endoplasmic reticulum for calcitonin production, the cytoplasm stains eosinophilic with conventional H&E staining; likewise, the cells also stain positive for calcitonin and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) on immunohistochemical staining. Extensive calcification and amyloid deposition also help distinguish the tumour. Mitotic figures are rarely seen.

Parafollicular cells primarily secrete calcitonin. Other secreted products include CEA, somatostatin, proopiomelanocortin (POMC), ACTH, vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), gastrin-releasing peptide, neurotensin, prostaglandins, kinins, serotonin, histaminase, chromogranin A (CgA) [especially in patients with concomitant pheochromocytoma], and neuron-specific enolase (*398-401*). Patients with elevated calcitonin and/or VIP levels may present with diarrhea and flushing, and patients with elevated ACTH levels may present with typical Cushingoid signs and symptoms.

4.1.5 RET mutations and hereditary medullary thyroid cancer (HMTC):

To date, 98% of affected families with HMTC apparently exhibit genetic linkage to the RET gene locus and only a small percentage of MEN2 families have had no RET mutation detected (Fig 4.1). Isolated FMTC has been traditionally associated with germline activating mutations of the extracellular region of RET, mainly at exons 10 and 11, in the extracellular domain which is associated with the three-dimensional ligand binding pocket. These mutations lead to ligand-independent dimerization and receptor activation (402,403). Noncysteine mutations of the intracellular region of RET in exons 13–16 are less commonly linked to FMTC while mutations in other exons have been rarely reported in isolated families. Some mutations (particularly codons 532, 533, 630, 769, V804M, 844, 912) are thought to be relatively specific for FMTC (404). However, codon 533 is also associated with MEN2A, indicating that only time and observation in large numbers of families can confirm this specificity. Nowadays, FMTC constitutes a challenging form of MTC, which is considered as a phenotypic mildest variant of MEN2A. A number of FMTC patients finally have MEN2A while a significant overlap in the observed RET mutations, is commonly found. Different RET mutations lead to the distinct clinical syndromes of MEN2A, MEN2B, and FMTC while a significant overlap exists between RET mutations associated with FMTC or MEN2A. The great majority of patients with MEN2A have mutations of RET in exons 10, 11, 13-16 while patients with MEN2B exhibit a single mutation at exon 16 (405, 406). Due to a strong genotype-phenotype correlation in MTC, the genetic analysis and the identification of specific germline RET mutations offer important information regarding the penetrance of MTC and associated lesions. In addition, the same mutations are associated with significantly earlier progression from C-cell hyperplasia to MTC and earlier lymph node involvement than patients with most other mutations related to MEN2A and FMTC (407, 408).



Fig 4.2: Molecular mechanisms of oncogenic RET mutations. The activation of wild-type RET requires the binding of a ligand and co-receptor complex. However, mutant forms of RET identified in human cancer can have one of several different activation mechanisms. (Source: and Nature Review, Cancer, Volume 14, March 2014, 173-185)

4.1.6 RET Point Mutation in Sporadic MTC (SMTC):

Approximately 50-60% of specimens from patients with SMTC, are reported to contain somatic but not germline RET mutations (407). The most common somatic mutations occur in exons 14, 15 and 16 while less common somatic mutations in exons 10 and 11 are found associated with poor prognosis (409). Murra et al, have demonstrated somatic mutations in 64.7% of MTC tumours. Exon 16 was the most frequently affected (60.6%), followed by exon 15, while exons 5, 8, 10-14, were less affected. Mutations in exons 15 and 16 were associated with higher prevalence of persistent, multifocal MTC with a spread in regional lymph nodes, while mutations in exons 5, 8, 10-14, were associated with the most indolent course of MTC. Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) of RET has been shown to be more

frequent in patients with SMTC compared with healthy subjects, associated with an earlier age of MTC, and with higher calcitonin levels. The real significance of the observed mutations is not clear. At present, genetic testing for tumour mutations of the RET is not part of the routine practice in patients with SMTC, as the clinical utility is still undefined (79, 410, 411). However, screening of individuals with apparently sporadic MTC may uncover germline RET mutations in approximately 7% of cases (411). Thus, it might be useful to perform RET genetic testing in all patients with MTC, even in those with apparently SMTC.

4.2 Aims and Objectives:

Much prospective data have been obtained since the discovery of RET mutations, but the true frequency of inherited disease among apparent sporadic MTC cases and the frequency of *de novo* germline mutations of the RET proto-oncogene remain a matter of discussion. The extent of genetic analysis needed for exclusion of inherited disease is also not well defined. Although, every mutations do not need to be included in routine diagnosis, there have only been a few attempts to define the risk of inherited disease in relation to the range of genetic investigations. Published data indicate differences among the frequencies of mutations in exon 10, 11, 13, 14 and 16 mutations in analyzed populations.

In the present pilot scale analysis with only 25 samples (which is a part of ongoing larger analysis in collaboration with Tata Cancer Hospital, Mumbai) our goal was to find the prevalence of reported and novel mutation and estimate the risk associated with these mutations in MTC patients (including both sporadic and hereditary cases) in the Indian population.

4.3 Materials and Methods:

4.3.1 Acquisition of Tumour Tissue Specimens:

Frozen and paraffin embedded thyroid tissues from thyroid cancer patients who had attended the clinic between 2000 and 2010 were retrieved from the Tissue Repository of Tata Memorial Hospital, Mumbai, India for analysis of RET gene mutations at exon 10, 11, 13, 14 and 16. A total of 25 specimens with adequate clinical and pathological information were studied. Patients were staged using the tumour-node-metastases (TNM) system and classified according to the presence of extra-thyroidal extension, cervical nodes and distant metastases.

4.3.2 Molecular Analysis:

4.3.2.1 Genomic DNA Extraction:

Nucleic acid extraction was performed as described previously in the Chapter 2, section 2.1.

4.3.2.2 Detection of Point Mutations:

PCR Amplification of RET gene exons (Exon 10, Exon 11, Exon 13, Exon 14, Exon 16) was performed using the DNA extracted from the tumour samples.

Amplifications by PCR were carried out using one set of forward and reverse primers specific for each RET gene exon. The oligonucleotide primer sequences (Xcelris Labs Ltd, India) are presented in Table 4.1. PCR was performed with 100ng of genomic DNA, using the following conditions specific for each primer set, for 35 cycles of amplification. Reactions contained final concentrations of 20 mm Tris-HCl (pH 8.4), 50 mM KCl, 400um dNTPs (Invitrogen), 1.5 mm MgCl2, 10 pmol of both primers, and 1.5 IU of Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen). Negative controls for PCRs, in which the template was replaced by sterile water, were included in each experiment. DNA integrity and efficiency of PCR were confirmed in each sample by PCR for the housekeeping gene GAPDH. PCR products were

analyzed by electrophoresis in a 5% polyacrylamide gel and purified by running in 1.5% Agarose gel.

PCR amplified products were gel purified using HiPurA TM Gel Purification Kit following manufacturer's instructions. Sequencing of gel extracted amplicons was performed using Big Dye Terminator Kit as described in Chapter 2.3.

primers	Sequence 5'-3'	T _m	Amplicon
RET 10F	GGAGGCTGAGTGGGCTACG	63.2	210 bp
RET 10R	GTGCTGTTGAGACCTCTGTGG		
RET 11F	CCTCTGCGGTGCCAAGCCTC	63.1	234bp
RET 11R	CACCGGAAGAGGAGTAGCTG		
RET 13F	GCAGGCCTCTCTGTCTGAACTT	64	295bp
RET 13R	GGAGAACAGGGCTGTATGGA		
RET 14F	TCCTGGAAGACCCAAGCTGC	65	300bp
RET 14R	CTGGGTGCAGAGCCATATGC		
RET 16F	AGGGATAGGGCCTGGGCTTCT	63.1	194bp
RET16R	TAGGTGATTTTGGTCTAGCTACAGT		

Table 4.1: Primers for amplification of RET Exons 10, 11, 13, 14 and 16

4.3 Results:

4.3.1 Prevalence of RET point Mutations:

Amplicons of different RET gene exons from genomic DNA from the samples on 5% polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, indicating specific amplification of the exons is shown in Fig. 4.3. The nucleotide sequences of the exons identified the PCR products as RET exons 10, 11, 13, 14 and 16, with complete homology to the exons, with exception of the mutated nucleotides. The representative sequencing electropherogram of all the exons demonstrating the normal sequences and the mutation observed is given in figure 4.4 and 4.5.

From our preliminary studies, RET point mutations were observed in 14 (56%) out of 25 patients, indicated in Table 4.2. Mutation in RET exon 13 was having the highest prevalence being found in 12 (48%) patients. RET exon 10 and 11 were having mutations in 4 (16%) and 1 (4%) patient respectively. We did not find any mutation in exon 16 (Fig 4.6).



Fig 4.3: Amplicons of different RET gene exons: 100 bp DNA ladder followed by Exon 10 (lane 1,2); Exon 11 (lane 3, 4); Exon 13 (lane 5); Exon 14 (lane 6); Exon 16 (lane 7, 8)

Table 4.2: The results of RET (Exon 10, 11, 13, 14, 16) point mutation of each patient along with their pathological attributes

RET exons	Total	No of Patients			
		Positive		Negative	
	(%)	Ν	%	n	%
RET exon 10	56	4	16	21	84
RET exon 11		1	4	24	96
RET exon 13		12	48	13	52
RET exon 14		1	4	24	96
RET exon 16		0	-	25	-



Fig 4.4: Sequencing electropherogram of RET gene, exon 10 and exon 11. A. Codon 595 and 605 showing amino acid change of Gln to Arg and Lys to Asn respectively. B. Codon 656 and 709 demonstrating amino acid change of Met to Ser and Phe to Cys respectively

Sequence analysis of the critical RET gene exons 10, 11, 13, 14 and 16 were compared with reference RET gene nucleotide sequence. For both DNA (NC_000010.11) and mRNA (NM_020975.4) were used for sequence alignment and identification of the SNPs. We observed transversion mutation in exon 10 codon 595 (AAG to AAT) with amino acid change of Lys to Asn. Another transition mutation in codon 605 (CAG to CGG) resulting into replacement of Gln with Arg. Exon 11 harboured a number of rare SNPs in codon 657, codon666, codon 672, codon 673, codon 679, codon686 and codon 709. Among these nucleotide alterations codon 676 and codon 709 resulted into Phe to Ile and Phe to Cys conversion. Genetic variants at codon 769 observed in exon 13 was a polymorphism with nucleotide CTT to CTG conversion resulting into alternate codn for Leu. Similar polymorphism was observed for exon 14at codon 836 with nucleotide change producing alternate codon for Ser.



Fig4.5: Sequencing electropherogram of RET gene, exon 11, 13 and 14. A. Codon 672 and 605 showing amino acid change of Ala toThr and Glu toAsp respectively. B. Codon 769 and 836 of exon 13 and 14 shows polymorphic changes to same amino acids.

4.3.2 Clinico-pathological correlation:

Though this analysis, to date, contains few samples for precise interpretation, an attempt has been made to deduce correlation with clinical parameters using Fisher's Exact Test and Multivariate Logistic regression analysis.



Fig:4.6: Frequency of genetic alerations in different exons of RET proto-oncogene

The mean age \pm SD was 43.5 \pm 10.0 yr, and the mean tumour size \pm SD was 2.6 \pm 1.5 cm. The association between RET point mutation and various clinico-pathological parameters were assessed in 25 samples (Table 4.3). The RET mutation was significantly associated with the presence of metastasis (Fisher's test, P < 0.05 and Univariate regression, p<0.005). RET point mutation was also associated with tumour stage (p<0.05). No significant association was found between the presence of RET mutation and gender of patients (p=1) ie. there is exactly equal probability of occurrence of this rearrangement in both the genders. Age (p=0.41), Tumour size (p=0.45) and extra-thyroidal extension (p=0.12) also had no association.

Although Fisher's exact test showed association with two different clinico-pathological parameters, Multivariate regression analysis revealed no significant association at 95% confidence interval.

	RET N		Mutation		Fisher's test (2 tail)	Univariate Regression
	Pos	sitive	Negative		Р	Р
	Ν	%	Ν	%		
Tumour Stage					0.017*	0.004
ΤΙ	4	36	7	64		
T II	1	25	3	75		
T IIIIV	8	88.9	1	11.1		
Gender					1.0	0.69
Male	10	58.8	7	41.2		
Female	4	50	4	50		
Age					0.41	0.58
≥45yr	4	40	6	60		
<45yr	8	61.5	5	38.5		
Metastasis					0.013*	0.004
Yes	8	88.9	1	11.1		
No	5	33.3	10	66.6		
Extra-thyroidal					0.12	0.071
Extension						
Yes	8	72.7	3	27.2		
No	5	61.5	8	38.4		
Tumour size (mm)					0.45	0.19
range, mean \pm SD	1	33.3	2	66.6		
<10 mm	8	50	8	50		
10–40 mm	4	80	1	20		
>40 mm						

 Table 4.3: Association between RTE mutation and clinico-pathological parameters in medullary thyroid carcinoma

* p<0.05

Exon	Codon	Nucleotide Change	AminoAcid Change
10	595	AAG to AAT	Lys to Asn
10	605	CAG to CGG	Gln to Arg
13	769	CTT to CTG	Leu to Leu
14	836	AGC to AGT	Ser to Ser
11	657	ATC to AGC	Met to Ser
11	666	AAG to AAC	Lys to Asn
11	672	GCT to ACT	Ala to Thr
11	673	GAG to GAC	Glu to Asp
11	676	TTC to ATC	Phe to Ile
11	686	AGC to ACC	Ser to Thr
11	709	TTC to TGC	Phe to Cys

Table 4.4: Summary of Point Mutations Detected in the RET Proto-Oncogene in MTC

4.5 Discussion:

The confirmation of RET gene mutations as prognosis of clinically diagnosed MTC is gaining importance. In addition, screening of first degree relatives for the mutations indicative of high risk of neoplasias in the members of family mandates analysis of the mutations in MTC. The RET gene mutations are a critical factor in patient management, e. g. to decide on total or partial thyroidectomy or the age at which the child should be subject to surgery (412, 413).

Vast amount of data has been reported to unequivocally establish the value of RET gene mutations in prognosis and management of inherited and sporadic MTC patients, as also to predict risk for family members (407, 410, 414). However, there is paucity of data on RET gene mutations in patients from our Indian population.

We have initiated the investigation on RET gene mutations in MTC patients and observed genetic aleration in RET gene in 56% (14/25) clinically diagnosed MTC patients. Investigations of patients MEN (2A/2B) status and presence of mutation in family members will provide more understanding about our population (415, 416).

From the present pilot analysis, the most frequently observed mutation was in exon 13 at codon 769 (48% patients), followed by mutations in exon 10 (16%), exon 11 (4%) and exon 14 (4%). Among all the genetic alterations observed CAG \rightarrow CGG causes non-polar amino acid Gln to polar amino acid Arg in the translated protein. This may have effect on constitutive activation of RET tyrosine kinase domain. Another activating mutation that altered the polarity of the amino acid includes Lys to Asn (AAG \rightarrow AAC at codon 666) in exon 11. Mutation in the same exon at codon 676 (TTC \rightarrow ATC) and codon 709(TTC \rightarrow TGC) caused conversion of hydrophobic amino acid Phe to nonpolar Ile and Cys respectively. These novel missense mutations observed in following codon: (Lys595Asn), (Glu605Arg), (Met657Ser), (Lys666Asn), (Ala672Thr), (Glu673Asp), (Phe676Ile), (Ser686Thr) and (phe709Cys) ,which code for cysteine rich domain ,transmembrane domain and tyrosine kinase domain, may have role in upregulation of downstream signaling pathways (417, 418).

The most frequent alteration at codon 769 (CTT to CTG) observed in 13 (52%) patients appear to be a polymorphism with no change in amino acid sequence (Leu \rightarrow Leu). Another polymorphism was found at codon 836 (AGC \rightarrow AGT) in one patient. But we could not find major mutations at codon 609 and 634, reported earlier in familial MTCs and MEN2A/B patient on various European sample groups. Though defined as polymorphisms, it cannot be ruled out that these alterations, observed in patients, could have a low level of influence, acting as genetic modifiers and associated with a small increased relative risk for development of the disease. However the statistical analysis performed included both polymorphism and mutations, due to smaller sample pool, can prove erroneous and not reflect the true effect of RET on prognosis of MTC (419-421).

A study with a larger number of patient samples and controls will be needed to confirm the same.

Conclusion

There is an increase in the incidence of thyroid cancer mainly due to awareness among the public and general practitioners and early detection using sensitive methods, like, ultrasound, radioiodine scans and fine needle aspiration cytology. There is statistical evidence to show that thyroid cancer is more frequent in women. Given the relative success we have had in its treatment, there is a need to use the information gathered during diagnosis and follow-up by better understanding the factors that underpin this malignancy and exploring better strategies for diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up. To do so, we must take full advantage of the tremendous advances that have been made in molecular biology, biotechnology and bioinformatics.

Early stage thyroid cancer follows standard treatment modality and often cured by surgical resection and ablation of remnant thyroid tissue with radio-iodine (I-131). However, advanced stage disease is still incurable, and current treatment with chemotherapy has not been shown to significantly improve morbidity or mortality. To address this problem we started by screening BRAF; which is one of the major isoform of MAP Kinase pathway gene RAF. Since the initial discovery of BRAF mutation in human cancers, there have been more than 40 mutations identified in the BRAF gene in different cancers. Amongst these mutations the T1799A point mutation was and still is the most common and accounts for more than 90% of all the mutations found in the BRAF gene. We for the first time demonstrated that the frequency of occurrence of BRAF mutation in sporadic PTCs, mainly in the classic variant of PTC is higher in our patients and confirmed that this mutation is strongly associated with the papillary growth pattern. Among 140 patients who registered in Tata Memorial Hospital, Mumbai, from different parts of the country, BRAF^{V600E} mutation was found in 46 out of 86 PTC patients (53.4%), in comparison with observations from other Asian countries, Japan 36%, Taiwan 46.6 % and Ukraine 22.9 %. Also, the poorly differentiated carcinoma (PDTC) and tall cell variants, which were more aggressive in nature, harboured BRAF mutation more frequently as expected. Further, we found significant correlation of *BRAF* mutation with nodal metastasis (p < 0.005), extra thyroidal invasion (p <0.005) and tumour stage (p <0.005). Thus, our study also disproved the controversy on antagonistic role of BRAF mutation in tumour progression. We also understood from
multivariate regression analysis that, *BRAF* mutation should not be considered independently but should be reviewed along with tumor stage, as another prognostic factor, to determine risk within a particular subtype of PTC. Thus our finding suggested that morphologic typing in combination with *BRAF* mutation status appears to be better prognostic indicator in PTC.

In Mumbai, 3-4% of the cancer patients are reported to suffer from thyroid neoplasia. To the best of our knowledge ours is the one and only published data on the prevalence of *BRAF* mutation in thyroid cancer in patients from the Indian sub continent. Relevantly, considering that the prevalence is >50% in this cohort, *BRAF* gene can be a promising target for small molecular inhibitors for better prognosis of radioiodine refractory thyroid carcinoma patients.

In the second part of this chapter we tried to evaluate a special case of aggressive Tall cell variant with multiple recurrences. A concordance of BRAF mutation with expression of Muc1 and other immune-histochemical prognostic markers were found in this case. We also attempted to establish a link between molecular diagnosis and conventional scanning methods (¹³¹I Scintigraphy and ¹⁸F FDG PET). In this patient, all the metastatic tissue specimens collected at different times as the disease progressed, showed BRAF^{V600E} mutation, indicating that persistent presence of constitutively expressing BRAF may have a role in multiple recurrence.

Some recent literatures also revealed that the aggressiveness of the disease in terms of clinical behavior could be related with the genetic mutation that is associated with aggressive features in Differentiated Thyroid CA. Investigation in more patients with a similar history is in progress in our lab and if proven would open up further research with BRAF specific therapies (e.g. BAY 43-9006, AMG 706, Vemurafenib) in this group of patients.

Activating *H*, *K*, and *N RAS* mutations, a most common type of abnormality of a dominant oncogene in human cancer have been addressed in the third part of this chapter. Several prospective and retrospective analyses in thyroid cancer showed that *RAS* mutations are associated with poor prognosis with a mush varying frequency ranging from 7% to 62%. Further, their prevalence in specific thyroid histotypes was also unclear, necessitating to

investigate the true frequencies in our own population. Using Competitive Allele Specific PCR method (KASP), a technique with much lower turnaround time, we demonstrated that different isoforms of *RAS* mutations define a specific subset of thyroid carcinoma. This is indicated by the close association between oncogenic *NRAS* C13GC with PTC, HRS C13GD with PDTC and exclusive presence of *KRAS* C12GD with PDTC and ATC. Relevantly, we found relative higher prevalence of *RAS* mutations in PDTC of FTC origin which supports the role of *HRAS* and *KRAS* in dedifferentiation of well differentiated follicular thyroid carcinoma. Moreover, analysis of *KRAS* codon 13 and 61 may reveal some more intriguing role in disease progression.

In summary, our results predict that *NRAS* mutations may be a potential prognostic marker for aggressive behavior and poor outcome of thyroid cancer. Additional investigations of activating mutations of *KRAS* (codon13, 61) and *HRAS* (codon 12) may reveal some more important role of these RAS isoforms in disease progression and help in developing for novel treatment modalities.

We have also moved a step towards understanding the role of chromosomal rearrangements in thyroid neoplasia. *PAX8/PPARy* fusion oncogenes, one of the most recently explored determinants of thyroid malignancy, was investigated in the third chapter. Our results raise some interesting issues on the origin and putative relationship between FVPTC and FTC. In a study group of 62 patients, *PAX8/PPARy* fusion oncogene was detected in ~21% cases with much higher prevalence in FVPTC (33%). Detailed histopathological observation of cell nucleus under a microscope reveals a pattern that, this fusion oncogene may be involved in follicular growth pattern of PTC but need additional molecular alterations for the onset of malignancy. Our results are similar to that reported by scientists for other ethnic communities. The observation that this fusion gene confers higher invasive potential to the neoplastic cells in tumour microenvironment is a significant one. Relevantly, no BRAF mutations in the V600E hot-spot coexisted with rearrangement in any of the follicular tumours. Taking into consideration the mutual exclusive prevalence of *BRAF* and *PAX8/PPARy* in FVPTC and based on genome hybridization data from literature, we predicted that PTC, FVPTC and FTC can be considered as different subgroups where FVPTC shares a commonality with rest of the two histotypes in several aspects.

Analysis of another chromosomal rearrangement, leading to the generation of chimeric *RET/PTC* oncogenes, has been described in later part of the third Chapter. There is considerable variation in prevalence of *RET/PTC* rearrangements in published reports from different ethnicities. Though its occurrence is lesser than that of *BRAF* mutations, there is a controversy on its role in thyroid tumourigenesis and coexistence with *BRAF*. In this study group of 62 samples, significant prevalence of *RET/PTC* 1 and 2 (43.7%) was found in PTC histotype with coexistence of *BRAF* in 28% cases. Exclusive presence of *RET/PTC* in 13% cases of PTC envisage the possibility of combining *BRAF* with *RET/PTC* analysis to increase the fraction of identifiable PTC. On the other hand, a low prevalence of *RET/PTC* (16%) and *BRAF* (11.7%) in FVPTC urges the need for novel molecular markers like *PAX8/PPARy* (33.3%) for specific FVPTC subtype that can be used in adjunct to *RET/PTC* and *BRAF* detection.

Our final chapter deals with RET gene mutations in the onset of C cell derived medullary thyroid carcinoma. The RET gene mutations status is gaining importance in patient management in the developed countries. Screening of first degree relatives of MTC patients have become a deciding factor for total or partial thyroidectomy or the age at which the child should be subject to screening for MTC.

In spite of vast data available from literature worldwide on possible oncogene mutations, there is paucity of data on RET gene mutations in patients from India. Our preliminary investigation has revealed 56% prevalence of altered RET oncogene in clinically diagnosed MTC patients with codon 769 at exon 13 as most prevalent hotspot. A larger and prospective investigation of patients with

MEN (2A/2B) and presence of mutation in family members will be necessary to calculate the diagnostic and prognostic utility of RET gene alterations in our population.

To conclude, the existing clinical management of patients with thyroid nodules classified as indeterminate is a huge social cost for both patients and the health system. The development of a reliable genetic test prior to surgery that can distinguish between benign and malignant thyroid nodules and overcome the pitfalls of an undiagnosed nodule is mandatory. An increasing number of publications have described new potential molecular markers for diagnosis of thyroid nodules.

Through this work, an effort has been made to explore the potential of several genes as diagnostic and prognostic markers in thyroid carcinoma. However, it is seen that a lot more is required to be done. From the initiation of this project to the present day, discoveries and inventions in different fields of study in the context of cancer have led to tremendous advancements in biologic techniques. The use of karyotypic analysis, fluorescent in situ hybridization, candidate gene sequencing, microarray expression analysis, and next generation sequencing, whole-genome association and molecular imaging are presently assisting in determining the molecular defects causing thyroid cancer. The stronger correlation of disease phenotype with genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics and metabolomics of the cancer cell will provide us with clear classifications and will allow us to develop guided management strategies to optimize the time of intervention and schedule follow-up and manage targeted therapy. As our understanding of the depth of these correlations increases, we can look forward to better refining our treatment and management regimes in order to improve the quality of life and provide better care to the thyroid cancer patients in our country.

References

- 1. Yeole, B. B. (1998) Descriptive epidemiology of thyroid cancer in greater Bombay. *Indian journal of cancer 35*, 57-64.
- 2. Nandakumar, A. (1996) National Cancer Registry Programme, Indian Council of Medical Research, consolidated report of the population based cancer registries. *New Delhi, India*, 60.
- 3. Knudson, A. G. (1993) Antioncogenes and human cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 90, 10914–10921.
- 4. Knudson, A. G. (2001) Two genetic hits (more or less) to cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 1, 157–162.
- 5. Hanahan, D., Weinberg, R. A. (2000) The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* 100, 57–70.
- 6. Armitage, P., Doll, R. (1954) The age distribution of cancer and a multi-stage theory of carcinogenesis. *Br J.Cancer* 8, 1–12.
- 7. Fearon, E. R., Vogelstein, B. (1990) A genetic model for colorectal tumourigenesis. *Cell* 1990, 759–767.
- 8. Masters, J. R. (2000) Human cancer cell lines; fact and fantasy. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 1, 233–236.
- 9. Golub, T. R., Slonim, D. K., Tamayo, P., et al. (1999) Molecular classification of cancer: class discovery and class prediction by gene expression monitoring. *Science* 286, 531–537.
- 10. Land, H., Parada L. F., Weinberg, R. A. (1983) tumorigenic conversion of primary embryo fibroblasts requires at least two cooperating oncogenes. *Nature* 304, 596–602.
- 11. Ruley, H. E. (1983) Adenovirus early region 1A enables viral and cellular transforming genes to transform primary cells in culture. *Nature* 304, 602–606.
- 12. O'Brien, W., Stenman, G., Sager, R. (1986) Suppression of tumour growth by senescence in virally transformed human fibroblasts. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 83, 8659–8663.
- 13. Elenbaas, B., Spirio, L., Koerner, F., et al. (2001) Human breast cancer cells generated by oncogenic trans-formation of primary mammary epithelial cells. Genes Dev 15, 50–65.

- 14. Lundberg, A. S., Randell, S. H., Stewart, S. A., et al. (2002) Immortalization and transformation of primary human airway epithelial cells by gene transfer. Oncogene 21, 4577–4586.
- 15. Dittmer, D., Pati, S., Zambetti, G., et al. (1993) Gain of function mutations in p53. *Nat Genet* 4, 42–46.
- 16. Shen, Y., White, E. (2001) p53-Dependent apoptosis pathways. *Adv Cancer Res* 82, 55–84.
- 17. Thornberry, N. A., Lazebnik, Y. (1998) Caspases: enemies within. *Science* 281, 1312–1316.
- 18. Ho, G. H., Calvano, J. E., Bisogna, M., et al. (2001) Genetic alterations of the p14ARF-hdm2-p53 regulatory pathway in breast carcinoma. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 65, 225–232.
- Kaelin, W. G. J. (1999) Functions of the retinoblastoma protein. *Bioessays* 21, 950– 958.
- 20. Ogawa, H., Ishiguro, K., Gaubatz, S., et al. (2002) A complex with chromatin modifiers that occupies E2F-and Myc-responsive genes in Go cells. *Science* 296, 1132–1136.
- 21. Cheng, M., Olivier, P., Diehl, J. A., et al. (1999) The p21 and p27 CDK "inhibitors" are essential activators of cyclin D-dependent kinases in murine fibroblasts. *EMBO J* 18, 1571–1583.
- 22. Zur Hausen, H. (2002) Papillomaviruses and cancer: from basic studies to clinical applications. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2, 342–350.
- 23. Harvey, M., Vogel, H., Lee, E. Y., et al. (1995) Mice deficient in both p53 and Rb develop tumours primarily of endocrine origin. *Cancer Res* 55, 1146–1151.
- 24. McCormick, F. (1999) Signalling networks that cause cancer. *Trends Cell Biol* 9, M53-M56.
- 25. Press, M. F., Jones, L. A., Godolphin, W., et al. (1990) HER-2/neu oncogene amplification and expression in breast and ovarian cancers. *Prog Clin Biol Res* 354A, 209–221.
- 26. Campbell, S. L., Khosravi-Far, R., Rossman, K.L. (1998) Increasing complexity of Ras signaling. *Oncogene* 17, 1395–1413.
- 27. Bos, J. L. (1989) Ras oncogenes in human cancer: a review. *Cancer Res* 49, 4682–4689.
- 28. Weiss, B., Bollag, G., Shannon, K. (1999) Hyperactive Ras as a therapeutic target in neurofibromatosis type 1 . *Am J Med* 89, 14–22.
- 29. Davies, H., Bignell, G. R., Cox, C., et al. (2002) Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. *Nature* 417, 949–954.

- 30. Simpson, L., Parsons, R. (2001) PTEN: life as a tumour suppressor. *Exp Cell Res* 264, 29–41.
- 31. Shields, J. M., Pruitt, K., McFall, A., et al. (2000) Understanding Ras: 'it ain't over 'til it's over'. *Trends Cell Biol* 10, 147–154.
- 32. McEachern, M. J., Krauskopf, A., Blackburn, E. H. (2000) Telomeres and their control. *Annu Reve Genet* 34, 331–358.
- 33. Greider, C. W., Blackburn, E. H. (1989) A telomeric sequence in the RNA of Tetrahymena telomerase required for telomere repeat synthesis. *Nature* 337, 331–337.
- 34. Stewart, S. A., Hahn, W. C., O'Connor, B. F., et al. (2002) Telomerase contributes to tumourigenesis by a telomere length-independent mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 99, 12606–12611.
- 35. Blasco , M. A., Hahn, W. C. (2003) Evolving views of telomerase and cancer. *Trends Cell Biol* 13, 289–294.
- 36. Rouse, J., Jackson, S. P. (2002) Interfaces between the detection, signaling, and repair of DNA damage. *Science* 297, 547-551.
- 37. de Laat, W. L., Jaspers, N. G., Hoeijmakers, H. J. (1999) Molecular mechanism of nucleotide excision repair. *Genes Dev* 13, 768–785.
- 38. Abraham, R. T. (2001) Cell cycle checkpoint signaling through the ATM and ATR kinases. *Genes Dev* 15, 2177–2196.
- 39. Cahill, D. P., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., Lengauer, C. (1999) Genetic instability and darwinian selection in tumours. *Trends Cell Biol* 9, M57–60.
- 40. Jones, P. A., Baylin, S. B. (2002) The fundamental role of epigenetic events in cancer. *Nat Rev Genet* 3,415–428.
- 41. Esteller, M., Herman, J. G. (2002) Cancer as an epigenetic disease: DNA methylation and chromatin alterations in human tumours. *J Pathol* 196, 1–7.
- 42. Esteller, M., Fraga, M. F., Guo, J., et al. (2001) DNA methylation patterns in herditary human cancers mimic sporadic tumourigenesis. *Hum Mol Genet* 10, 3001–3007.
- 43. Belinsky, S. A., Nikula, K. J., Baylin, S. B., Issa, J. P. (1996) Increased cytosine DNA methyltransferase activity is target-cell-specific and an early event in lung cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 93, 4045–4050.
- 44. Bakin, A. V., Curran, T. (1999) Role of DNA 5-methylcytosine transferase in cell transformation by fos. *Science* 283, 387–390.
- 45. Correct, P. and Chen, V. W. (1995) Endocrine gland cancer. *Cancer* 75, 338-352.
- 46. Polednak, A. P. (1994) Trends in cancer incidence in Connecticut, 1935-1991. *Cancer* 74, 2863-2872.

- 47. Nussey, S. S. and Whitehead, S. A. *Endocrinology: an integrated approach*, CRC Press.
- 48. De Felice, M. and Di Lauro, R. (2004) Thyroid development and its disorders: genetics and molecular mechanisms. *Endocrine reviews* 25, 722-746.
- 49. Schlumberger, M. and Pacini, F. (1997) The thyroid tumours.
- 50. Mauchamp, J., Mirrione, A., Alquier, C. and Andr A c, F. d. r. (1998) Follicle like structure and polarized monolayer: Role of the extracellular matrix on thyroid cell organization in primary culture. *Biology of the Cell 90*, 369-380.
- 51. Holzheimer, R. G. and Mannick, J. A. (2001) Benign nodular thyroid disease.
- 52. DeLellis, R. A. (2004) *Pathology and genetics of tumours of endocrine organs*, Vol. 8, IARC.
- 53. Rosai, J. (1992) Tumours of the thyroid gland. *Atlas of tumour pathology*.
- 54. Patel, K. N. and Shaha, A. R. (2006) Poorly differentiated and anaplastic thyroid cancer. *Cancer Control 13*, 119.
- 55. Kondo, T., Ezzat, S. and Asa, S. L. (2006) Pathogenetic mechanisms in thyroid follicular-cell neoplasia. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 6, 292-306.
- 56. Are, C. and Shaha, A. R. (2006) Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma: biology, pathogenesis, prognostic factors, and treatment approaches. *Annals of surgical oncology 13*, 453-464.
- 57. McIver, B., Hay, I. D., Giuffrida, D. F., Dvorak, C. E., Grant, C. S., Thompson, G. B., van Heerden, J. A. and Goellner, J. R. (2001) Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma: a 50-year experience at a single institution. *Surgery 130*, 1028-1034.
- 58. Franceschi, S., Boyle, P., Maisonneuve, P., La Vecchia, C., Burt, A. D., Kerr, D. J. and MacFarlane, G. J. (1992) The epidemiology of thyroid carcinoma. *Critical reviews in oncogenesis* 4, 25-52.
- 59. Schlumberger, M. and Pacini, F. (1999) Thyroid nodule. *Thyroid Tumours. Paris, France: Editions Nucleon*, 13-30.
- 60. Goodman, M. T., Yoshizawa, C. N. and Kolonel, L. N. (1988) Descriptive epidemiology of thyroid cancer in Hawaii. *Cancer* 61, 1272-1281.
- 61. Spitz, M. R., Sider, J. G., Katz, R. L., Pollack, E. S. and Newell, G. R. (1988) Ethnic patterns of thyroid cancer incidence in the United States, 1973 1981. *International journal of cancer* 42, 549-553.
- 62. Schlumberger, M. J. (1998) Papillary and follicular thyroid carcinoma. *New england journal of medicine 338*, 297-306.
- 63. Franceschi, S., Preston-Martin, S., Dal Maso, L., Negri, E., La Vecchia, C., Mack, W. J., McTiernan, A., Kolonel, L., Mark, S. D. and Mabuchi, K. (1999) A pooled

analysis of case "control studies of thyroid cancer. IV. Benign thyroid diseases. *Cancer Causes & Control 10*, 583-595.

- 64. Majima, T., Komatsu, Y., Doi, K., Shigemoto, M., Takagi, C., Fukao, A., Kojima, M., Tamaki, H. and Ito, J. (2005) Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma associated with Graves' disease. *Endocr J 52*.
- 65. Taylor, T., Specker, B., Robbins, J., Sperling, M., Ho, M., Ain, K., Bigos, S. T., Brierley, J., Cooper, D. and Haugen, B. (1998) Outcome after treatment of high-risk papillary and non-Hurthle-cell follicular thyroid carcinoma. *Annals of internal medicine 129*, 622-627.
- 66. Mazzaferri, E. L. and Kloos, R. T. (2001) Current approaches to primary therapy for papillary and follicular thyroid cancer. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 86, 1447-1463.
- 67. Cooper, D. S., Specker, B., Ho, M., Sperling, M., Ladenson, P. W., Ross, D. S., Ain, K. B., Bigos, S. T., Brierley, J. D. and Haugen, B. R. (1998) Thyrotropin suppression and disease progression in patients with differentiated thyroid cancer: results from the National Thyroid Cancer Treatment Cooperative Registry. *Thyroid* 8, 737-744.
- 68. Lang, W., Borrusch, H. and Bauer, L. (1988) Occult carcinomas of the thyroid. Evaluation of 1,020 sequential autopsies. *American Journal of clinical pathology 90*, 72-76.
- 69. Takano, T. (2007) Fetal cell carcinogenesis of the thyroid: theory and practice, In *Seminars in cancer biology* pp 233-240, Elsevier.
- Singh, S. K., Clarke, I. D., Terasaki, M., Bonn, V. E., Hawkins, C., Squire, J. and Dirks, P. B. (2003) Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumours. *Cancer Research* 63, 5821-5828.
- 71. Marx, J. (2003) Mutant stem cells may seed cancer. *Science 301*, 1308-1310.
- 72. Dontu, G., Al Hajj, M., Abdallah, W. M., Clarke, M. F. and Wicha, M. S. (2003) Stem cells in normal breast development and breast cancer. *Cell proliferation 36*, 59-72.
- 73. Waterworth, A. (2004) Introducing the concept of breast cancer stem cells. *Breast Cancer Res* 6, 53-54.
- 74. Takahashi, M., Ritz, J. and Cooper, G. M. (1985) Activation of a novel human transforming gene, ret, by DNA rearrangement. *Cell* 42, 581-588.
- 75. Machens, A. and Dralle, H. (2006) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 and the RET protooncogene: from bedside to bench to bedside. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology* 247, 34-40.
- 76. Runeberg-Roos, P. and Saarma, M. (2007) Neurotrophic factor receptor RET: structure, cell biology, and inherited diseases. *Annals of medicine 39*, 572-580.

- 77. Ciampi, R. and Nikiforov, Y. E. (2007) RET/PTC rearrangements and BRAF mutations in thyroid tumourigenesis. *Endocrinology* 148, 936-941.
- 78. Romei, C., Elisei, R., Pinchera, A., Ceccherini, I., Molinaro, E., Mancusi, F., Martino, E., Romeo, G. and Pacini, F. (1996) Somatic mutations of the ret protooncogene in sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma are not restricted to exon 16 and are associated with tumour recurrence. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 81*, 1619-1622.
- 79. Zedenlus, J., Wallin, G., Hamberger, B., Nordenskj Ad, M., Weber, G. n. and Larsson, C. (1994) Somatic and MEN 2A de novo mutations identified in the RET proto-oncogene by screening of sporadic MTC: s. *Human molecular genetics 3*, 1259-1262.
- 80. Dhomen, N. and Marais, R. (2007) New insight into BRAF mutations in cancer. *Current opinion in genetics & development 17*, 31-39.
- 81. Mitsutake, N., Knauf, J. A., Mitsutake, S., Mesa, C., Zhang, L. and Fagin, J. A. (2005) Conditional BRAFV600E expression induces DNA synthesis, apoptosis, dedifferentiation, and chromosomal instability in thyroid PCCL3 cells. *Cancer research* 65, 2465-2473.
- 82. Michaloglou, C., Vredeveld, L. C. W., Mooi, W. J. and Peeper, D. S. (2007) BRAFE600 in benign and malignant human tumours. *Oncogene* 27, 877-895.
- 83. Xing, M. (2005) BRAF mutation in thyroid cancer. *Endocrine-related cancer 12*, 245-262.
- 84. Trovisco, V. t., Vieira de Castro, I. s., Soares, P., M A ximo, V., Silva, P., Magalhaes, J., Abrosimov, A., Guiu, X. M. and Sobrinho Sim A Aµes, M. (2004) BRAF mutations are associated with some histological types of papillary thyroid carcinoma. *The Journal of pathology 202*, 247-251.
- 85. Espinosa, A. V., Porchia, L. and Ringel, M. D. (2006) Targeting BRAF in thyroid cancer. *British journal of cancer 96*, 16-20.
- 86. Schubbert, S., Shannon, K. and Bollag, G. (2007) Hyperactive Ras in developmental disorders and cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 7, 295-308.
- 87. Nikiforov, Y. E. (2004) Genetic alterations involved in the transition from welldifferentiated to poorly differentiated and anaplastic thyroid carcinomas. *Endocrine pathology* 15, 319-327.
- 88. Vivanco, I. and Sawyers, C. L. (2002) The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase "AKT pathway in human cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2, 489-501.
- 89. Samuels, Y. and Ericson, K. (2006) Oncogenic PI3K and its role in cancer. *Current opinion in oncology* 18, 77-82.
- 90. Wu, G., Mambo, E., Guo, Z., Hu, S., Huang, X., Gollin, S. M., Trink, B., Ladenson, P. W., Sidransky, D. and Xing, M. (2005) Uncommon mutation, but common

amplifications, of the PIK3CA gene in thyroid tumours. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 90*, 4688-4693.

- 91. Garc A A-a-Rost A A n, G., Costa, A. M., Pereira-Castro, I., Salvatore, G., Hernandez, R., Hermsem, M. J. A., Herrero, A., Fusco, A., Cameselle-Teijeiro, J. and Santoro, M. (2005) Mutation of the PIK3CA gene in anaplastic thyroid cancer. *Cancer research 65*, 10199-10207.
- 92. Hou, P., Liu, D., Shan, Y., Hu, S., Studeman, K., Condouris, S., Wang, Y., Trink, A., El-Naggar, A. K. and Tallini, G. (2007) Genetic alterations and their relationship in the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway in thyroid cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research 13*, 1161-1170.
- 93. Wang, Y., Hou, P., Yu, H., Wang, W., Ji, M., Zhao, S., Yan, S., Sun, X., Liu, D. and Shi, B. (2007) High prevalence and mutual exclusivity of genetic alterations in the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase/akt pathway in thyroid tumours. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 92*, 2387-2390.
- 94. Ringel, M. D., Hayre, N., Saito, J., Saunier, B., Schuppert, F., Burch, H., Bernet, V., Burman, K. D., Kohn, L. D. and Saji, M. (2001) Overexpression and overactivation of Akt in thyroid carcinoma. *Cancer research 61*, 6105-6111.
- 95. Miyakawa, M., Tsushima, T., Murakami, H., Wakai, K., Isozaki, O. and Takano, K. (2003) Increased expression of phosphorylated p70S6 kinase and Akt in papillary thyroid cancer tissues. *Endocrine journal 50*, 77-83.
- 96. Vasko, V., Saji, M., Hardy, E., Kruhlak, M., Larin, A., Savchenko, V., Miyakawa, M., Isozaki, O., Murakami, H. and Tsushima, T. (2004) Akt activation and localisation correlate with tumour invasion and oncogene expression in thyroid cancer. *Journal of medical genetics* 41, 161-170.
- 97. Patel, K. N. and Singh, B. (2006) Genetic considerations in thyroid cancer. *Cancer Control* 13, 111.
- 98. Park, M.-T. and Lee, S.-J. (2003) Cell cycle and cancer. *Journal of biochemistry and molecular biology 36*, 60-65.
- 99. Tallini, G., Garcia-Rostan, G., Herrero, A., Zelterman, D., Viale, G., Bosari, S. and Carcangiu, M. L. (1999) Downregulation of p27KIP1 and Ki67/Mib1 labeling index support the classification of thyroid carcinoma into prognostically relevant categories. *The American journal of surgical pathology 23*, 678-685.
- 100. Khoo, M. L. C., Freeman, J. L., Witterick, I. J., Irish, J. C., Rotstein, L. E., Gullane, P. J. and Asa, S. L. (2002) Underexpression of p27/Kip in thyroid papillary microcarcinomas with gross metastatic disease. Archives of Otolaryngology "Head & Neck Surgery 128, 253-257.
- 101. Davies, M. A., Lu, Y., Sano, T., Fang, X., Tang, P., LaPushin, R., Koul, D., Bookstein, R., Stokoe, D. and Yung, W. K. A. (1998) Adenoviral transgene expression of MMAC/PTEN in human glioma cells inhibits Akt activation and induces anoikis. *Cancer research* 58, 5285-5290.

- 102. Segev, D. L., Umbricht, C. and Zeiger, M. A. (2003) Molecular pathogenesis of thyroid cancer. *Surgical oncology 12*, 69-90.
- 103. Frisk, T., Foukakis, T., Dwight, T., Lundberg, J., H A A A A g, A., Wallin, G. r., Eng, C., Zedenius, J. and Larsson, C. (2002) Silencing of the PTEN tumour suppressor gene in anaplastic thyroid cancer. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer 35*, 74-80.
- Alvarez-Nu A A±ez, F., Bussaglia, E., Mauricio, D., Ybarra, J., Vilar, M., Lerma, E., Leiva, A. d. and Matias-Guiu, X. (2006) PTEN promoter methylation in sporadic thyroid carcinomas. *Thyroid* 16, 17-23.
- 105. Dammann, R., Schagdarsurengin, U., Seidel, C., Strunnikova, M., Rastetter, M., Baier, K. and Pfeifer, G. P. (2005) The tumour suppressor RASSF1A in human carcinogenesis: an update.
- 106. Dammann, R., Schagdarsurengin, U., Strunnikova, M., Rastetter, M., Seidel, C., Liu, L., Tommasi, S. and Pfeifer, G. P. (2003) Epigenetic inactivation of the Ras-association domain family 1 (RASSF1A) gene and its function in human carcinogenesis.
- 107. Schagdarsurengin, U., Gimm, O., Hoang-Vu, C., Dralle, H., Pfeifer, G. P. and Dammann, R. (2002) Frequent epigenetic silencing of the CpG island promoter of RASSF1A in thyroid carcinoma. *Cancer research 62*, 3698-3701.
- 108. Xing, M., Cohen, Y., Mambo, E., Tallini, G., Udelsman, R., Ladenson, P. W. and Sidransky, D. (2004) Early occurrence of RASSF1A hypermethylation and its mutual exclusion with BRAF mutation in thyroid tumourigenesis. *Cancer research* 64, 1664-1668.
- 109. Tallini, G., Santoro, M., Helie, M., Carlomagno, F., Salvatore, G., Chiappetta, G., Carcangiu, M. L. and Fusco, A. (1998) RET/PTC oncogene activation defines a subset of papillary thyroid carcinomas lacking evidence of progression to poorly differentiated or undifferentiated tumour phenotypes. *Clinical Cancer Research 4*, 287-294.
- 110. Santoro, M., Papotti, M., Chiappetta, G., Garcia-Rostan, G., Volante, M., Johnson, C., Camp, R. L., Pentimalli, F., Monaco, C. and Herrero, A. (2002) RET activation and clinicopathologic features in poorly differentiated thyroid tumours. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 87, 370-379.
- Alberti, L., Carniti, C., Miranda, C., Roccato, E. and Pierotti, M. A. (2003) RET and NTRK1 proto oncogenes in human diseases. *Journal of cellular physiology 195*, 168-186.
- 112. Beimfohr, C., Klugbauer, S., Demidchik, E. P., Lengfelder, E. and Rabes, H. M. (1999) NTRK1 re arrangement in papillary thyroid carcinomas of children after the Chernobyl reactor accident. *International journal of cancer 80*, 842-847.
- 113. Musholt, T. J., Musholt, P. B., Khaladj, N., Schulz, D., Scheumann, G. F. W. and Klempnauer, J. (2000) Prognostic significance of RET and NTRK 1 rearrangements in sporadic papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Surgery 128*, 984-993.

- 114. Ciampi, R., Knauf, J. A., Kerler, R., Gandhi, M., Zhu, Z., Nikiforova, M. N., Rabes, H. M., Fagin, J. A. and Nikiforov, Y. E. (2005) Oncogenic AKAP9-BRAF fusion is a novel mechanism of MAPK pathway activation in thyroid cancer. *The Journal of clinical investigation 115*, 94-101.
- 115. Kroll, T. G., Sarraf, P., Pecciarini, L., Chen, C.-J., Mueller, E., Spiegelman, B. M. and Fletcher, J. A. (2000) PAX8-PPAR gamma 1 fusion in oncogene human thyroid carcinoma. *Science* 289, 1357-1360.
- Drieschner, N., Belge, G., Rippe, V., Meiboom, M., Loeschke, S. and Bullerdiek, J. (2006) Evidence for a 3p25 breakpoint hot spot region in thyroid tumours of follicular origin. *Thyroid* 16, 1091-1096.
- 117. Foukakis, T., Au, A. Y. M., Wallin, G. r., Geli, J., Forsberg, L., Clifton-Bligh, R., Robinson, B. G., Lui, W.-O., Zedenius, J. and Larsson, C. (2006) The Ras effector NORE1A is suppressed in follicular thyroid carcinomas with a PAX8-PPAR Î³ fusion. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 91*, 1143-1149.
- 118. Rippe, V., Drieschner, N., Meiboom, M., Escobar, H. M., Bonk, U., Belge, G. and Bullerdiek, J. r. (2003) Identification of a gene rearranged by 2p21 aberrations in thyroid adenomas. *Oncogene 22*, 6111-6114.
- 119. He, H., Jazdzewski, K., Li, W., Liyanarachchi, S., Nagy, R., Volinia, S., Calin, G. A., Liu, C.-g., Franssila, K. and Suster, S. (2005) The role of microRNA genes in papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102*, 19075-19080.
- 120. Pallante, P., Visone, R., Ferracin, M., Ferraro, A., Berlingieri, M. T., Troncone, G., Chiappetta, G., Liu, C. G., Santoro, M. and Negrini, M. (2006) MicroRNA deregulation in human thyroid papillary carcinomas. *Endocrine-related cancer 13*, 497-508.
- 121. Visone, R., Russo, L., Pallante, P., De Martino, I., Ferraro, A., Leone, V., Borbone, E., Petrocca, F., Alder, H. and Croce, C. M. (2007) MicroRNAs (miR)-221 and miR-222, both overexpressed in human thyroid papillary carcinomas, regulate p27Kip1 protein levels and cell cycle. *Endocrine-related cancer 14*, 791-798.
- 122. Weber, F., Teresi, R. E., Broelsch, C. E., Frilling, A. and Eng, C. (2006) A limited set of human MicroRNA is deregulated in follicular thyroid carcinoma. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 91*, 3584-3591.
- 123. Weiss, M. M., Hermsen, M. A., Meijer, G. A., Van Grieken, N. C., Baak, J. P., Kuipers, E. J. and Van Diest, P. J. (1999) Comparative genomic hybridisation. *Molecular pathology* 52, 243.
- 124. Frisk, T., Zedenius, J., Lundberg, J., Wallin, G., Kytola, S. and Larsson, C. (2001) CGH alterations in medullary thyroid carcinomas in relation to the RET M918T mutation and clinical outcome. *International journal of oncology 18*, 1219-1225.
- 125. Hemmer, S., Wasenius, V.-M., Knuutila, S., Franssila, K. and Joensuu, H. (1999) DNA copy number changes in thyroid carcinoma. *The American journal of pathology 154*, 1539-1547.

- 126. Wada, N., Duh, Q.-Y., Miura, D., Brunaud, L., Wong, M. G. and Clark, O. H. (2002) Chromosomal aberrations by comparative genomic hybridization in hurthle cell thyroid carcinomas are associated with tumour recurrence. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 87, 4595-4601.
- 127. Roque, L., Rodrigues, R., Pinto, A. n., Moura Nunes, V. and Soares, J. (2003) Chromosome imbalances in thyroid follicular neoplasms: a comparison between follicular adenomas and carcinomas. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer 36*, 292-302.
- 128. Wreesmann, V. B., Ghossein, R. A., Patel, S. G., Harris, C. P., Schnaser, E. A., Shaha, A. R., Tuttle, R. M., Shah, J. P., Rao, P. H. and Singh, B. (2002) Genome-wide appraisal of thyroid cancer progression. *The American journal of pathology 161*, 1549-1556.
- 129. Castro, P. c., Ekn A Als, M., Teixeira, M. R., Danielsen, H. v. E., Soares, P., Lothe, R. A. and Sobrinho Sim A Aµes, M. (2005) Adenomas and follicular carcinomas of the thyroid display two major patterns of chromosomal changes. *The Journal of pathology* 206, 305-311.
- 130. Singh, B., Lim, D., Cigudosa, J. C., Ghossein, R., Shaha, A. R., Poluri, A., Wreesmann, V. B., Tuttle, M., Shah, J. P. and Rao, P. H. (2000) Screening for genetic aberrations in papillary thyroid cancer by using comparative genomic hybridization. *Surgery 128*, 888-894.
- 131. Kjellman, P., Lagercrantz, S., Hag, A., Wallin, G. r., Larsson, C. and Zedenius, J. (2001) Gain of 1q and loss of 9q21. 3 q32 are associated with a less favorable prognosis in papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer 32*, 43-49.
- 132. Bauer, A. J., Cavalli, L. R., Rone, J. D., Francis, G. L., Burch, H. B., Tuttle, R. M., Ringel, M. D., Stratakis, C. A. and Haddad, B. R. (2002) Evaluation of adult papillary thyroid carcinomas by comparative genomic hybridization and microsatellite instability analysis. *Cancer genetics and cytogenetics 135*, 182-186.
- 133. Wreesmann, V. B., Ghossein, R. A., Hezel, M., Banerjee, D., Shaha, A. R., Tuttle, R. M., Shah, J. P., Rao, P. H. and Singh, B. (2004) Follicular variant of papillary thyroid carcinoma: Genome wide appraisal of a controversial entity. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer 40*, 355-364.
- 134. Wreesmann, V. B., Sieczka, E. M., Socci, N. D., Hezel, M., Belbin, T. J., Childs, G., Patel, S. G., Patel, K. N., Tallini, G. and Prystowsky, M. (2004) Genome-wide profiling of papillary thyroid cancer identifies MUC1 as an independent prognostic marker. *Cancer research* 64, 3780-3789.
- 135. Richter, H., Braselmann, H., Hieber, L., Thomas, G., Bogdanova, T., Tronko, N. and Zitzelsberger, H. (2004) Chromosomal imbalances in post-chernobyl thyroid tumours. *Thyroid 14*, 1061-1064.
- 136. Rodrigues, R. F., Roque, L., Rosa-Santos, J., Cid, O. and Soares, J. (2004) Chromosomal imbalances associated with anaplastic transformation of follicular thyroid carcinomas. *British journal of cancer 90*, 492-496.

- 137. Wilkens, L., Benten, D., Tchinda, J., Brabant, G., P A A tter, E., Dralle, H. and von Wasielewski, R. (2000) Aberrations of chromosomes 5 and 8 as recurrent cytogenetic events in anaplastic carcinoma of the thyroid as detected by fluorescence in situ hybridisation and comparative genomic hybridisation. *Virchows Archiv* 436, 312-318.
- Miura, D., Wada, N., Chin, K., Magrane, G. G., Wong, M., Duh, Q.-Y. and Clark, O. H. (2003) Anaplastic thyroid cancer: cytogenetic patterns by comparative genomic hybridization. *Thyroid* 13, 283-290.
- 139. Ward, L. S., Brenta, G., Medvedovic, M. and Fagin, J. A. (1998) Studies of Allelic Loss in Thyroid Tumours Reveal Major Differences in Chromosomal Instability between Papillary and Follicular Carcinomas 1. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 83*, 525-530.
- 140. Gillespie, J. W., Nasir, A. and Kaiser, H. E. (1999) Loss of heterozygosity in papillary and follicular thyroid carcinoma: a mini review. *In vivo (Athens, Greece)* 14, 139-140.
- 141. Huang, Y., de la Chapelle, A. and Pellegata, N. S. (2003) Hypermethylation, but not LOH, is associated with the low expression of MT1G and CRABP1 in papillary thyroid carcinoma. *International journal of cancer 104*, 735-744.
- 142. Califano, J. A., Johns, M. M., Westra, W. H., Lango, M. N., Eisele, D., Saji, M., Zeiger, M. A., Udelsman, R., Koch, W. M. and Sidransky, D. (1996) An allelotype of papillary thyroid cancer. *International journal of cancer* 69, 442-444.
- 143. Antonini, P., L A Acvy, N., Caillou, B., V A Acnuat, A. M., Schlumberger, M., Parmentier, C. and Bernheim, A. (1993) Numerical aberrations, including trisomy 22 as the sole anomaly, are recurrent in follicular thyroid adenomas. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer* 8, 63-66.
- 144. Belge, G., Thode, B., Rippe, V., Bartnitzke, S. and Bullerdiek, J. r. (1994) A characteristic sequence of trisomies starting with trisomy 7 in benign thyroid tumours. *Human genetics 94*, 198-202.
- Bondeson, L., Bengtsson, A., Bondeson, A. G., Dahlenfors, R., Grimelius, L., Wedell, B. and Mark, J. (1989) Chromosome studies in thyroid neoplasia. *Cancer* 64, 680-685.
- 146. Teyssier, J.-R., Liautaud-Roger, F. o., Ferre, D., Patey, M. and Dufer, J. (1990) Chromosomal changes in thyroid tumours: relation with DNA content, karyotypic features, and clinical data. *Cancer genetics and cytogenetics 50*, 249-263.
- 147. Roque, L. c., Castedo, S. r., Clode, A. and Soares, J. (1993) Deletion of 3p25 †' pter in a primary follicular thyroid carcinoma and its metastasis. *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer* 8, 199-203.
- 148. Kitamura, Y., Shimizu, K., Ito, K., Tanaka, S. and Emi, M. (2001) Allelotyping of follicular thyroid carcinoma: frequent allelic losses in chromosome arms 7q, 11p, and 22q. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 86, 4268-4272.
- 149. Trovato, M., Fraggetta, F., Villari, D., Batolo, D., Mackey, K., Trimarchi, F. and Benvenga, S. (1999) Loss of Heterozygosity of the Long Arm of Chromosome 7 in

Follicular and Anaplastic Thyroid Cancer, but Not in Papillary Thyroid Cancer 1. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 84, 3235-3240.

- 150. Zhang, J.-S., Nelson, M., McIver, B., Hay, I. D., Goellner, J. R., Grant, C. S., Eberhardt, N. L. and Smith, D. I. (1998) Differential loss of heterozygosity at 7q31. 2 in follicular and papillary thyroid tumours. *Oncogene 17*, 789-793.
- 151. Zedenius, J., Wallin, G. r., Svensson, A., Bov A A c, J., H A g, A., B Ackdahl, M. and Larsson, C. (1996) Deletions of the long arm of chromosome 10 in progression of follicular thyroid tumours. *Human genetics 97*, 299-303.
- 152. Zedenius, J., Wallin, G. r., Svensson, A., Grimelius, L., H A A g, A., Lundell, G. r., B A¤ckdahl, M. and Larsson, C. (1995) Allelotyping of follicular thyroid tumours. *Human genetics 96*, 27-32.
- 153. Grebe, S. K. G., McIver, B., Hay, I. D., Wu, P. S. C., Maciel, L. M. Z., Drabkin, H. A., Goellner, J. R., Grant, C. S., Jenkins, R. B. and Eberhardt, N. L. (1997) Frequent Loss of Heterozygosity on Chromosomes 3p and 17p without VHL or p53 Mutations Suggests Involvement of Unidentified Tumour Suppressor Genes in Follicular Thyroid Carcinoma 1. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 82*, 3684-3691.
- 154. Hu, S., Liu, D., Tufano, R. P., Carson, K. A., Rosenbaum, E., Cohen, Y., Holt, E. H., Kiseljak Vassiliades, K., Rhoden, K. J. and Tolaney, S. (2006) Association of aberrant methylation of tumour suppressor genes with tumour aggressiveness and BRAF mutation in papillary thyroid cancer. *International journal of cancer 119*, 2322-2329.
- 155. Hoque, M. O., Begum, S., Topaloglu, O., Jeronimo, C., Mambo, E., Westra, W. H., Califano, J. A. and Sidransky, D. (2004) Quantitative detection of promoter hypermethylation of multiple genes in the tumour, urine, and serum DNA of patients with renal cancer. *Cancer research* 64, 5511-5517.
- 156. Joseph, B., Ji, M., Liu, D., Hou, P. and Xing, M. (2007) Lack of Mutations in the Thyroid Hormone Receptor (TR) Genes but Frequent Hypermethylation of the TR Î² Gene in Differentiated Thyroid Tumours. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 92*, 4766-4770.
- 157. Kondo, T., Zheng, L., Liu, W., Kurebayashi, J., Asa, S. L. and Ezzat, S. (2007) Epigenetically controlled fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 signaling imposes on the RAS/BRAF/mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway to modulate thyroid cancer progression. *Cancer research* 67, 5461-5470.
- 158. Galusca, B., Dumollard, J. M., Lassandre, S., Niveleau, A., Prades, J. M., Estour, B. and Peoc[™]h, M. (2005) Global DNA methylation evaluation: potential complementary marker in differential diagnosis of thyroid neoplasia. *Virchows Archiv* 447, 18-23.
- 159. Huang, Y., Prasad, M., Lemon, W. J., Hampel, H., Wright, F. A., Kornacker, K., LiVolsi, V., Frankel, W., Kloos, R. T. and Eng, C. (2001) Gene expression in

papillary thyroid carcinoma reveals highly consistent profiles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 98*, 15044-15049.

- 160. Lubitz, C. C., Ugras, S. K., Kazam, J. J., Zhu, B., Scognamiglio, T., Chen, Y.-T. and Fahey Iii, T. J. (2006) Microarray analysis of thyroid nodule fine-needle aspirates accurately classifies benign and malignant lesions. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics* 8, 490-498.
- 161. Puskas, L. G., Juhasz, F., Zarva, A., Hackler Jr, L. and Farid, N. R. (2005) Gene profiling identifies genes specific for well-differentiated epithelial thyroid tumours. *Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand)* 51, 177-186.
- 162. Jarza. B, Wiench, M. g., Fujarewicz, K., Simek, K., Jarzab, M., Oczko Wojciechowska, M. g., Waoch, J., Czarniecka, A., Chmielik, E. and Lange, D. (2005) Gene expression profile of papillary thyroid cancer: sources of variability and diagnostic implications. *Cancer research* 65, 1587-1597.
- 163. Finley, D. J., Arora, N., Zhu, B., Gallagher, L. and Fahey Iii, T. J. (2004) Molecular profiling distinguishes papillary carcinoma from benign thyroid nodules. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 89, 3214-3223.
- 164. Onda, M., Emi, M., Yoshida, A., Miyamoto, S., Akaishi, J., Asaka, S., Mizutani, K., Shimizu, K., Nagahama, M. and Ito, K. (2004) Comprehensive gene expression profiling of anaplastic thyroid cancers with cDNA microarray of 25 344 genes. *Endocrine-related cancer 11*, 843-854.
- 165. Salvatore, G., Nappi, T. C., Salerno, P., Jiang, Y., Garbi, C., Ugolini, C., Miccoli, P., Basolo, F., Castellone, M. D. and Cirafici, A. M. (2007) A cell proliferation and chromosomal instability signature in anaplastic thyroid carcinoma. *Cancer research* 67, 10148-10158.
- 166. Saggiorato, E., De Pompa, R., Volante, M., Cappia, S., Arecco, F., Dei Tos, A. P., Orlandi, F. and Papotti, M. (2005) Characterization of thyroid follicular neoplasms in fine-needle aspiration cytological specimens using a panel of immunohistochemical markers: a proposal for clinical application. *Endocrine-related cancer 12*, 305-317.
- 167. Cheung, C. C., Ezzat, S., Freeman, J. L., Rosen, I. B. and Asa, S. L. (2001) Immunohistochemical diagnosis of papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Modern Pathology* 14, 338-342.
- 168. Frykn Aos, M. R., Wickenberg Bolin, U., G A ransson, H., Gustafsson, M. G., Foukakis, T., Lee, J. J., Landegren, U., H A A g, A., Larsson, C. and Grimelius, L. (2006) Molecular markers for discrimination of benign and malignant follicular thyroid tumours. *Tumour Biology* 27, 211-220.
- 169. Montero-Conde, C., Martin-Campos, J. M., Lerma, E., Gimenez, G., Martinez-Guitarte, J. L., Combalia, N., Montaner, D., Matias-Guiu, X., Dopazo, J. and de Leiva, A. (2007) Molecular profiling related to poor prognosis in thyroid carcinoma. Combining gene expression data and biological information. *Oncogene* 27, 1554-1561.
- 170. Braunstein, G. D. (2012) Thyroid Cancer, Vol. 32, Springer.

- 171. Mitchell, R. S., Kumar, V., Abbas, A. K. and Fausto, N. (2007) Robbins Basic Pathology: With STUDENT CONSULT Online Access. Philadelphia: Saunders, ISBN 1-4160-2973-7.
- 172. Hay, I. D., Thompson, G. B., Grant, C. S., Bergstralh, E. J., Dvorak, C. E., Gorman, C. A., Maurer, M. S., McIver, B., Mullan, B. P. and Oberg, A. L. (2002) Papillary thyroid carcinoma managed at the Mayo Clinic during six decades (1940 -1999): temporal trends in initial therapy and long-term outcome in 2444 consecutively treated patients. *World journal of surgery 26*, 879-885.
- 173. Bonnet, S. p., Hartl, D., Leboulleux, S., Baudin, E., Lumbroso, J. D., Al Ghuzlan, A., Chami, L., Schlumberger, M. and Travagli, J. P. (2009) Prophylactic lymph node dissection for papillary thyroid cancer less than 2 cm: implications for radioiodine treatment. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 94*, 1162-1167.
- 174. Vecchia, C., Malvezzi, M., Bosetti, C., Garavello, W., Bertuccio, P., Levi, F. and Negri, E. Thyroid cancer mortality and incidence: A global overview. *International Journal of Cancer*.
- 175. Davies, L. and Welch, H. G. (2006) Increasing incidence of thyroid cancer in the United States, 1973-2002. *Jama* 295, 2164-2167.
- 176. Nikiforova, M. N., Lynch, R. A., Biddinger, P. W., Alexander, E. K., Dorn, G. W., Tallini, G., Kroll, T. G. and Nikiforov, Y. E. (2003) RAS point mutations and PAX8-PPARÎ³ rearrangement in thyroid tumours: evidence for distinct molecular pathways in thyroid follicular carcinoma. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 88, 2318-2326.
- 177. Knauf, J. A. and Fagin, J. A. (2009) Role of MAPK pathway oncoproteins in thyroid cancer pathogenesis and as drug targets. *Current opinion in cell biology 21*, 296-303.
- 178. Xing, M. Molecular pathogenesis and mechanisms of thyroid cancer (2013). *Nature Reviews Cancer 13*, 184-199.
- 179. Kimura, E. T., Nikiforova, M. N., Zhu, Z., Knauf, J. A., Nikiforov, Y. E. and Fagin, J. A. (2003) High prevalence of BRAF mutations in thyroid cancer genetic evidence for constitutive activation of the RET/PTC-RAS-BRAF signaling pathway in papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Cancer Research 63*, 1454-1457.
- 180. Elisei, R., Ugolini, C., Viola, D., Lupi, C., Biagini, A., Giannini, R., Romei, C., Miccoli, P., Pinchera, A. and Basolo, F. (2008) BRAFV600E mutation and outcome of patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma: a 15-year median follow-up study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 93*, 3943-3949.
- 181. Chong, H., Vikis, H. G. and Guan, K.-L. (2003) Mechanisms of regulating the Raf kinase family. *Cellular signalling* 15, 463-469.
- 182. Mercer, K. E. and Pritchard, C. A. (2003) Raf proteins and cancer: B-Raf is identified as a mutational target. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews on Cancer* 1653, 25-40.

- 183. Cutler, R. E., Stephens, R. M., Saracino, M. R. and Morrison, D. K. (1998) Autoregulation of the Raf-1 serine/threonine kinase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 95*, 9214-9219.
- 184. Daum, G. n., Eisenmann-Tappe, I., Fries, H.-W., Troppmair, J. and Rapp, U. R. (1994) The ins and outs of Raf kinases. *Trends in biochemical sciences 19*, 474-480.
- 185. Spring, J. r. (1997) Vertebrate evolution by interspecific hybridisation "are we polyploid? *FEBS letters 400*, 2-8.
- 186. Wan, P. T. C., Garnett, M. J., Roe, S. M., Lee, S., Niculescu-Duvaz, D., Good, V. M., Project, C. G., Jones, C. M., Marshall, C. J. and Springer, C. J. (2004) Mechanism of activation of the RAF-ERK signaling pathway by oncogenic mutations of B-RAF. *Cell 116*, 855-867.
- 187. Giordano, T. J., Kuick, R., Thomas, D. G., Misek, D. E., Vinco, M., Sanders, D., Zhu, Z., Ciampi, R., Roh, M. and Shedden, K. (2005) Molecular classification of papillary thyroid carcinoma: distinct BRAF, RAS, and RET/PTC mutation-specific gene expression profiles discovered by DNA microarray analysis. *Oncogene 24*, 6646-6656.
- 188. Vasko, V., Espinosa, A. V., Scouten, W., He, H., Auer, H., Liyanarachchi, S., Larin, A., Savchenko, V., Francis, G. L. and de La Chapelle, A. (2007) Gene expression and functional evidence of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in papillary thyroid carcinoma invasion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104*, 2803-2808.
- 189. Frasca, F., Nucera, C., Pellegriti, G., Gangemi, P., Attard, M., Stella, M., Loda, M., Vella, V., Giordano, C. and Trimarchi, F. (2008) BRAF (V600E) mutation and the biology of papillary thyroid cancer. *Endocrine-related cancer* 15, 191-205.
- 190. Riesco-Eizaguirre, G., Rodr A-guez, I., De la Vieja, A., Costamagna, E., Carrasco, N., Nistal, M. and Santisteban, P. (2009) The BRAFV600E oncogene induces transforming growth factor Î² secretion leading to sodium iodide symporter repression and increased malignancy in thyroid cancer. *Cancer Research* 69, 8317-8325.
- 191. Xing, M., Westra, W. H., Tufano, R. P., Cohen, Y., Rosenbaum, E., Rhoden, K. J., Carson, K. A., Vasko, V., Larin, A. and Tallini, G. (2005) BRAF mutation predicts a poorer clinical prognosis for papillary thyroid cancer. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 90*, 6373-6379.
- 192. Kim, S.-j., Lee, K. E., Myong, J. P., Park, J.-h., Jeon, Y. K., Min, H. S., Park, S. Y., Jung, K. C., Koo, D. H. and Youn, Y.-K. BRAFV600E mutation is associated with tumour aggressiveness in papillary thyroid cancer. *World journal of surgery 36*, 310-317.
- 193. Lupi, C., Giannini, R., Ugolini, C., Proietti, A., Berti, P., Minuto, M., Materazzi, G., Elisei, R., Santoro, M. and Miccoli, P. (2007) Association of BRAF V600E mutation with poor clinico-pathological outcomes in 500 consecutive cases of papillary thyroid carcinoma. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 92, 4085-4090.

- 194. Kim, T. Y., Kim, W. B., Song, J. Y., Rhee, Y. S., Gong, G., Cho, Y. M., Kim, S. Y., Kim, S. C., Hong, S. J. and Shong, Y. K. (2005) The BRAFV600E mutation is not associated with poor prognostic factors in Korean patients with conventional papillary thyroid microcarcinoma. *Clinical endocrinology 63*, 588-593.
- 195. Liu, R. T., Chen, Y. J., Chou, F. F., Li, C. L., Wu, W. L., Tsai, P. C., Huang, C. C. and Cheng, J. T. (2005) No correlation between BRAFV600E mutation and clinicopathological features of papillary thyroid carcinomas in Taiwan. *Clinical endocrinology* 63, 461-466.
- 196. O'Neill, C. J., Bullock, M., Chou, A., Sidhu, S. B., Delbridge, L. W., Robinson, B. G., Gill, A. J., Learoyd, D. L., Clifton-Bligh, R. and Sywak, M. S. BRAF^{V600E} mutation is associated with an increased risk of nodal recurrence requiring reoperative surgery in patients with papillary thyroid cancer. *Surgery 148*, 1139-1146.
- 197. Howell, G. M., Carty, S. E., Armstrong, M. J., LeBeau, S. O., Hodak, S. P., Coyne, C., Stang, M. T., McCoy, K. L., Nikiforova, M. N. and Nikiforov, Y. E. Both BRAF V600E mutation and older age (>65 years) are associated with recurrent papillary thyroid cancer. *Annals of surgical oncology 18*, 3566-3571.
- 198. Pelttari, H., Schalin J A,,Ntti, C., Arola, J., L A–Yttyniemi, E., Knuutila, S. and V A,,Lim A,,Ki, M. J. BRAF V600E mutation does not predict recurrence after long term follow up in TNM stage I or II papillary thyroid carcinoma patients. *Apmis 120*, 380-386.
- 199. Durante, C., Puxeddu, E., Ferretti, E., Morisi, R., Moretti, S., Bruno, R., Barbi, F., Avenia, N., Scipioni, A. and Verrienti, A. (2007) BRAF mutations in papillary thyroid carcinomas inhibit genes involved in iodine metabolism. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 92*, 2840-2843.
- 200. Baloch, Z. W., LiVolsi, V. A., Asa, S. L., Rosai, J., Merino, M. J., Randolph, G., Vielh, P., DeMay, R. M., Sidawy, M. K. and Frable, W. J. (2008) Diagnostic terminology and morphologic criteria for cytologic diagnosis of thyroid lesions: A synopsis of the National Cancer Institute Thyroid Fine Needle Aspiration State of the Science Conference. *Diagnostic cytopathology* 36, 425-437.
- 201. Theoharis, C., Roman, S. and Sosa, J. A. The molecular diagnosis and management of thyroid neoplasms. *Current opinion in oncology* 24, 35-41.
- 202. Nikiforova, M. N. and Nikiforov, Y. E. (2009) Molecular diagnostics and predictors in thyroid cancer. *Thyroid* 19, 1351-1361.
- 203. Melck, A. L., Yip, L. and Carty, S. E. The utility of BRAF testing in the management of papillary thyroid cancer. *The oncologist 15*, 1285-1293.
- 204. Kebebew, E., Weng, J., Bauer, J., Ranvier, G., Clark, O. H., Duh, Q.-Y., Shibru, D., Bastian, B. and Griffin, A. (2007) The prevalence and prognostic value of BRAF mutation in thyroid cancer. *Annals of surgery 246*, 466.
- 205. Montagut, C. and Settleman, J. (2009) Targeting the RAF -MEK- ERK pathway in cancer therapy. *Cancer letters* 283, 125-134.

- 206. Gupta-Abramson, V., Troxel, A. B., Nellore, A., Puttaswamy, K., Redlinger, M., Ransone, K., Mandel, S. J., Flaherty, K. T., Loevner, L. A. and O'Dwyer, P. J. (2008) Phase II trial of sorafenib in advanced thyroid cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 26, 4714-4719.
- 207. Smalley, K. S. PLX-4032, a small-molecule B-Raf inhibitor for the potential treatment of malignant melanoma. *Current opinion in investigational drugs (London, England: 2000) 11*, 699-706.
- 208. Palona, I., Namba, H., Mitsutake, N., Starenki, D., Podtcheko, A., Sedliarou, I., Ohtsuru, A., Saenko, V., Nagayama, Y. and Umezawa, K. (2006) BRAFV600E promotes invasiveness of thyroid cancer cells through nuclear factor activation. *Endocrinology* 147, 5699-5707.
- 209. Davies, H., Bignell, G. R., Cox, C., Stephens, P., Edkins, S., Clegg, S., Teague, J., Woffendin, H., Garnett, M. J. and Bottomley, W. (2002) Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. *Nature* 417, 949-954.
- 210. Lee, J. H., Lee, E. S. and Kim, Y. S. (2007) Clinicopathologic significance of BRAF V600E mutation in papillary carcinomas of the thyroid. *Cancer 110*, 38-46.
- 211. Sapio, M. R., Posca, D., Troncone, G., Pettinato, G., Palombini, L., Rossi, G., Fenzi, G. and Vitale, M. (2006) Detection of BRAF mutation in thyroid papillary carcinomas by mutant allele-specific PCR amplification (MASA). *European Journal of Endocrinology 154*, 341-348.
- 212. Santoro, M., Melillo, R., Carlomagno, F., Fusco, A. and Vecchio, G. (2002) Molecular mechanisms of RET activation in human cancer. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 963*, 116-121.
- 213. Saldanha, G., Purnell, D., Fletcher, A., Potter, L., Gillies, A. and Pringle, J. H. (2004) High BRAF mutation frequency does not characterize all melanocytic tumour types. *International Journal of Cancer 111*, 705-710.
- 214. Goldenberg-Cohen, N., Cohen, Y., Rosenbaum, E., Herscovici, Z., Chowers, I., Weinberger, D., Pe TMer, J. and Sidransky, D. (2005) T1799A BRAF mutations in conjunctival melanocytic lesions. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science 46*, 3027-3030.
- 215. Cheng, S., Serra, S., Mercado, M., Ezzat, S. and Asa, S. L. A high-throughput proteomic approach provides distinct signatures for thyroid cancer behavior. *Clinical Cancer Research 17*, 2385-2394.
- 216. Mathur, A., Moses, W., Rahbari, R., Khanafshar, E., Duh, Q. Y., Clark, O. and Kebebew, E. Higher rate of BRAF mutation in papillary thyroid cancer over time. *Cancer 117*, 4390-4395.
- 217. Garnett, M. J. and Marais, R. (2004) Guilty as charged: B-RAF is a human oncogene. *Cancer cell* 6, 313-319.
- 218. Xing, M. (2007) BRAF mutation in papillary thyroid cancer: pathogenic role, molecular bases, and clinical implications. *Endocrine reviews* 28, 742-762.

- 219. Vaillancourt, R. R., Gardner, A. M. and Johnson, G. L. (1994) B-Raf-dependent regulation of the MEK-1/mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in PC12 cells and regulation by cyclic AMP. *Molecular and cellular biology* 14, 6522-6530.
- 220. Kim, K. H., Kang, D. W., Kim, S. H., Seong, I. O. and Kang, D. Y. (2004) Mutations of the BRAF gene in papillary thyroid carcinoma in a Korean population. *Yonsei medical journal* 45, 818-821.
- 221. Namba, H., Nakashima, M., Hayashi, T., Hayashida, N., Maeda, S., Rogounovitch, T. I., Ohtsuru, A., Saenko, V. A., Kanematsu, T. and Yamashita, S. (2003) Clinical implication of hot spot BRAF mutation, V599E, in papillary thyroid cancers. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 88, 4393-4397.
- 222. Fugazzola, L., Puxeddu, E., Avenia, N., Romei, C., Cirello, V., Cavaliere, A., Faviana, P., Mannavola, D., Moretti, S. and Rossi, S. (2006) Correlation between B-RAFV600E mutation and clinico-pathologic parameters in papillary thyroid carcinoma: data from a multicentric Italian study and review of the literature. *Endocrine-related cancer* 13, 455-464.
- 223. Frattini, M., Ferrario, C., Bressan, P., Balestra, D., De Cecco, L., Mondellini, P., Collini, P., Gariboldi, M., Pilotti, S. and Pierotti, M. A. (2004) Alternative mutations of BRAF, RET and NTRK1 are associated with similar but distinct gene expression patterns in papillary thyroid cancer. *Oncogene 23*, 7436-7440.
- 224. Nikiforova, M. N., Kimura, E. T., Gandhi, M., Biddinger, P. W., Knauf, J. A., Basolo, F., Zhu, Z., Giannini, R., Salvatore, G. and Fusco, A. (2003) BRAF mutations in thyroid tumours are restricted to papillary carcinomas and anaplastic or poorly differentiated carcinomas arising from papillary carcinomas. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 88, 5399-5404.
- 225. Soares, P., Trovisco, V. t., Rocha, A. S., Feij A£o, T. I., Rebocho, A. P., Fonseca, E., de Castro, I. s. V., Cameselle-Teijeiro, J., Cardoso-Oliveira, M. and Sobrinho-Sim Aµes, M. (2004) BRAF mutations typical of papillary thyroid carcinoma are more frequently detected in undifferentiated than in insular and insular-like poorly differentiated carcinomas. *Virchows Archiv* 444, 572-576.
- 226. Puxeddu, E., Moretti, S., Elisei, R., Romei, C., Pascucci, R., Martinelli, M., Marino, C., Avenia, N., Rossi, E. D. and Fadda, G. (2004) BRAFV599E mutation is the leading genetic event in adult sporadic papillary thyroid carcinomas. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 89, 2414-2420.
- 227. Soares, P., Trovisco, V. t., Rocha, A. S., Lima, J., Castro, P. c., Preto, A., Maximo, V., Botelho, T., Seruca, R. and Sobrinho-Simoes, M. (2003) BRAF mutations and RET/PTC rearrangements are alternative events in the etiopathogenesis of PTC. *Oncogene* 22, 4578-4580.
- 228. Nikiforova, M. N., Ciampi, R., Salvatore, G., Santoro, M., Gandhi, M., Knauf, J. A., Thomas, G. A., Jeremiah, S., Bogdanova, T. I. and Tronko, M. D. (2004) Low prevalence of BRAF mutations in radiation-induced thyroid tumours in contrast to sporadic papillary carcinomas. *Cancer letters 209*, 1-6.

- 229. Michels, J. J., Jacques, M., Henry-Amar, M. and Bardet, S. (2007) Prevalence and prognostic significance of tall cell variant of papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Human pathology* 38, 212-219.
- 230. Knauf, J. A., Ma, X., Smith, E. P., Zhang, L., Mitsutake, N., Liao, X.-H., Refetoff, S., Nikiforov, Y. E. and Fagin, J. A. (2005) Targeted expression of BRAFV600E in thyroid cells of transgenic mice results in papillary thyroid cancers that undergo dedifferentiation. *Cancer Research* 65, 4238-4245.
- 231. King, A. J., Patrick, D. R., Batorsky, R. S., Ho, M. L., Do, H. T., Zhang, S. Y., Kumar, R., Rusnak, D. W., Takle, A. K. and Wilson, D. M. (2006) Demonstration of a genetic therapeutic index for tumours expressing oncogenic BRAF by the kinase inhibitor SB-590885. *Cancer Research 66*, 11100-11105.
- 232. Ghossein, R. and Livolsi, V. A. (2008) Papillary thyroid carcinoma tall cell variant. *Thyroid 18*, 1179-1181.
- 233. Ghossein, R. A., Leboeuf, R., Patel, K. N., Rivera, M., Katabi, N., Carlson, D. L., Tallini, G., Shaha, A., Singh, B. and Tuttle, R. M. (2007) Tall cell variant of papillary thyroid carcinoma without extrathyroid extension: biologic behavior and clinical implications. *Thyroid* 17, 655-661.
- 234. Hawk, W. A. and Hazard, J. B. (1976) The many appearances of papillary carcinoma of the thyroid. *Cleveland Clinic Quarterly* 43, 207-216.
- 235. Johnson, T. L., Lloyd, R. V., Thompson, N. W., Beierwaltes, W. H. and Sisson, J. C. (1988) Prognostic implications of the tall cell variant of papillary thyroid carcinoma. *The American journal of surgical pathology 12*, 22-27.
- 236. Rosai, J., Carcangiu, M. L. and DeLellis, R. A. (1992) *Tumours of the thyroid*, Armed Forces Institute of Pathology.
- 237. Sobrinho-Simoes, M. A., Nesland, J. M., Holm, R., Sambade, M. C. a. and Johannessen, J. V. (1985) Hurthle cell and mitochondrion-rich papillary carcinomas of the thyroid gland: an ultrastructural and immunocytochemical study. *Ultrastructural pathology* 8, 131-142.
- 238. Akslen, L. A. and LiVolsi, V. A. (2000) Prognostic significance of histologic grading compared with subclassification of papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Cancer* 88, 1902-1908.
- 239. Trovisco, V., Soares, P. and Sobrinho-Simoes, M. (2006) B-RAF mutations in the etiopathogenesis, diagnosis, and prognosis of thyroid carcinomas. *Human pathology* 37, 781-786.
- 240. Chakraborty, A., Narkar, A., Mukhopadhyaya, R., Kane, S., D' Cruz, A. and Rajan, M. G. R. (2012) BRAF V600E mutation in papillary thyroid carcinoma: significant association with node metastases and extra thyroidal invasion. *Endocrine pathology* 23, 83-93.
- 241. Adeniran, A. J., Zhu, Z., Gandhi, M., Steward, D. L., Fidler, J. P., Giordano, T. J., Biddinger, P. W. and Nikiforov, Y. E. (2006) Correlation between genetic alterations

and microscopic features, clinical manifestations, and prognostic characteristics of thyroid papillary carcinomas. *The American journal of surgical pathology 30*, 216.

- 242. Deichmann, M., Krahl, D., Thome, M., Wust, K., Hassanzadeh, J. and Helmke, B. (2006) The oncogenic B-raf V599E mutation occurs more frequently in melanomas at sun-protected body sites. *International journal of oncology 29*, 139-145.
- 243. Cheng, S., Serra, S., Mercado, M., Ezzat, S. and Asa, S. L. (2011) A high-throughput proteomic approach provides distinct signatures for thyroid cancer behavior. *Clinical Cancer Research 17*, 2385-2394.
- 244. Xing, M., Westra, W. H., Tufano, R. P., Cohen, Y., Rosenbaum, E., Rhoden, K. J., Carson, K. A., Vasko, V., Larin, A. and Tallini, G. (2005) BRAF mutation predicts a poorer clinical prognosis for papillary thyroid cancer. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 90*, 6373-6379.
- 245. Livak, K. J. and Schmittgen, T. D. (2001) Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the 2∆∆ct Method. *methods* 25, 402-408.
- 246. Patel, K. N., Maghami, E., Wreesmann, V. B., Shaha, A. R., Shah, J. P., Ghossein, R. and Singh, B. (2005) MUC1 plays a role in tumour maintenance in aggressive thyroid carcinomas. *Surgery 138*, 994-1002.
- 247. Paterson, I. C. M., Greenlee, R. and Jones, A. D. (1999) Thyroid cancer in Wales 1985-1996: a cancer registry-based study. *Clinical Oncology 11*, 245-251.
- 248. Nikiforova, M. N., Kimura, E. T., Gandhi, M., Biddinger, P. W., Knauf, J. A., Basolo, F., Zhu, Z., Giannini, R., Salvatore, G. and Fusco, A. (2003) BRAF mutations in thyroid tumours are restricted to papillary carcinomas and anaplastic or poorly differentiated carcinomas arising from papillary carcinomas. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 88, 5399-5404.
- 249. Dixit, A. and Verkhivker, G. M. (2011) The energy landscape analysis of cancer mutations in protein kinases. *PloS one 6*, e26071.
- 250. Khoo, M. L. C., Beasley, N. J. P., Ezzat, S., Freeman, J. L. and Asa, S. L. (2002) Overexpression of cyclin D1 and underexpression of p27 predict lymph node metastases in papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 87, 1814-1818.
- 251. Lazzereschi, D., Sambuco, L., Carnovale Scalzo, C., Ranieri, A., Mincione, G., Nardi, F. and Colletta, G. (1998) Cyclin D1 and cyclin E expression in malignant thyroid cells and in human thyroid carcinomas. *International journal of cancer* 76, 806-811.
- 252. Orlandi, F., Saggiorato, E., Pivano, G., Puligheddu, B., Termine, A., Cappia, S., De Giuli, P. and Angeli, A. (1998) Galectin-3 is a presurgical marker of human thyroid carcinoma. *Cancer research* 58, 3015-3020.
- 253. Prasad, M. L., Pellegata, N. S., Huang, Y., Nagaraja, H. N., de la Chapelle, A. and Kloos, R. T. (2004) Galectin-3, fibronectin-1, CITED-1, HBME1 and cytokeratin-19 immunohistochemistry is useful for the differential diagnosis of thyroid tumours. *Modern pathology 18*, 48-57.

- 254. De Matos, P. S., Ferreira, A. P., de Oliveira Facuri, F., Assumpcao, L. V. M., Metze, K. and Ward, L. S. (2005) Usefulness of HBME-1, cytokeratin 19 and galectin-3 immunostaining in the diagnosis of thyroid malignancy. *Histopathology* 47, 391-401.
- 255. Vural, G. U., Akkas, B. E., Ercakmak, N., Basu, S. and Alavi, A. (2012) Prognostic Significance of FDG PET/CT on the Follow-Up of Patients of Differentiated Thyroid Carcinoma With Negative 1311 Whole-Body Scan and Elevated Thyroglobulin Levels: Correlation With Clinical and Histopathologic Characteristics and Long-Term Follow-Up Data. *Clinical Nuclear Medicine 37*, 953-959.
- 256. Basu, S., Urhan, M., Rosenbaum, J. and Alavi, A. (2011) PET and PET/CT in the management of thyroid cancer, In *Positron Emission Tomography* pp 205-224, Springer.
- 257. Basu, S., Nair, N. and Shet, T. (2007) Detection of unsuspected metachronous second primary malignancy giving rise to supposed" non-iodine avid metastasis" in differentiated thyroid carcinoma. *Clinical Nuclear Medicine* 32, 655-658.
- 258. Borde, C., Basu, S., Kand, P., Arya, S. and Shet, T. (2011) Bilateral renal metastases from papillary thyroid carcinoma on post 1311 treatment scan: flip-flop sign, radioiodine SPET, 18F-FDG PET, CECT and histopathological correlation. *Hellenic journal of nuclear medicine 14*, 72.
- 259. Basu, S., Nair, N. and Borges, A. M. (2003) Aggressive behaviour of solid arrangement pattern in differentiated papillary carcinoma of thyroid. *Journal- Association of Physicians of India* 51, 408-411.
- 260. Bos, J. L. (1989) Ras oncogenes in human cancer: a review. *Cancer Research 49*, 4682-4689.
- 261. Knobbe, C. B., Reifenberger, J. and Reifenberger, G. (2004) Mutation analysis of the Ras pathway genes NRAS, HRAS, KRAS and BRAF in glioblastomas. *Acta neuropathologica 108*, 467-470.
- 262. Malumbres, M. and Barbacid, M. (2003) RAS oncogenes: the first 30 years. *Nature Reviews Cancer 3*, 459-465.
- 263. Rak, J., Mitsuhashi, Y., Bayko, L., Filmus, J., Shirasawa, S., Sasazuki, T., et al. and Kerbel, R. S. (1995) Mutant ras oncogenes upregulate VEGF/VPF expression: implications for induction and inhibition of tumour angiogenesis. *Cancer Research* 55, 4575-4580.
- 264. Kahn, S., Yamamoto, F., Almoguera, C. n., Winter, E., Forrester, K., Jordano, J. and Perucho, M. (1986) The cK-ras gene and human cancer (review). *Anticancer research* 7, 639-652.
- 265. Barbacid, M. (1987) Ras genes. Annual review of biochemistry 56, 779-827.
- 266. McCormick, F. (1989) ras GTPase activating protein: Signal transmitter and signal terminator. *Cell 56*, 5-8.

- 267. Scheidig, A. J., Burmester, C. and Goody, R. S. (1999) The pre-hydrolysis state of p21< sup> ras</sup> in complex with GTP: new insights into the role of water molecules in the GTP hydrolysis reaction of ras-like proteins. *Structure* 7, 1311-S1312.
- 268. Buhrman, G., Holzapfel, G., Fetics, S. and Mattos, C. Allosteric modulation of Ras positions Q61 for a direct role in catalysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107*, 4931-4936.
- 269. Scheffzek, K., Ahmadian, M. R., Kabsch, W., Wiesm A¹/4ller, L., Lautwein, A., Schmitz, F. and Wittinghofer, A. (1997) The Ras-RasGAP complex: structural basis for GTPase activation and its loss in oncogenic Ras mutants. *Science* 277, 333-339.
- 270. Wiseman, R. W., Stowers, S. J., Miller, E. C., Anderson, M. W. and Miller, J. A. (1986) Activating mutations of the c-Ha-ras protooncogene in chemically induced hepatomas of the male B6C3 F1 mouse. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 83, 5825-5829.
- 271. Vivona, A. A., Shpitz, B., Medline, A., Bruce, W. R., Hay, K., Ward, M. A., Stern, H. S. and Gallinger, S. (1993) K-ras mutations in aberrant crypt foci, adenomas and adenocarcinomas during azoxymethane-induced colon carcinogenesis. *Carcinogenesis 14*, 1777-1781.
- 272. Kompier, L. C., Lurkin, I., van der Aa, M. N. M., van Rhijn, B. W. G., van der Kwast, T. H. and Zwarthoff, E. C. FGFR3, HRAS, KRAS, NRAS and PIK3CA mutations in bladder cancer and their potential as biomarkers for surveillance and therapy. *PLoS One 5*, e13821.
- 273. Brose, M. S., Volpe, P., Feldman, M., Kumar, M., Rishi, I., Gerrero, R., Einhorn, E., Herlyn, M., Minna, J. and Nicholson, A. (2002) BRAF and RAS mutations in human lung cancer and melanoma. *Cancer Research* 62, 6997-7000.
- 274. Singer, G., Oldt, R., Cohen, Y., Wang, B. G., Sidransky, D., Kurman, R. J. and Shih, I.-M. (2003) Mutations in BRAF and KRAS characterize the development of lowgrade ovarian serous carcinoma. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 95, 484-486.
- 275. Carter, B. S., Epstein, J. I. and Isaacs, W. B. (1990) Ras gene mutations in human prostate cancer. *Cancer Research* 50, 6830-6832.
- 276. Lemoine, N. R., Mayall, E. S., Wyllie, F. S., Farr, C. J., Hughes, D., Padua, R. A., Thurston, V., Williams, E. D. and Wynford-Thomas, D. (1988) Activated ras oncogenes in human thyroid cancers. *Cancer Research* 48, 4459-4463.
- 277. Lemoine, N. R., Mayall, E. S., Wyllie, F. S., Williams, E. D., Goyns, M., Stringer, B. and Wynford-Thomas, D. (1989) High frequency of ras oncogene activation in all stages of human thyroid tumourigenesis. *Oncogene* 4, 159-164.
- 278. Suarez, H. G., Du Villard, J. A., Caillou, B., Schlumberger, M., Tubiana, M., Parmentier, C. and Monier, R. (1988) Detection of activated ras oncogenes in human thyroid carcinomas. *Oncogene* 2, 403-406.

- 279. Suarez, H. G., Du Villard, J. A., Severino, M., Caillou, B., Schlumberger, M., Tubiana, M., Parmentier, C. and Monier, R. (1990) Presence of mutations in all three ras genes in human thyroid tumours. *Oncogene* 5, 565-570.
- 280. Esapa, C. T., Johnson, S. J., Kendall Taylor, P., Lennard, T. W. J. and Harris, P. E. (1999) Prevalence of Ras mutations in thyroid neoplasia. *Clinical endocrinology 50*, 529-535.
- 281. Motoi, N., Sakamoto, A., Yamochi, T., Horiuchi, H., Motoi, T. and Machinami, R. (2000) Role of ras mutation in the progression of thyroid carcinoma of follicular epithelial origin. *Pathology-Research and Practice 196*, 1-7.
- Schark, C., Fulton, N., Jacoby, R. F., Westbrook, C. A., Straus 2nd, F. H. and Kaplan, E. L. (1990) N-ras 61 oncogene mutations in Hurthle cell tumours. *Surgery 108*, 994-999; discussion 999-1000.
- 283. Nikiforova, M. N., Biddinger, P. W., Caudill, C. M., Kroll, T. G. and Nikiforov, Y. E. (2002) PAX8-PPAR [gamma] rearrangement in thyroid tumours: RT-PCR and immunohistochemical analyses. *The American journal of surgical pathology* 26, 1016-1023.
- 284. Basolo, F., Pisaturo, F., Pollina, L. E., Fontanini, G., Elisei, R., Molinaro, E., Iacconi, P., Miccoli, P. and Pacini, F. (2000) N-ras mutation in poorly differentiated thyroid carcinomas: correlation with bone metastases and inverse correlation to thyroglobulin expression. *Thyroid 10*, 19-23.
- 285. Schmitt, F. and Barroca, H. Possible use and role of molecular techniques in fineneedle aspiration cytology (FNAC) practice. *Diagnostic Histopathology* 17, 286-292.
- 286. Domingues, R., Mendonca, E., Sobrinho, L. and Bugalho, M. J. (2005) Searching for RET/PTC rearrangements and BRAF V599E mutation in thyroid aspirates might contribute to establish a preoperative diagnosis of papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Cytopathology 16*, 27-31.
- 287. Tamanoi, F. (1993) Inhibitors of Ras farnesyltransferases. *Trends in biochemical sciences* 18, 349-353.
- 288. Kloog, Y. and Cox, A. D. (2000) RAS inhibitors: potential for cancer therapeutics. *Molecular medicine today* 6, 398-402.
- 289. Carter, G. and Lemoine, N. R. (1993) Antisense technology for cancer therapy: does it make sense? *British journal of cancer* 67, 869.
- 290. Tuazon, A. M. D., Ram A-rez, C., Bohorquez, M., Prieto, R., Castro, J., Mateus, G., Velez, A., Echeverry, M. and Carvajal-Carmona, L. G. Identification of BRCA1 and BRCA2 founder mutations in population isolates from Colombia. *Cancer Research* 74, 1292-1292.
- 291. Bager, P., Wohlfahrt, J., S A, rensen, E., Ullum, H., H A, gdall, C. K., Palle, C., Husemoen, L. L. N., Linneberg, A., Kj A'r, S. K. and Melbye, M. Common filaggrin gene mutations and risk of cervical cancer. *Acta Oncologica*, 1-7.

- 292. Semagn, K., Babu, R., Hearne, S. and Olsen, M. Single nucleotide polymorphism genotyping using Kompetitive Allele Specific PCR (KASP): overview of the technology and its application in crop improvement. *Molecular Breeding* 33, 1-14.
- 293. Capella, G., Cronauer-Mitra, S., Pienado, M. A. and Perucho, M. (1991) Frequency and spectrum of mutations at codons 12 and 13 of the cK-ras gene in human tumours. *Environmental health perspectives 93*, 125.
- 294. Cerottini Md, J.-P., Caplin Md, S., Saraga Md, E., Givel Md, J.-C. and Benhattar PhD, J. (1998) The Type of K-RAS Mutation Determines Prognosis in Colorectal Cancer. *The American journal of surgery 175*, 198-202.
- 295. Andreyev, H. J. N., Norman, A. R., Cunningham, D., Oates, J., Dix, B. R., Iacopetta, B. J., Young, J., Walsh, T., Ward, R. and Hawkins, N. (2001) Kirsten ras mutations in patients with colorectal cancer: the 'RASCAL II' study. *British journal of cancer 85*, 692.
- 296. Andreyev, H. J. N., Norman, A. R., Clarke, P. A., Cunningham, D. and Oates, J. R. (1998) Kirsten ras mutations in patients with colorectal cancer: the multicenter 'RASCAL' study. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute 90*, 675-684.
- 297. Nelson, H. H., Christiani, D. C., Mark, E. J., Wiencke, J. K., Wain, J. C. and Kelsey, K. T. (1999) Implications and prognostic value of K-ras mutation for early-stage lung cancer in women. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute 91*, 2032-2038.
- 298. Kwiatkowski, D. J., Harpole, D. H., Godleski, J., Herndon, J. E., Shieh, D.-B., Richards, W., Blanco, R., Xu, H.-J., Strauss, G. M. and Sugarbaker, D. J. (1998) Molecular pathologic substaging in 244 stage I non-small-cell lung cancer patients: clinical implications. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 16, 2468-2477.
- 299. Broermann, P., Junker, K., Brandt, B. H., Heinecke, A., Freitag, L., Klinke, F., Berdel, W. E. and Thomas, M. (2002) Trimodality treatment in Stage III nonsmall cell lung carcinoma. *Cancer 94*, 2055-2062.
- 300. Kawesha, A., Ghaneh, P., Andr A cn Sandberg, A. k., A-graed, D., Skar, R., Dawiskiba, S., Evans, J. D., Campbell, F., Lemoine, N. and Neoptolemos, J. P. (2000) K-ras oncogene subtype mutations are associated with survival but not expression of p53, p16INK4A, p21WAF-1, cyclin D1, erbB-2 and erb-3 in resected pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *International Journal of Cancer* 89, 469-474.
- 301. Kiyoi, H., Naoe, T., Nakano, Y., Yokota, S., Minami, S., Miyawaki, S., Asou, N., Kuriyama, K., Jinnai, I. and Shimazaki, C. (1999) Prognostic implication of FLT3 and N-RAS gene mutations in acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood 93*, 3074-3080.
- 302. Boissel, N., Leroy, H., Brethon, B., Philippe, N., De Botton, S., Auvrignon, A., Raffoux, E., Leblanc, T., Thomas, X. and Hermine, O. (2006) Incidence and prognostic impact of c-Kit, FLT3, and Ras gene mutations in core binding factor acute myeloid leukemia (CBF-AML). *Leukemia 20*, 965-970.
- 303. Vasko, V., Ferrand, M., Di Cristofaro, J., Carayon, P., Henry, J. F. and De Micco, C. (2003) Specific pattern of RAS oncogene mutations in follicular thyroid tumours. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 88, 2745-2752.

- 304. Horie, H., Yokogoshi, Y., Tsuyuguchi, M. and Saito, S. (1995) Point mutations of ras and $GsI\pm$ subunit genes in thyroid tumours. *Cancer Science* 86, 737-742.
- 305. Pilotti, S., Collini, P., Mariani, L., Placucci, M., Vigneri, P., Cipriani, S., Falcetta, F., Miceli, R., Pierotti, M. A. and Rilke, F. (1997) Insular carcinoma: a distinct de novo entity among follicular carcinomas of the thyroid gland. *The American journal of* surgical pathology 21, 1466-1473.
- 306. De Roock, W., Piessevaux, H., De Schutter, J., Janssens, M., De Hertogh, G., Personeni, N., Biesmans, B., Van Laethem, J. L., Peeters, M. and Humblet, Y. (2007) KRAS wild-type state predicts survival and is associated to early radiological response in metastatic colorectal cancer treated with cetuximab. *Annals of Oncology*, mdm496.
- 307. Amado, R. G., Wolf, M., Peeters, M., Van Cutsem, E., Siena, S., Freeman, D. J., Juan, T., Sikorski, R., Suggs, S. and Radinsky, R. (2008) Wild-type KRAS is required for panitumumab efficacy in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology 26*, 1626-1634.
- 308. Mitelman, F., Mertens, F. and Johansson, B. (1997) A breakpoint map of recurrent chromosomal rearrangements in human neoplasia. *Nature genetics* 15, 417-474.
- 309. Futreal, P. A., Coin, L., Marshall, M., Down, T., Hubbard, T., Wooster, R., Rahman, N. and Stratton, M. R. (2004) A census of human cancer genes. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 4, 177-183.
- 310. Kolomietz, E., Al-Maghrabi, J., Brennan, S., Karaskova, J., Minkin, S., Lipton, J. and Squire, J. A. (2001) Primary chromosomal rearrangements of leukemia are frequently accompanied by extensive submicroscopic deletions and may lead to altered prognosis. *Blood* 97, 3581-3588.
- 311. Rennstam, K., Baldetorp, B., Kyt A A¤, S., Tanner, M. and Isola, J. (2001) Chromosomal rearrangements and oncogene amplification precede aneuploidization in the genetic evolution of breast cancer. *Cancer Research 61*, 1214-1219.
- 312. Shaffer, L. G. and Lupski, J. R. (2000) Molecular mechanisms for constitutional chromosomal rearrangements in humans. *Annual review of genetics* 34, 297-329.
- 313. Lupski, J. R. and Stankiewicz, P. (2005) Genomic disorders: molecular mechanisms for rearrangements and conveyed phenotypes. *PLoS genetics 1*, e49.
- 314. Nikiforov, Y. E. (2002) RET/PTC rearrangement in thyroid tumours. *Endocrine pathology* 13, 3-16.
- 315. D'Avanzo, A., Treseler, P., Ituarte, P. H. G., Wong, M., Streja, L., Greenspan, F. S., Siperstein, A. E., Duh, Q. Y. and Clark, O. H. (2004) Follicular thyroid carcinoma: histology and prognosis. *Cancer 100*, 1123-1129.
- 316. Fagin, J. A. and Mitsiades, N. (2008) Molecular pathology of thyroid cancer: diagnostic and clinical implications. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 22*, 955-969.

- 317. Hou, P., Ji, M. and Xing, M. (2008) Association of PTEN gene methylation with genetic alterations in the phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase/AKT signaling pathway in thyroid tumours. *Cancer 113*, 2440-2447.
- 318. Marques, A. R., Espadinha, C., Catarino, A. L., Moniz, S. n., Pereira, T., Sobrinho, L. G. and Leite, V. (2002) Expression of PAX8-PPAR gamma1 rearrangements in both follicular thyroid carcinomas and adenomas. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 87, 3947-3952.
- 319. Macchia, P. E., Lapi, P., Krude, H., Pirro, M. T., Missero, C., Chiovato, L., Souabni, A., Baserga, M., Tassi, V. and Pinchera, A. (1998) PAX8 mutations associated with congenital hypothyroidism caused by thyroid dysgenesis. *Nature genetics 19*, 83-86.
- 320. di Magliano, M. P., Di Lauro, R. and Zannini, M. (2000) Pax8 has a key role in thyroid cell differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 97, 13144-13149.
- 321. Mascia, A., Nitsch, L., Di Lauro, R. and Zannini, M. (2002) Hormonal control of the transcription factor Pax8 and its role in the regulation of thyroglobulin gene expression in thyroid cells. *Journal of endocrinology 172*, 163-176.
- 322. Powell, J. G., Wang, X., Allard, B. L., Sahin, M., Wang, X.-L., Hay, I. D., Hiddinga, H. J., Deshpande, S. S., Kroll, T. G. and Grebe, S. K. G. (2004) The PAX8/PPAR gamma fusion oncoprotein transforms immortalized human thyrocytes through a mechanism probably involving wild-type PPAR gamma inhibition. *Oncogene 23*, 3634-3641.
- 323. Eberhardt, N. L., Grebe, S. K. G., McIver, B. and Reddi, H. V. The role of the PAX8/PPARÎ³ fusion oncogene in the pathogenesis of follicular thyroid cancer. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology 321*, 50-56.
- 324. Placzkowski, K. A., Reddi, H. V., Grebe, S. K. G., Eberhardt, N. L. and McIver, B. (2008) The Role of the PAX8/PPAR Fusion Oncogene in Thyroid Cancer. *PPAR* research 2008.
- 325. Krishnan, A., Nair, S. A. and Pillai, M. R. (2007) Biology of PPAR gamma in cancer: a critical review on existing lacunae. *Current molecular medicine* 7, 532-540.
- 326. Wang, T., Xu, J., Yu, X., Yang, R. and Han, Z. C. (2006) Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor Î³ in malignant diseases. *Critical reviews in oncology/hematology* 58, 1-14.
- 327. Matsuyama, M. and Yoshimura, R. (2009) A novel approach to anticancer therapies: peroxisome proliferator activator-receptor-Î³ as a new target therapy in the treatment of human urological cancer. *Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Disorders-Drug Targets (Formerly Current Drug Targets-Immune, Endocrine & Metabolic Disorders)* 9, 76-83.
- 328. Rumi, M. A. K., Ishihara, S., Kazumori, H., Kadowaki, Y. and Kinoshita, Y. (2004) Can PPARÎ³ ligands be used in cancer therapy? *Current Medicinal Chemistry-Anti-Cancer Agents 4*, 465-477.

- 329. Shen, W. T. and Chung, W.-Y. (2005) Treatment of thyroid cancer with histone deacetylase inhibitors and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-Î³ agonists. *Thyroid* 15, 594-599.
- 330. Fajas, L., Debril, M. B. and Auwerx, J. (2001) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma: from adipogenesis to carcinogenesis. *Journal of molecular endocrinology* 27, 1-9.
- 331. Michalik, L., Auwerx, J., Berger, J. P., Chatterjee, V. K., Glass, C. K., Gonzalez, F. J., Grimaldi, P. A., Kadowaki, T., Lazar, M. A. and O'Rahilly, S. (2006) International Union of Pharmacology. LXI. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. *Pharmacological reviews* 58, 726-741.
- 332. Lui, W.-O., Zeng, L., Rehrmann, V., Deshpande, S., Tretiakova, M., Kaplan, E. L., Leibiger, I., Leibiger, B., Enberg, U. and H A g, A. (2008) CREB3L2-PPAR gamma fusion mutation identifies a thyroid signaling pathway regulated by intramembrane proteolysis. *Cancer Research* 68, 7156-7164.
- 333. Au, A. Y. M., McBride, C., Wilhelm Jr, K. G., Koenig, R. J., Speller, B., Cheung, L., Messina, M., Wentworth, J., Tasevski, V. and Learoyd, D. (2006) PAX8-peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR g) disrupts normal PAX8 or PPAR g transcriptional function and stimulates follicular thyroid cell growth. *Endocrinology* 147, 367-376.
- Espadinha, C., Cavaco, B. M. and Leite, V. (2007) PAX8PPARγ stimulates cell viability and modulates expression of thyroid-specific genes in a human thyroid cell line. *Thyroid* 17, 497-509.
- 335. Cheung, L., Messina, M., Gill, A., Clarkson, A., Learoyd, D., Delbridge, L., Wentworth, J., Philips, J., Clifton-Bligh, R. and Robinson, B. G. (2003) Detection of the PAX8-PPARÎ³ fusion oncogene in both follicular thyroid carcinomas and adenomas. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 88, 354-357.
- 336. Roque, L., Nunes, V. M., Ribeiro, C., Martins, C. and Soares, J. (2001) Karyotypic characterization of papillary thyroid carcinomas. *Cancer* 92, 2529-2538.
- 337. Castro, P. c., Roque, L. c., Magalh Ales, J. o. and Sobrinho-Sim Aues, M. (2005) A subset of the follicular variant of papillary thyroid carcinoma harbours the PAX8-PPARÎ³ translocation. *International journal of surgical pathology 13*, 235-238.
- 338. Kroll, T. G., Sarraf, P., Pecciarini, L., Chen, C.-J., Mueller, E., Spiegelman, B. M. and Fletcher, J. A. (2000) PAX8-PPARγ³1 fusion in oncogene human thyroid carcinoma. *Science* 289, 1357-1360.
- 339. Marques, A. R., Espadinha, C., Catarino, A. L., Moniz, S. n., Pereira, T., Sobrinho, L. s. G. and Leite, V. (2002) Expression of PAX8-PPARγÎ³1 rearrangements in both follicular thyroid carcinomas and adenomas. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 87, 3947-3952.
- 340. Lacroix, L., Mian, C., Barrier, T., Talbot, M., Caillou, B., Schlumberger, M. and Bidart, J.-M. (2004) PAX8 and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma 1

gene expression status in benign and malignant thyroid tissues. *European Journal of Endocrinology 151*, 367-374.

- 341. Carcangiu, M. L., Zampi, G., Pupi, A., Castagnoli, A. and Rosai, J. (1985) Papillary carcinoma of the thyroid. *Cancer* 55, 805-828.
- 342. Ivanova, R., Soares, P., Castro, P. c. and Sobrinho-Sim Aµes, M. (2002) Diffuse (or multinodular) follicular variant of papillary thyroid carcinoma: a clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical analysis of ten cases of an aggressive form of differentiated thyroid carcinoma. *Virchows Archiv* 440, 418-424.
- 343. Castro, P. c., Fonseca, E., Magalh A£es, J. o. and Sobrinho-Sim Aµes, M. (2002) Follicular, papillary, and hybrid carcinomas of the thyroid. *Endocrine pathology 13*, 313-320.
- 344. Sobrinho-Sim Aµes, M., Magalhaes, J., Fonseca, E. and Amendoeira, I. (2005) Diagnostic pitfalls of thyroid pathology. *Current Diagnostic Pathology* 11, 52-59.
- 345. Chen, K. T. K. and Rosai, J. (1977) Follicular variant of thyroid papillary carcinoma: a clinicopathologic study of six cases. *The American journal of surgical pathology 1*, 123-130.
- 346. Baloch, Z. W. and LiVolsi, V. A. (2000) Encapsulated follicular variant of papillary thyroid carcinoma with bone metastases. *Modern Pathology 13*, 861-865.
- 347. Ishizaka, Y., Itoh, F., Tahira, T., Ikeda, I., Sugimura, T., Tucker, J., Fertitta, A., Carrano, A. V. and Nagao, M. (1989) Human ret proto-oncogene mapped to chromosome 10q11. 2. *Oncogene 4*, 1519-1521.
- 348. Andrew, S. D., Capes-Davis, A., Delhanty, P. J. D., Marsh, D. J., Mulligan, L. M. and Robinson, B. G. (2002) Transcriptional repression of the RET proto-oncogene by a mitogen activated protein kinase-dependent signalling pathway. *Gene* 298, 9-19.
- 349. Leon, T. Y. Y., Ngan, E. S. W., Poon, H.-C., So, M.-T., Lui, V. C. H., Tam, P. K. H. and Garcia-Barcelo, M. M. (2009) Transcriptional regulation of RET by Nkx2-1, Phox2b, Sox10, and Pax3. *Journal of pediatric surgery* 44, 1904-1912.
- 350. Lang, D. and Epstein, J. A. (2003) Sox10 and Pax3 physically interact to mediate activation of a conserved c-RET enhancer. *Human molecular genetics* 12, 937-945.
- 351. Zhu, J., Garcia-Barcelo, M.-M., Tam, P. K. H. and Lui, V. C. H. HOXB5 cooperates with NKX2-1 in the transcription of human RET. *PLoS One 6*, e20815.
- 352. Arighi, E., Borrello, M. G. and Sariola, H. (2005) RET tyrosine kinase signaling in development and cancer. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews 16*, 441-467.
- 353. Tansey, M. G., Baloh, R. H., Milbrandt, J. and Johnson Jr, E. M. (2000) GFR alphamediated localization of RET to lipid rafts is required for effective downstream signaling, differentiation, and neuronal survival. *Neuron* 25, 611-623.
- 354. Vecchio, G. (1987) A new oncogene in human thyroid papillary carcinomas and their lymph-nodal metastases. *Nature 328*, 9.

- 355. Santoro, M., Melillo, R. M. and Fusco, A. (2006) RET/PTC activation in papillary thyroid carcinoma: European Journal of Endocrinology Prize Lecture. *European Journal of Endocrinology 155*, 645-653.
- 356. Santoro, M., Dathan, N. A., Berlingieri, M. T., Bongarzone, I., Paulin, C., Grieco, M., Pierotti, M. A., Vecchio, G. and Fusco, A. (1994) Molecular characterization of RET/PTC3; a novel rearranged version of the RETproto-oncogene in a human thyroid papillary carcinoma. *Oncogene 9*, 509-516.
- 357. Salvatore, D., Barone, M. V., Salvatore, G., Melillo, R. M., Chiappetta, G., Mineo, A., Fenzi, G., Vecchio, G., Fusco, A. and Santoro, M. (2000) Tyrosines 1015 and 1062 Are in Vivo Autophosphorylation Sites in Ret and Ret-Derived Oncoproteins 1. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 85*, 3898-3907.
- 358. Nikiforova, M. N., Stringer, J. R., Blough, R., Medvedovic, M., Fagin, J. A. and Nikiforov, Y. E. (2000) Proximity of chromosomal loci that participate in radiation-induced rearrangements in human cells. *Science 290*, 138-141.
- 359. DeLellis, R. A. and Williams, E. D. (2004) Thyroid and parathyroid tumours. Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of Endocrine Organs. IARC WHO Classification of Tumours. DeLellis RA, Lloyd RV, Heitz PU, and Eng C (eds.). Lyons, France: IARC Press, 51-56.
- 360. Cheung, C. C., Ezzat, S., Ramyar, L., Freeman, J. L. and Asa, S. L. (2000) Molecular Basis of Hurthle Cell Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma 1. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 85*, 878-882.
- 361. Chiappetta, G., Toti, P., Cetta, F., Giuliano, A., Pentimalli, F., Amendola, I., Lazzi, S., Monaco, M., Mazzuchelli, L. and Tosi, P. (2002) The RET/PTC oncogene is frequently activated in oncocytic thyroid tumours (Hurthle cell adenomas and carcinomas), but not in oncocytic hyperplastic lesions. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 87*, 364-369.
- 362. Jacob, P., Kenigsberg, Y., Zvonova, I., Goulko, G., Buglova, E., Heidenreich, W. F., Golovneva, A., Bratilova, A. A., Drozdovitch, V. and Kruk, J. (1999) Childhood exposure due to the Chernobyl accident and thyroid cancer risk in contaminated areas of Belarus and Russia. *British journal of cancer 80*, 1461.
- 363. Nikiforov, Y. E., Rowland, J. M., Bove, K. E., Monforte-Munoz, H. and Fagin, J. A. (1997) Distinct pattern of ret oncogene rearrangements in morphological variants of radiation-induced and sporadic thyroid papillary carcinomas in children. *Cancer Research* 57, 1690-1694.
- 364. Santoro, M., Melillo, R. M., Grieco, M., Berlingieri, M. T., Vecchio, G. and Fusco, A. (1993) The TRK and RET tyrosine kinase oncogenes cooperate with ras in the neoplastic transformation of a rat thyroid epithelial cell line. *Cell growth and differentiation 4*, 77-77.
- 365. Wang, J., Knauf, J. A., Basu, S., Puxeddu, E., Kuroda, H., Santoro, M., Fusco, A. and Fagin, J. A. (2003) Conditional expression of RET/PTC induces a weak oncogenic

drive in thyroid PCCL3 cells and inhibits thyrotropin action at multiple levels. *Molecular Endocrinology 17*, 1425-1436.

- 366. Santoro, M., Chiappetta, G., Cerrato, A., Salvatore, D., Zhang, L., Manzo, G., Picone, A., Portella, G., Santelli, G. and Vecchio, G. (1996) Development of thyroid papillary carcinomas secondary to tissue-specific expression of the RET/PTC1 oncogene in transgenic mice. *Oncogene 12*, 1821-1826.
- 367. Powell, D. J., Russell, J., Nibu, K.-i., Li, G., Rhee, E., Liao, M., Goldstein, M., Keane, W. M., Santoro, M. and Fusco, A. (1998) The RET/PTC3 oncogene: metastatic solid-type papillary carcinomas in murine thyroids. *Cancer Research* 58, 5523-5528.
- 368. Gandhi, M., Medvedovic, M., Stringer, J. R. and Nikiforov, Y. E. (2005) Interphase chromosome folding determines spatial proximity of genes participating in carcinogenic RET/PTC rearrangements. *Oncogene 25*, 2360-2366.
- 369. Sapio, M. R., Guerra, A., Marotta, V., Campanile, E., Formisano, R., Deandrea, M., Motta, M., Limone, P. P., Fenzi, G. and Rossi, G. High growth rate of benign thyroid nodules bearing RET/PTC rearrangements. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 96*, E916-E919.
- 370. Melillo, R. M., Castellone, M. D., Guarino, V., De Falco, V., Cirafici, A. M., Salvatore, G., Caiazzo, F., Basolo, F., Giannini, R. and Kruhoffer, M. (2005) The RET/PTC-RAS-BRAF linear signaling cascade mediates the motile and mitogenic phenotype of thyroid cancer cells. *The Journal of clinical investigation 115*, 1068-1081.
- 371. Borrello, M. G., Alberti, L., Fischer, A., Degl'Innocenti, D., Ferrario, C., Gariboldi, M., Marchesi, F., Allavena, P., Greco, A. and Collini, P. (2005) Induction of a proinflammatory program in normal human thyrocytes by the RET/PTC1 oncogene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102*, 14825-14830.
- 372. Chakraborty, A., Narkar, A., Mukhopadhyaya, R., Kane, S., D [™]Cruz, A. and Rajan, M. G. R. BRAF V600E mutation in papillary thyroid carcinoma: significant association with node metastases and extra thyroidal invasion. *Endocrine pathology* 23, 83-93.
- 373. Fagin, J. A. (2002) Perspective: lessons learned from molecular genetic studies of thyroid cancer "insights into pathogenesis and tumour-specific therapeutic targets. *Endocrinology 143*, 2025-2028.
- 374. Cheung, C. C., Boerner, S. L., MacMillan, C. M., Ramyar, L. and Asa, S. L. (2000) Hyalinizing trabecular tumour of the thyroid: a variant of papillary carcinoma proved by molecular genetics. *The American journal of surgical pathology* 24, 1622-1626.
- 375. Papotti, M., Volante, M., Giuliano, A., Fassina, A., Fusco, A., Bussolati, G., Santoro, M. and Chiappetta, G. (2000) RET/PTC activation in hyalinizing trabecular tumours of the thyroid. *The American journal of surgical pathology* 24, 1615-1621.

- 376. Leeman-Neill, R. J., Brenner, A. V., Little, M. P., Bouville, A. C., Bogdanova, T. I., Hatch, M., Mabuchi, K., Tronko, M. D. and Nikiforov, Y. E. Associations between RET/PTC rearrangements, BRAF and RAS mutations and radiation dose, age at exposure, and latency in post-Chernobyl thyroid cancer. *Cancer Research* 72, 2544-2544.
- 377. Sheils, O. M., O'Leary, J. J., Uhlmann, V., L A¹/4ttich, K. and Sweeney, E. C. (2000) ret/PTC-1 activation in Hashimoto thyroiditis. *International journal of surgical pathology* 8, 185-189.
- 378. Salvatore, G., Giannini, R., Faviana, P., Caleo, A., Migliaccio, I., Fagin, J. A., Nikiforov, Y. E., Troncone, G., Palombini, L. and Basolo, F. (2004) Analysis of BRAF point mutation and RET/PTC rearrangement refines the fine-needle aspiration diagnosis of papillary thyroid carcinoma. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 89*, 5175-5180.
- 379. Giannini, R., Ugolini, C., Lupi, C., Proietti, A., Elisei, R., Salvatore, G., Berti, P., Materazzi, G., Miccoli, P. and Santoro, M. (2007) The heterogeneous distribution of BRAF mutation supports the independent clonal origin of distinct tumour foci in multifocal papillary thyroid carcinoma. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 92*, 3511-3516.
- 380. Santarpia, L., Sherman, S. I., Marabotti, A., Clayman, G. L. and El-Naggar, A. K. (2009) Detection and molecular characterization of a novel BRAF activated domain mutation in follicular variant of papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Human pathology* 40, 827-833.
- 381. Horner, M. J., Ries, L. A. G., Krapcho, M., Neyman, N., Aminou, R., Howlader, N., Altekruse, S. F., Feuer, E. J., Huang, L. and Mariotto, A. (2009) SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2006, National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD.
- 382. Saad, M. F., Ordonez, N. G., Rashid, R. K., Guido, J. J., Hill Jr, C. S., Hickey, R. C. and Samaan, N. A. (1984) Medullary carcinoma of the thyroid: a study of the clinical features and prognostic factors in 161 patients. *Medicine 63*, 319-342.
- 383. Olson, J. E., Hughes, J. and Alpern, H. D. (1992) Family members of patients with sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma must be screened for hereditary disease. *Surgery 112*, 1074-1078; discussion 1078-1079.
- 384. Dottorini, M. E., Assi, A., Sironi, M., Sangalli, G., Spreafico, G. and Colombo, L. (1996) Multivariate analysis of patients with medullary thyroid carcinoma: prognostic significance and impact on treatment of clinical and pathologic variables. *Cancer* 77, 1556-1565.
- 385. Modigliani, E., Cohen, R. g., Campos, J. M., Conte Devolx, B., Maes, B. a., Boneu, A. e., Schlumberger, M., Bigorgne, J. C., Dumontier, P. and Leclerc, L. (1998) Prognostic factors for survival and for biochemical cure in medullary thyroid carcinoma: results in 899 patients. *Clinical endocrinology* 48, 265-273.
- 386. Kebebew, E., Ituarte, P. H. G., Siperstein, A. E., Duh, Q. Y. and Clark, O. H. (2000) Medullary thyroid carcinoma. *Cancer* 88, 1139-1148.

- 387. Clark, J. R., Fridman, T. R., Odell, M. J., Brierley, J., Walfish, P. G. and Freeman, J. L. (2005) Prognostic variables and calcitonin in medullary thyroid cancer. *The Laryngoscope* 115, 1445-1450.
- 388. Guyetant, S., Josselin, N., Savagner, F., Rohmer, V., Michalak, S. and Saint-Andre, J.-P. (2003) C-cell hyperplasia and medullary thyroid carcinoma: clinico-pathological and genetic correlations in 66 consecutive patients. *Modern Pathology* 16, 756-763.
- 389. Hazard, J. B., Hawk, W. A. and Crile Jr, G. (1959) Medullary (Solid) Carcinoma Of The Thyroid "A Clinicopathologic Entity". *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 19*, 152-161.
- 390. Varga, I., Pospisilova, V., Gmitterova, K., Galfiova, P., Polak, S. and Galbavy, S. (2008) The phylogenesis and ontogenesis of the human pharyngeal region focused on the thymus, parathyroid, and thyroid glands. *Neuro endocrinology letters* 29, 837-845.
- 391. Wolfe, H. J. and DeLellis, R. A. (1981) Familial medullary thyroid carcinoma and C cell hyperplasia. *Clinics in endocrinology and metabolism 10*, 351-365.
- 392. Machens, A., Holzhausen, H.-J. r., Thanh, P. N. and Dralle, H. (2003) Malignant progression from C-cell hyperplasia to medullary thyroid carcinoma in 167 carriers of RET germline mutations. *Surgery* 134, 425-431.
- 393. Wolfe, H. J., Melvin, K. E. W., Cervi-Skinner, S. J., Al Saadi, A. A., Juliar, J. F., Jackson, C. E. and Tashjian Jr, A. H. (1973) C-cell hyperplasia preceding medullary thyroid carcinoma. *New England Journal of Medicine* 289, 437-441.
- 394. Ercolino, T., Lai, R., Giach A["], V., Melchionda, S., Carella, M., Delitala, A., Mannelli, M. and Fanciulli, G. Patient affected by neurofibromatosis type 1 and thyroid C-cell hyperplasia harbouring pathogenic germ-line mutations in both NF1 and RET genes. *Gene* 536, 332-335.
- 395. Hedinger, C. E., Williams, E. D., Sobin, L. H. and World Health, O. (1988) *Histological typing of thyroid tumours*, Springer-Verlag Berlin.
- 396. Machens, A., Niccoli-Sire, P., Hoegel, J., Frank-Raue, K., van Vroonhoven, T. J., Roeher, H.-D., Wahl, R. A., Lamesch, P., Raue, F. and Conte-Devolx, B. (2003) Early malignant progression of hereditary medullary thyroid cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine* 349, 1517-1525.
- 397. Leboulleux, S., Baudin, E., Travagli, J. P. and Schlumberger, M. (2004) Medullary thyroid carcinoma. *Clinical endocrinology* 61, 299-310.
- 398. Smallridge, R. C., Bourne, K., Pearson, B. W., Van Heerden, J. A., Carpenter, P. C. and Young, W. F. (2003) Cushings syndrome due to medullary thyroid carcinoma: diagnosis by proopiomelanocortin messenger ribonucleic acid in situ hybridization. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 88, 4565-4568.
- 399. Shivaraj, G., Prakash, B. D., Sonal, V., Shruthi, K., Vinayak, H. and Avinash, M. (2009) Thyroid function tests: a review. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 13*, 341-349.
- 400. Sawicki, B. a. (1995) Evaluation of the role of mammalian thyroid parafollicular cells. *Acta histochemica 97*, 389-399.
- 401. Irmak, M. K. and Kirici, Y. (2004) Time to reevaluate the therapeutic use of calcitonin and biological role attributable to parafollicular (C) cells. *Medical hypotheses* 62, 425-430.
- 402. Kouvaraki, M. A., Shapiro, S. E., Perrier, N. D., Cote, G. J., Gagel, R. F., Hoff, A. O., Sherman, S. I., Lee, J. E. and Evans, D. B. (2005) RET proto-oncogene: a review and update of genotype-phenotype correlations in hereditary medullary thyroid cancer and associated endocrine tumours. *Thyroid* 15, 531-544.
- 403. Peppa, M., Boutati, E., Kamakari, S., Pikounis, V., Peros, G., Panayiotides, I. G., Economopoulos, T., Raptis, S. A. and Hadjidakis, D. (2008) Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A in two families with the familial medullary thyroid carcinoma associated G533C mutation of the RET proto-oncogene. *European Journal of Endocrinology 159*, 767-771.
- 404. Schulten, H.-J., Al-Maghrabi, J., Al-Ghamdi, K., Salama, S., Al-Muhayawi, S., Chaudhary, A., Hamour, O., Abuzenadah, A., Gari, M. and Al-Qahtani, M. Mutational screening of RET, HRAS, KRAS, NRAS, BRAF, AKT1, and CTNNB1 in medullary thyroid carcinoma. *Anticancer research 31*, 4179-4183.
- 405. Donis-Keller, H., Dou, S., Chi, D., Carlson, K. M., Toshima, K., Lairmore, T. C., Howe, J. R., Moley, J. F., Goodfellow, P. and Wells, S. A. (1993) Mutations in the RET proto-oncogene are associated with MEN 2A and FMTC. *Human molecular genetics* 2, 851-856.
- 406. Alevizaki, M., Sarika, H., Koutras, D. A. and Souvatzoglou, A. (1997) Genetic screening for RET mutations in families with multiple endocrine neoplasia 2 syndromes. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 816*, 383-388.
- 407. Elisei, R., Cosci, B., Romei, C., Bottici, V., Renzini, G., Molinaro, E., Agate, L., Vivaldi, A., Faviana, P. and Basolo, F. (2008) Prognostic significance of somatic RET oncogene mutations in sporadic medullary thyroid cancer: a 10-year follow-up study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 93*, 682-687.
- 408. Peppa, M., Raptis, S. A. and Diamanti-Kandarakis, E. Medullary thyroid carcinoma associated with RET mutations located in exon 8, pp 271-280, InTech Rijeka, Croatia.
- 409. Moura, M. M., Cavaco, B. M., Pinto, A. E. and Leite, V. High prevalence of RAS mutations in RET-negative sporadic medullary thyroid carcinomas. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 96*, E863-E868.
- 410. Elisei, R., Cosci, B., Romei, C., Bottici, V., Sculli, M., Lari, R., Barale, R., Pacini, F. and Pinchera, A. (2004) RET exon 11 (G691S) polymorphism is significantly more frequent in sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma than in the general population. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 89*, 3579-3584.
- 411. Hofstra, R. M., Stelwagen, T., Stulp, R. P., de Jong, D., Hulsbeek, M., Kamsteeg, E. J., Van Den Berg, A., Landsvater, R. M., Vermey, A. and Molenaar, W. M. (1996)

Extensive mutation scanning of RET in sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma and of RET and VHL in sporadic pheochromocytoma reveals involvement of these genes in only a minority of cases. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 81*, 2881-2884.

- 412. Toledo, S. P. d. A., Santos, M. A. C. G. a. d., Toledo, R. d. A., J A^onior, L. o. and Muniz, D. (2006) Impact of RET proto-oncogene analysis on the clinical management of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2. *Clinics* 61, 59-70.
- 413. de Groot, J. W. B., Plaza Menacho, I., Schepers, H., Drenth-Diephuis, L. J., Osinga, J., Plukker, J. T. M., Links, T. P., Eggen, B. J. L. and Hofstra, R. M. W. (2006) Cellular effects of imatinib on medullary thyroid cancer cells harbouring multiple endocrine neoplasia Type 2A and 2B associated RET mutations. *Surgery 139*, 806-814.
- 414. Fernandez, R. M., Pecia, A., Antinolo, G., Navarro, E. and Borrego, S. (2006) Analysis of RET polymorphisms and haplotypes in the context of sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma. *Thyroid 16*, 411-417.
- Plaza-Menacho, I., Burzynski, G. M., Groot, J. W. d., Eggen, B. J. L. and Hofstra, R. M. W. (2006) Current concepts in RET-related genetics, signaling and therapeutics. *TRENDS in Genetics* 22, 627-636.
- 416. Figlioli, G., Landi, S., Romei, C., Elisei, R. and Gemignani, F. Medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) and RET proto-oncogene: Mutation spectrum in the familial cases and a meta-analysis of studies on the sporadic form. *Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research* 752, 36-44.
- 417. de Groot, J. W. B., Links, T. P., Plukker, J. T. M., Lips, C. J. M. and Hofstra, R. M. W. (2006) RET as a diagnostic and therapeutic target in sporadic and hereditary endocrine tumours. *Endocrine reviews* 27, 535-560.
- 418. Dvorakova, S., Vaclavikova, E., Sykorova, V., Duakov A, J., Vlcek, P., Ryaka, A., Nov A k, Z. and Bendlov A, B. (2006) New multiple somatic mutations in the RET proto-oncogene associated with a sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma. *Thyroid 16*, 311-316.
- 419. Gursoy, A., Erdogan, M. F. and Erdogan, G. (2006) Significance of the RET protooncogene polymorphisms in Turkish sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma patients. *Journal of endocrinological investigation 29*, 858-862.
- 420. Lesueur, F., Cebrian, A., Robledo, M., Niccoli-Sire, P., Svensson, K.-A., Pinson, S., Leyland, J., Whittaker, J., Pharoah, P. D. and Ponder, B. A. J. (2006) Polymorphisms in RET and its coreceptors and ligands as genetic modifiers of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A. *Cancer Research* 66, 1177-1180.
- 421. Fernandez, R. M., Peci A, A., Anti Aolo, G., Navarro, E. and Borrego, S. (2006) Analysis of RET polymorphisms and haplotypes in the context of sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma. *Thyroid 16*, 411-417.